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Providing easy access to a diverse range of exceptional companies all over the world.
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About PIP

Makin.g the
private, public

A share in Pantheon International Plc provides
access to a high-quality diversified portfolio of
private companies around the world that would
otherwise be inaccessible to most investors.
Shares in PIP can be bought and sold as they
would in any other publicly listed company.

As at 31 May 2023

£2.5bn

Net asset value
L ("NAVY)

£1.4bn

Market
capitalisation

71 Including financing costs, PIP’s total ongoing carges w

+2.4%

NAV per share
growthin the year

-8.0%

Share price change
intheyear

ires section for

+12.1%

Average annual NAV
growth since 1987
(net of fees)

125%

Association of
Investment Companies
(“AIC") ongoing charges’

ould be 1.50%. See page 183 of the

PIP

Pantheon International Pic ("PIP* of the “Company”) is a FTSE 250 private equity investment trust, actively
managed by Pantheon, one of the leading private markets investment managers globally.

PIP is overseen by anindependent Board of Directors who come from a range of backgrounds.

APPOINTS
OVERSEES
Shareholders PIP PIP Board * Pantheon
Invest viaLondon
Stock Exchange
MANAGES
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About PIP

Seizing a compelling
investment opportunity

We are revising our
capital allocation policy:

— PiP is committing up to £200mto
invest inits portfolio by acquiringits
own shares during the financial year
031 May 2024.

~ Furthermore, the Board intends to extend
PIP's capital allocation policy in the
future to dedicate a proportion of the
Company's net portfolio cash flow to
share buybacks.

— Further details of the policy, which will
be applied according to the levels of
prevailing share price discount to NAV, *
will be announced in due course.

| Pantheon International Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023

Capturing value
for shareholders:

- Athighdiscount levels, it is highly
attractive for PIP to reinvestin its
own shares.

— We know our portfolio well and have
confidence in its valuation.

~ We will continue to make new
investments alongside buybacks.

Having the flexibility
to dothis:

~ The share repurchase of upto £200m
represents approximately 15% of
PIP’s year-end market capitalisation
at currentdiscount levels.

- Atthe end of the financial year end,
PIP had £63m of cash and £500m of
unused credit facilities.

— As PIP invests directly into new
investments, the majority of which are
to individual companies, we have the
flexibility to manage PIP’s cash position
at relatively short notice.

Read morein the
Chair's statement

Strategic Report Manager's Review Governance Financial Statements Other Information




About Pantheon

Managed by a leading, global

private equity investor

Selecting, accessing and partnering with
many of the best private equity managers

globally with robust organisations, deep
operational and sector expertise, and a
proven investment strategy is key to

achieving attractive returns.

$934bn

Assets under
management (USD)

Private equity managers
in Pantheon's database

1 Asai31March2023.
2 Asa130June2023.

c.10,000

>1,000

Institutional investors

globally

>585

Advisory board
seats held

1

Offices around
theworld

134

Investment
professionals

3 Alocation from which executives of the Pantheon Group perform client service activities

but does notimply anoffice.

LIS

United Nations Princlples for Respor sible Investment,

the awards mentioned: www.panthean.com.

See the Awards Methodologies & Disclosures section on Pantheon’s website for deialls regarding

Pantheon

Pantheon (the “Manager”) provides clients with access to its global private equity platform.

Over more than 40 years, Pantheon has built up an extensive network of relationships with private equity
managers across the world. Thanks to Pantheon's privileged access, PIP is able Lo co-invest directly inexciting
private companies, participate in attractive single-asset secondary deals and invest in invitation-only funds.

CHICAGO

SAN
FRANCISCO

15years of UN PRI*
membership, one of the first
private equity signatories

DUBLIN

12

NEW
YORK

BOGOTA

Received 100% rating
from UN PRI for private
equity in2021

Pantheon International Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023 | 05
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Active Management mooo|oooo|on|oo

Building a more concentrated
portfolio, through a larger proportion
of direct company investments

Over the past few years, we have As a result, over half of PIP's portfolio
focused on investing directly in private  comprises carefully selected direct
companies, rather than accessing company investments, which are
them through funds alone, meaning complemented by hard-to-access,

that the concentration of the portfolio oversubscribed funds.
has increased.

06 | Pantheon International Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023 Strategic Report Manager's Review Governance Financial Statements Other Information
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Tenyears ago, PIP only invested
in companies via funds.

Today, over half of the portfolio
is invested directly into the
companies themselves.

1 These typically involve single asset secondary iransactions.

2013

PIP

100%

Funds

Companies

2023

Via direct

co-invesiments
PIP and manager-led

secondaries’

48% 52%

Funds

Companies

Pantheon International Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023 | 07



Active Management como|oooojoo|oo

Why we have increased
exposure to direct
investments:

— We have more control over portfolio
construction and deployment pace
because we can select the individual deals.

~ Investments benefit from a "double quality
filter” as both the private equity manager
and the company have passed through
our stringent due diligence process.

- We can more easily review the private
equity (‘PE") manager's business plan
and assess the company’s prospects
as well as any risks including those relating
to environmental, social and governance
("ESG") issues.

- Co-investments are attractive economically,
since they are typically free of management
fees and carried interest.

Why we have reduced the
number of companies in
our portfolio:

- Stronger-performing individual assets
have the potential to boost PIP's NAV
overthelongterm.

- Improves transparency and more visibility
over the underlying assets. -

— Allthe benefits of increased concentration
while mitigating risk with an appropriate
level of diversification

08 | Pantheon International Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023

Concentration by Company and Manager

Number of managers' Number of companies’

28% 42%

Decrease in number of managers comprising 80% of Decrease in number of companies comprising 80% of
PIP's total exposure' since 2013 PIP's total exposure’ since 2013
1 Numberof and porifali i ising 80% of PIP's toial exposure. Exposure Is equivalent to the sum of the NAV and undrawn commiimenis.

2 PIP‘sfinancial year changed from 30 June io 31 Mayin 2017.

Strategic Report Manager’s Review Governance Financial Statements Other Information
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We believe PIP's portfolio
offers an attractive
investment mix:

PIP's portfolio is weighted towards high-growth and resilient sectors’

Information technology. 33%

- In addition to direct investments, Healthcare 19%
we invest in selected hard-tc-access, Consumer 14%
“invitation only” funds with managers Financials 11%
that are generally not availabte onthe )
secondary market. Industrials 10%

- Communication services 7%

- Combination of younger and more mature
assets means that PIP benefits from both Energy 3%
the “value creation” and "harvest” phases Materials 2%
of ourinvestments. Other 1%

- PIP’s “all weather” portfolio tilts towards
companies in resifient, high-growth
sectors suchas IT and healthcare that
can perform well through economic
cycles. These provide mission-critical Focus on small/mid buyout and growth
services and often have recurring
revenue models.

— PIP's exposure to the consumer sector is Small/mid buyout 45%
mainly in resilient consumer staples and Large/mega buyout 26%
services businesses, with limited exposure Growth 20%
to companies that are sensitive to Special situations? 6%
economic downturns. Venture 3%

PIP's portfolio is weighted lowards
small/mid market buyouts, which offzr
more opportunities for value creation and
multiple routes to exit. PIP has very little

exposure to venture capi tal, The company sector chart is based upon underlying company valuations,

asat31March 2023, adjusted forcalls and distributions 10 31 May 2023.

These account for 100% of PIP's overall portfolio value..

2 Specialsituationsi include debt
energy/utilities and turnarounds. «

Pantheon International Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023



Embedded Value
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Proven strength, resilience and
fundamental value in our portfolio

Over Pantheon’s many
years in the industry,

we have developed adeep
understanding of the
valuation methodologies of
‘our private equity managers,
and track their accuracy by
measuring realisations from
the portfolio against the

last full holding valuation.

10 | Pantheon Intermational Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023

Our portfolio valuations are
based upon the most recent
valuations that we receive
regularly from our managers,
which we challenge and
corroborate.

Our Valuation Committee,
which is independent of the
investment and investor
relations teams, is chaired
by Pantheon’s Chief Risk
Officer and ensures robust
governance, meaningful
oversight and consistent

- application of policy.

Strategic Report Manager's Review

A significant proportion of the
underlying company and fund
valuations are also reviewed
as part of ourannual
independent audit.

The consistent uplifts that are
achieved when companies

in PIP’s portfolio are sold
provide evidence that the
portfolio is accurately valued.

Governance

Financial Statements

Other Information
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1. Continuous valuation inputs 2. Continuous monitoring

— Annualand quarterly reports, financial * - Investment team review of companies, funds
statements and board meeting materials ’ and private equity managers

received from PE managers

- Risk assessment of investments
— Assess and review accounting policies and

valuation methodologies of private - Pre-investment-due diligence

equity managers — Post-investment monitoring

- Feedback from participation on >585" advisory
boards globally

- Our robust

: . valuation process
4. Annual external audit

- Independent assessment  — EY conducts a
of valuations and controls comparison of a sample

surrounding valuation of investment values
process reported in PIP’s NAVs '
_ Pantheon ISAE 3402 totheir subsequently 3. Monthly Valuation Committee
rl irol audited financial
report on controls statements, withany
independently audited differences above a - Valuation Committee has ultimate responsibility
by KPMG LLP - for approving investment valuations which
Y certain threshold reported pp g

— The annual EY audit to the Audit Commitiee ) determine the fair value of investments
process involves ’
substantive testing of the
fair value of a sample of
investment positions as - Useinsight to verify/challenge
at31 May private equity manager valuations

- Input from investment teams
on potential valuation issues

— Review and discuss accounting issues

1 Asat31March?2023.

Pantheon international Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023 | 1




Embedded Value ]

Confidencein the valuations

reported by ouru nderjyi ng Uplifts at exit demonstrate embedded valuein Realised multiples are well above holding cost
. . . PIP’s portfolio multiples, whichindicates conservative private
pnvate €equ 'ty managers:. equity manager valuations

- Our managers use fair market valuation
methodology, following international
quidelines.

— Our managers typically value their
portfolio companies conservatively;
the consistent uplifts on exit provide
evidence of this.

- Private equity managers have a
long-term investment horizon and
typically control their portfolio
companies; they can time when to
sellthem and are not reliant on IPOs.

- PIP's portfoliois mostly composed .
of smalland midmarket private - The uplift on full exit compares the value received when - The unrealised portfolio is currently held ata

businesses that operate in niche acompany is sold against the investment's carrying multiple of 1.6 times cost.
sectors where there may not be value 12 months prior to the transaction taking place.

— The average cost multiple on exit since PIP

comparable listed companies. b . - )
started tracking this metric in 2012 is 3.0x.

- PIP's portfolio has a track record of achieving &
cost multiple at exit well above the current

+27O/0 +31 % holding value.

weighted average upliftin weighted average

the year to 31 May 2023 uplift since 2012

1 Thecostmultiple of the existing portfolio refers to the sum of NAV and distril f i pared to the initial cost of investment.
2 t multipl exitreali since 2012.

g !

12 | Pantheon International Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023 Strategic Report Manager's Review - Governance Financial Statements Other Information
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Most of the companies in

PIP's portfolio are profitable:

— Our private equity managers have the
expertise and ability to implement
operational improvements and actively
manage companies for growth.

- PIP's portfoliois titted towards the IT
and healthcare sectors, which are
resilient and benefit from long term
secular growth trends.

~ IT businesses provide mission-critical
software and IT infrastructure.

- Healthcare businesses provide
essential healthcare products
and services.

- PIP'sloss ratio for all investments,
realised and unrealised, made over
thelast 10 yearsis lowat 2.2%".

See pages 9 and 34 for more information
onthe sectors that PIP is invested in.

1 Lossratiois the difference beiween the otal value
(NAV ~distributions) and total cost of investn-ents for
deals rnarked below cost divided by the total costof
investments.

N

ource: g y ised fi

derived from ing annual perfor growth
datashown onpage 103.

3 Source:Capital iQ.

Annualised Revenue and EBITDA (2018-2022)?

Revenue and EBITDA growthin PIP’s buyout portfolio have
continued to exceed the growth rates seenin companies that
constitute the MSCI World index.

Why private equity can
thrive in the current
macroeconomic
environment:

- Between 2002 and 2022, upper quartile
PE managers outperformed the Dow.
Jones Industrial Average by 890 basis
points during bull markets, while this
widened to 1,940 basis points in bear
markets?.

— Private equity is notimmune to the
impact of rising interest rates but higher
rates tend to resutt ina more favourable
entry valuation environment and reduced
competition in the private equity industry,
both of which bode well for return
generation. The best private equity
managers will continue to focus on
implementing effective value creation
strategies in order to deliver the returns
that theirinvestors expect.

Pantheon International Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023 | 13
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Long-term NAV
outperformance

PIP is one of the longest We have achieved this by actively

established private equity managing the portfolio and tilting

companies listed on the it towards where we see the

London Stock Exchange and best opportunities.

its NAV has consistently

outperformed its public market We believe that PIP's portfoliois

benchmarks across different well-positioned to both withstand

economic cycles. uncertainty and benefit from
more favourable times.

14 1 Pantheon International Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023 Strategic Report Manager's Review  Governance Financial Statements _ Other Information
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PIP’s objective is to maximise capital growth over the long term

PIP’s long-term NAV outperformance

Annualised performance as at 31 May 2023

Since
Tyr 3yrs Syrs 10yrs  inception'
NAV per share (stated net of fees) 2.4% 173%  139%  13.2% 121%
Ordinary share price -8.0% 9.6% 6.2% 9.9% 10.7%
FTSE All-Share, Total Return 0.4% 10.2% 29% 53% 7.4%
MSCI World, Total Return (Sterling) 43%  11.4% 99%  11.4% 8.3%
NAV per share vs. market performance
Since
Tyr 3yrs Syrs 10yrs  inception
Versus FTSE All-Share, Total Return +2.0% +69% +11.0% +7.9% +4.7%
Versus MSCI World, Total Return (Sterling) 19%  +57%  +4.0%  +1.8% +3.8%
Share price vs. market performance ,
Since
Tyr 3yrs 5yrs 10yrs  inception’
Versus FTSE All-Share, Total Return -84%  -06% +33% +4.6% +3.3%
Versus MSCI World, Total Return (Sterling) -12.3% -1.8% -37% -1.5% +2.4%

Pantheon International Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023 |
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ResponsibleInvestment o©ooo|joooojoojeo

An enhanced approach
to responsible investing

The Board of PIP recognises that ~ Adherence to ESG principleshas ~ The Directors of PIP have full
afocus on environmental, social  beenincorporated in Pantheon's  oversight of ESG matters within

and governance (‘ESG") is an pre- and post-investment ’ PIP’s portfolio and fully support
important tool for risk mitigation ~ processes for many years and Pantheon’s longstanding
and can lead to value creation the Manager willcontinuetoplay ~ commitment in this area.

across the investment portfolio. an influential role in promoting
' ESG standards and diversity &
inclusion in private equity.

16 1 Pantheon International Pic Annual Reporl and Accounts 2023 Strategic Report Manager’s Review Governance Financial Statements Other Information
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Pantheon has deeply embedded ESG
considerations into its investment
processes, fromthe initial screening of
opportunities, through due diligence
and engagement and post-investment
monitoring.

Pantheon'’s focus recently has been on
enhancing its screening and due diligence
ondeals from an ESG perspective.
Pantheon has introduced a new approach
10 ESG called TIES - which stands for
Transparency, Integration, Engagement
and Solutions - as this encapsulates

the strong ties between Pantheon, the
underlying private equity managers and
the portfolio companies. As part of this,
Pantheon recently developed a proprietary
ESG due diligence scorecard, incorporating
a range of topics including climate risk,
reputational risk, diversity, equity and
inclusion ("DEI") and biodiversity.

PIP’'s move towards a targer proporticn of
direct company investments provides the
Manager with more control over ESG and
enables Pantheon to undertake ESG due

diligence on the company prior to investing.

Pantheon is committed to advocating for
ESG practices across the private equity
industry through its participationina
variety of industry initiatives and by using
its position on over 585" advisory boards
worldwide to promote high ESG standards
on behalf of PIP among private equity
managers and investee companies.

See pages 76 to 81 for more information.

Pantheon’s enhanced ESG framework

Screening

ESG screening process applied
toallinvestment opportunities

* InPractice

Integrated into ESG due
diligence scorecard

Signatory of:

Reporting

Focusing efforts on standardised ESG

reporting templates to align with:

1. Sustainable Finance Disclosure
Regulation metrics

IN)

. ESG Data Convergence Initiative
metrics

3. TaskForceon Climate-Related
Financial Disclosure requirements

ESG committee member of:

Due Diligence Monitoring/
Engagement
ESG scorecard used to assess: Monitoring:
1. Private equity manager 1. Private equity manager data
. collection
2. Private ity d
rivate equity fun 2. Portfolio company data collection
3. Single-company deal
4. Muiti-company deal Engagement:
1. Private equity manager: Targeted
engagement based on scorecard
2. Industry: Advocate for ESG best
practice through industry trade
bodies
In Practice In Practice
ESG due diligence board hancing ESG data
outputincluded ininvestment
committee memos

Pantheon International Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023 | 17




ESG case study

AMBIANTA
Private AmbientalV Type
equity fund
. Commitment
Manager Ambienta
Geography Europe

Joining forces to invest

Primary
£149m

in the low-carbon economy

Ambienta is a European private equity manager focused on investing in
sustainability-driven businesses. The manager was founded in 2007 and
has offices in Milan, London, Paris and Munich.

Pantheon has a long-standing relationship-with Ambienta and holds three
advisory board seats with the manager. PIP has previously co-invested
alongside Ambienta in SF Filter, a distributor of mobile and industrial filters

for after-market applications.

18 | Pantheon lnternational Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023
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AMBIANTA

ESG credentials

- 1n 2020, Ambienta obtained Carbon
Neutral certification for its commitment
toNet Zero.

- Ambienta IV is classified as Article 9
under SFDR', meaning the “und has
sustainable investment as ts objective.

~ The United Nations Principtes for
Responsible Investment has awarced
Ambienta their top rating every year
since 2017.

— Ambienta is committed to diversity
and inclusion with 62% of hres in
2021 being female.

— Ambienta’s "ESG in Action” arogramme
monitors portfolio company progress
against arange of ESG key performance
indicators.

- The manager is an active mzmber of
Institutiona! Investors Group on Climate
Change, a globalinvestor bady which
focuses on climate change.

— Ambienta is a member of th= Invest
Europe Responsible Investrent
Roundtable.

1 Susiainable Finance Disclosure Regu.ation.

Investment approach

Ambienta believes that sustainability is a
mega-trend affecting all sectors in their
ovsm different ways. Ambienta IV will
continue its investment strategy of
targeting small- and medium-sized
businesses in Europe whose products aid
pollution control and resource efficiency in
their respective sectors. The businesses
will have scalable and profitable business
models, growing international end-markets
and differentiated market positions.

The manager typically looks for
fast-growing businesses that lack the
necessary capital, infrastructure or
expertise, to sustain the next phase of
growth. Ambienta aims to create value at
the portfolio company level by focusing on:

— Strengthening the organisation through
the implementation of stronger internal
structures and processes;

- Identifying strategic and operational
levers to enhance margins and
long-term growth;

- Using buy & buitd strategies to
-consolidate a fragmented market;

- Growing the company’s geographical
footprint; and

— Using ESG as a value creation tool.

The development of a dedicated
Sustainability & Strategy function, whose
roleis to understand the ways in which
resource efficiency and pollution control
shape industries, enables the manager to
screenand select the very best investment
opportunities. The function, which
comprises eight full-time employees,

has provided Ambienta with a large bank
of knowledge and expertise, and is an
integral part of their investment process.

Ambienta’s unigue approach to investing
in businesses driven by sustainability

has demonstrated that top decile financial
returns can be combined with a measurable
and favourable environmentalimpact.

Maideninvestment from Ambienta IV

Ambienta recently completed its firstinvestment
from Ambienta IV into Previero, a designer and
manufacturer of plastic recycling solutions.

The business is set to play a key role in the transition
towards the recycling of plastic; currently just 15%
of plastic waste generated worldwide is recycled,
due toa lack of infrastructure, while this is expected
to need to double to meet corporate commitments,
and regulations.

Ambienta will support vatue creation opportunities
in Previero through the provision of financial and
managerial resources, as well as increased
investment in both fixed and human capital.

Pantheon International Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023 |
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Chair’s Statement and Q&A with Shareholders

Seizing the
opportunity

JOHN SINGER CBE
Chair

When invited to take over the PIP Chair, | was delighted to
accept. | share PiP’s values of openness and transparency,
ateam-based and non-egotistical spirit, and a genuine
deep-seated drive to add value and provide shareholders
with excellent returns.

NAV per share and share price performance

20 | Pantheon International Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023

I strongly support the move away from a
pure fund-of-funds to a portfolio with a
majority of direct company investments,
which will build successful returns for
investors. Crucially, though, | believe that
the listed private equity (LPE) sector has
not kept up with the changing needs of
its stakeholders and that there is a real
opportunity now 1o do more to put
shareholders’ interests first.

My first tasks were to set up a review
group of Board Directors and Pantheon
executivesto think afresh about PIP's
capital allocation, and at the same time to
engage with the Company's shareholders,
to understand why they own LPE, and PIP
in particutar, and how the Company can
best address their needs. One recurrent
theme, both for the Board and investors,
has been the persistent discount to net
asset value (NAV) at which the
Company's shares trade.

Whilst this is typical of the whole LPE
sector, it presents a challenge, implying
that the market does not believe the

Strategic Report Manager’s Réview

integrity of our NAVs, despite our long
history of delivering significant uplifts to
NAV when we realise our investments.
The current discount, however, also
represents an exciting opportunity that we
intend to seize on behalf of shareholders.

Working with Pantheon, we are revising our
capital allocation policy, which in the past
has not taken sufficientaccount of the
returns to be generated by reinvestingin
PIP’s portfolio when the discount is high.
By using buybacks, we are effectively
committing capital to a portfolio that we
know well, andin whose asset value we
have faith. At high discount levels, most
obviously the current 40% for example,
the resulting improvement to NAV per
share is significant and immediate.
Inaddition, in order to take advantage

. ofthe opportunities, especially those

created by the current market dislocation,
and for broader portfolio composition
considerations, we will continue to make
other investments alongside buybacks.

Governance Financial Staternents

Other information



The Board has therefore decided upcn
three key initiatives:

Firstly, given the material discount at which
the Company’s shares are currently trading
(42% at the time of writing), PIP intends to
commit up 10 £200m during the current
financial year to invest in its portfolio by
acquiring its own shares in order to capture
this value for shareholders.

Secondly, the Board intends toimpiement
an extension toits capital allocation policy
with effect from the next financial yeer.
This policy will dedicate a proportion of
the Company’s net portfolio cash flow to
share buybacks. The exact proportion

will be determined by reference to the
prevailing discount to NAV at which the
Company's shares trade and will be
reviewed periodically.

Inthis way, the wider the discount at which
the Company's shares trade at any time,
the more 3ttractive the reinvestment

opportunity will be and thus the greater

the proportion of net realised cash flow
channelled to share buybacks whilst also
reinvesting to participate in the best private
equity opportunities. Further details of the
policy will be announced in due course.

In determining the level of £200mto be
committed to repurchasing PIP shares,
which represents approximately 15% of
P1P's current market capitalisation, your
Board has been very mindful, as you would
expect, of the impact on our balance sheet,
and in particular the likely headroom on our
credit facilities at a time when portfolio
distributions are at relatively low levels.

We believe this to be a significant but
nevertheless prudent amount for two
reasons.

Firstly, at the end of June, PIP had £60m of
net available cash and £500m of unused
credit facilities. Secondty, since a majority
of PIP's new investments are now made
onadiscretionary basis to individual

PIP intends to commit up to £200m during the
current financial year to invest in its portfolio by
acquiring its own shares in order to capture this

value for shareholders.

JOHN SINGERCBE
Chair

With effect from the next financial year, this policy
will dedicate a proportion of the Company's net
portfolio cash flow to share buybacks.

JOHN SINGERCBE
Chair

co-investments and secondaries, it is
possible to manage our cash position at
relatively short notice by dialling those
down if the outlook worsens, which would
not be the case if the whole portfolio

were committed to primary funds whose
drawdowns are not within PIP’s control.

The third initiative is to redouble our
marketing efforts to broaden the investor
base for PIP inorder to increase demand
for PIP's shares. In seeking todo so we are
mindful of the fact that when investment
trusts were created in the late 1880s, their
objective was to democraiise investing
through allowing smaller investors to
diminish risk by spreading their investment
over a number of stocks. We view this as
being animportant part of PIP's raison
d'étre today.

The best PE funds are "invitation-only”,
and attractive co-investmentand

. secondary opportunities are obtained
through close relationships with top
quality PE managers. Also, PE managers
invariably require a high minimum level
of investment in their funds. So it is not
possible for many investors to access
these types of investments directly, nor
to build up anappropriate degree of
diversification to spread the risk. PIP
offers immediate access to a global,
well-diversified, high-quality portfolio of
private companies for alf types of investors,
and is therefore an ideal vehicle through
which both institutions and individual
investors can achieve an appropriate
allocation to private equity. Furthermore,
since access is enabled through the
purchase of shares traded on the stock
market, liquidity is provided in an otherwise
illiquid asset class.
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Chair'’s Statement and Q&A with Shareholders

" PIPis overseen by a tatented and
committed Board of which | have beena
member since 2016 and have chaired
since October 2022. The Board does
notinclude anyone from our manager,
Pantheon, and acts in a fully independent
capacity, taking its responsibilities to
shareholders as the prime reason for its
existence, while at the same time working
ina highly collegiate and goals-focused
manner with Pantheon. Four of the seven
Directors have deep experience of PE, and
other expertise on the Board includes
marketing, PR, audit, investment trusts
and government relations.

lindicated in my last letter to shareholders
that the Board had started a search for
two new Non-Executive Directors (NED)
and 1am delighted to reporl thal we have
concluded that process. Zoe Clements
was appointed as NED on 5 July 2023 and
Rahul Welde on 25 July 2023. Zoe trained
asanaccountant, has a backgroundina
variety of finance, private equity and
investment roles and experience of serving

on boards across a range of industries.
Rahul is a marketing and digital
professional who spent over 30 years in
senior, international roles at Unilever and
isonthe board of a FTSE 100 company.
The appointment of Zoe and Rahul to
the Beard is an enhancement to the
complementary mix of expertise

and experience of PIP's Directors, and
strengthens our finance, marketing and
audit skills as well as providing additional
operational and strategic knowhow.

I know that they will both make an
important contribution to PIP.

The governance of PIPis the Board's key
responsibility but of course its success
also depends on the people managing
PIP's portfolio. Al the end of June 2023,
Jie Gong, who has been an investment
partner at Pantheon for nearly ten years,
becamea co-lead manager of the
Company to work alongside Helen Steers.
This represents a broadening of the senior
resources dedicatedto PIP as Jie brings her
transactional background, co-investment

The third initiative is to redouble our marketing
efforts to broaden the investor base for PIP in order
toincrease demand for PIP’s shares.

JOHN SINGER CBE
Chair
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Past experience of the PE industry has shown that
challenging economic times tend to coincide with
the years when the capital invested goes on to show
the strongest performance.

JOHN SINGERCBE
Chair

expertise, credit market knowledge, ESG
understanding and a glohal perspective
through experience in North America, UK
& Europe, and Asia Pacific.

PIP benefits greatly from an experienced
team looking after it on a day-to-day
basis as welt as from Pantheon'’s global
platform, whichincludes 134 investment
professionals around the world.

The Pantheon team has decades of
experience of investing highly selectively
in PE funds and direct investments and
has steered PIP successfully through
multiple economic cycles. In my view,
the collaborative culture of Pantheon,
based on teamwork, is vital to harnessing
the potential of PIP.

Both the Board's and the Manager's
interests are closely aligned with PIP’s
shareholders, as the Board Directors
collectively own 3.3m shares inthe

Strategic Report Manager’s Review

Company, valued at the time of writing

at £8.7m, while 20 Partners of Pantheon
collectively held a further 2.7m shares as at
1 July 2023, which were valued at £7.1m at
the time of writing.

The expansion of senior resources
dedicated to PIP also applies tothe

- advisors and suppliers with whom we

work closely. As PIP's NAV and its profile
have increased, our stable of partner
refationships has evolved over time

to underpin this growth. J.P. Morgan
Cazenove has been appointed as Joint
Corporate Broker to work alongside
Investec Bank plc whose team has already
been supporting PIP for many years.

Governance Financial Statements
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Outlook

We are in achallenging period for the
world economy and equity markets,

with geopolitical shifts and uncertain-ies,
weakened global leadership, the war
between Russia and Ukraine, inflation and
therise ininterest rates. As aresult, market
sentiment is nervous and tending towards
risk-off rather than the reversa.

Past experience of the PE industry has
shown that challenging economic times
tend to coincide with the years whenthe
capital invested goes on to show the
strongest performance. A general climate
of caution means that competition for
investments tends to be lower for those,
like ourselves, with stronger portfolios
and the capacity to invest. Investment
multiples typically reset to lower entry
levels, future projections of performance
are less bullish, debt multiples are lower,
and return expectations either rise or
remain the same. In this environment,
there is more upside than downside in
projected investment returns, which is
the opposite of what prevails when

. economic and market conditions are
strong. These conditions are also
favourable for our top-tier managers,
who have superior track records, typically
fewer problem investments.and are able to

raise funds when the climate for doing so

is challenging and are then able to deploy
those funds at attractive entry valuations.

Historically, private equity has shown
thatitis able to produce market-beating
returns and this is reflected in PIP's own
NAV which has continued to significantly
outperform the MSCI World and FTSE
All-Share indices over the long term. The
Company's NAV held up well during the
financial year, growing modestly by 2.4%.

Your Board and | appreciate the shareholder

support that we have received during the
last year and the time that many of you
have taken to meet us and express your

views. We believe that PIP is well positioned
at this point in the economic cycle and has

all the necessary components to offer

an attractive investment proposition to
existing and new investors alike. We hope
that shareholders will welcome and
support the initiatives which the Board is
now taking to seize the investment
opportunity before us.

PIP's Strategic Report, set out on pages 3
to 54, has been approved by the Board
and should be read in its entirety by
shareholders.

JOHN SINGER CBE
Chair

2 August 2023

—

1 Figures are stated net of movements associated with the ALN share of the reference porifolio.

NAV per share progression®

Issues Raised at Meetings
with Shareholders:
I will now move on to address some

specific issues that have come up in our
conversations in more detail.

Why do we have confidenceinthe value
of PIP’s portfolio in today’s markets?

As | mentioned, the discounts indicate
that the market does not believe inthe

Since PE valuations are based on the latest
figures provided by our managers, which
can be a month ortwo inarrears, one of
the stated reasons is that, when markets
decline, the valyations are overstated

and will come down over time. Another
reflects a concern that PE managers

are too optimistic and do not bring their
valuations down in line with the prevaiting
outlook. In a risk-off environment there is
also a tendency for the higher perceived
risk of PE, owing perhaps to leverage and
the greater fragility of small companies, to
tead to a greater sell-off than in other asset
categories. In addition, PE vehicles recently
have all been affected indiscriminately by

the sharp decline in quoted technology

2 Taxesrelatetowithholding taxes on investment disiributions. stated net asset values of listed PE © N
valuations that took place during 2022.

3 PIP'svaluation policy for prf quity funds is based on the latest reported by th gers of the funds vehicles, particularly when market
inwhich PIP has holdings. In the case of PIP’s valuation as at 31 May 2023, 8% of reported valuations are dated 31 May ntiment i nerally unfavour:
2023,78% are dated 31 March 2023, 4% are dated 31 December 2022 and 1% are dated 30 September 2022 or older. sentiment s generally u favourable.
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Chair's Statement and Q&A with Shareholders

Your Board believes that now, as before, PIP’s
net asset value tends to be conservative rather
than the reverse, even when the prevailing outlook

has turned negative.

JOHN SINGERCBE
Chair

We understand these concerns but
believe that they are not justified in our
case by the facts and past experience.
Firstly, the evidence shows that when

our PE managers sell aninvestment,

the average uplift over their latest prior
valuation is substantial. Last year, this uplift
was 27%, indicating that our valuations
relative to market are conservative rather
than overstated. Since 2012 our average
uplift has been 31%. Secondly, good
managers have no incentive to overvalue
their investments, partly since their
remuneration is not linked to those
valuations, but also because they would
rather surprise their investors on the upside
than the downside. Thirdly, we believe that
therisk of PIP's highly diversified portfolio,
supported by highly experienced
managers, is no grealer than that of a
diversified portfolio of public equities.
Fourthly, throughits close relationship
with most of its managers built up over
the years, supported by its presence on
585 advisory boards worldwide, Pantheon

24 |

regularly probes the underlying valuation
methodologies that they use. Finally, in the
case of PIP, our exposure to venture capital
investments of the kind that experienced

a sharp pullback last year is only about

3% of the portfolio. Further details of the
valuation methodologies used are set

out on page 156 of this report.

Your Board therefore believes that now,
as before, PIP's net asset value tends to
be conservative rather than the reverse,
even when the prevailing outlook has
turned negative.

Why does your Board feel that the

risk of PIP's diversified portfolio is
no greater than that of an average

portfolio of listed equities?

The PE model has a number of advantages
over that of a publicly listed company.

The PE fund managers with whom
Pantheon works are led by experienced
investment executives who are sector
specialists and know the markets and the

Pantheon International Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023

environment in which their companies
operate extremely well. They are then
complemented by a team of operating
executives, all of whom have had proven
experience of improving the performance
of companies. Members of this operating
team work with the management of their
portfolio companies to improve operations
in the areas where they are deemed to be
weak. In the majority of theirinvestments,
particutarly in buyouts which comprise
over 70% of PIP's portfolio, the PE fund as
shareholder owns a majority share of its
portfolio companies and is therefore able
toexert a considerable degree of influence,
including the ability to change the CEO or
other senior managers. PE fund executives
know their portfolio companies well and,
through close collaboration with their
management teams, decisions can be
taken quickly and problems addressed

at short notice. Portfolio companies

also have immediate access to capital,
should this be required to take advantage
of acquisition opportunities or support

the business through times of

unexpected difficulty.

Compared 1o publicly listed companies
therefore, these factors mean that PE-backed
companies typically have quicker decision-
making capabilities, more resources to make
acquisitions or access other cash needs at
short notice, shareholders who understand
1heir businesses and markets in detail,
immediate access to resources to effect
operating improvements, managers who are
highly incentivised to grow their businesses,
and the ability to be much more nimble.

Strategic Report Manager's Review

Another important factor is the composition
of PIP's portfolio and the likely resitience
of its underlying companies in the face of
adownturn. As mentioned, over 70% of
PIP's portfolio is in buyout investments

of well-established companies, many of
which are mid-market businesses with
attractive growth and margin profiles.

Of the remainder, the vast majority is in
smaller growth companies, mostly with
strong market positions and defensive
characteristics in attractive industry
sectors. Only a small proportion are in
loss-making businesses or in early-stage
tech businesses, which can be highly
volatile in both performance and valuation.
Furthermore, PIP’s portfolio businesses
have been selected for investment by
experienced sector-based investors in
attractive market areas with long-term
thematic growth drivers.The degree of
leverage in most of PIP’s portfolio
companies is relatively modest and lower
than that typically prevalent at the top

end of the market, which is the source of
much of the negative market commentary
about leverage.

As shown on page 103 of this report, the
average revenue and EBITDA growth of
a large sample of PIP's buyout portfolio
companies is significantly higher than
that of a portfolio of listed companies.
Since growth over lime is the principal
driver of investment value and a source
of value resilience in difficult times,

this also suggests that PIP's portfolio
valuation is likely to be more resilient
than a comparable public porifolio.

Governance financial Statements
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How is therising interestrate
environment affecting our portfolio
companies and our management of
PIP’s balance sheet?

Since interest rates have risen sharply
overthelast year, shareholders are
naturally concerned about the impac: that
this is having on PIP’s portfolio companies
as well as on the management of PIP's
balance sheet.

We consider the impact on portfolio
companies to be attwo levels: firstly, the
impact of rising interest rates on the cost
of their debt,and secondly the fact that as
interest rates rise, earnings multiples and
therefore the valuations of businesses
tend todecline.

The managers that PIP backs and the
single-asset secondaries and
co-investments in which PIP invests
directly are focused primarily on growing
businesses that are cash-generative
and where the value creation comes
from growth, operating improvements
and acquisitions rather than leverage.
The average debt multiple for our
small-to-mid buyout investments, which
constitute almost half the portfolio, was
4.2x compared to the industry average

Read about the impact of interest
rates on private equity ina

of 5.9x, while the growth and venture
investments have very little or no leverage.

Furthermore, where companies do have
leverage, a significant proportion of their
debt s either at fixed rates or protected by
interest rate swaps. So far we have seen
little stress from the rise ininterest rates
in either our direct holdings or our fund
investments, based on feedback from
our managers.

Interms of valuations, while the multiples
used by our managers have contracted
when appropriate in line with market
comparables, the underlying growth in
much of the portfolio has compensated
for that, which is why PIP's NAV has
remained relatively static in spite of the
decline in multiples since the beginning of
2022. This is why we are confident in the
valuations provided to us by our managers
andthe NAV of PIP.

Turning to PIP's balance sheet, we monitor
the outlook carefully, run stress test sets
of projections and take a prudent view at
all times. This has become particularly
important recently, as we have seen the
distribution rates decline to levels similar
tothose experienced in 2008 and 2009.

70

conversation with Advent International

Over the last financial year the annualised
distribution rate from the portfolio declined
10 10% of NAV, resulting in distributions

of £222.5m, while calls, which were also
below average at 21% of commitments,
led to a cash outflow of £154.8m. In these
less favourable conditions, the portfolio
nevertheless generated a net cash inflow
of £67.6m, leaving £63m of available

cash on the balance sheet at the year end.
The cash position and our £500m of
unused credit facilities has led us to feel
comfortable about our decision to commit
upto £200m to invest in our own portfolio
by buying back PIP shares (subject to
discount levels), evenif the environment
worsens to that which combines continuing
low distribution levels with'a step-up in calls.

How does the consideration of
environmental, social and
governance (ESG) factors go
hand in hand with generating
good financial returns?

How companies conduct their business
and the impact that they have on the
environment and the communities in which
they operate is in the spotlight like never
before, with investors now looking beyond
simply making a financial return from the
companies that they back.

Pantheon has incorporated ESG
assessments intoits investment process
for many years and continues to develop

its monitoring and due diligence
capabilities in this area, not only inits
direct secondary and co-investments but
also through its managers. PE managers
themselves are also increasingly aware of
theimportance investors attach to ESG,
andthe standard of assessment continues to
rise. Pantheon has developed a scorecard
approach to its assessments which it
shares withits managers and uses as a
tool forimprovement.

Through these assessments, Pantheon
has been able to seeif and when
implementing good ESG practices works
against achieving good financial returns
and is encouraged by the fact that this is
rarely the case. Furthermore, a number
of portfolio investments have been
made based onthe growth opportunities
afforded by sustainability and impact.
PIP's move to a majority of single-asset
investments has made our measurement
of ESG KPIs much easier, as we are

now even closer to the companies in

our portfolio.

Overall the Board is encouraged by the
enhancements that Pantheon has made
toits ESG approach andintends to
strengthen the reporting it receives by
nominating one of the Directors to
spearhead our oversight in this area,
which our Senior Independent Director
has been doing on an interim basis.
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Key Performance Indicators

Performance

Liquidity

26

Five-year cumulative total

shareholder return

NAV per share growth

Portfolio investment return

Net portfolio cash flow

Undrawn coverage ratio
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WHAT THISIS

Total shareholder return constitutes the return
toinvestors, after taking into account share price
movements (capital growth) and, if applicable,
any dividends paid-during the period.

The Board's strategy is to defiver returns for
shareholders through the growth in NAV and not
through the payment of dividends.

HOWPIP HAS PERFORMED

— PIP's ordinary shares had a closing price of 272.0p
atthe yearend (31 May 2022: 295.5p). This was
an 8% decline compared to the prior year.

- Disappointingly, along with the listed private
equity sector, the share price discount to NAV
has widened. The discount on PIP's shares was
41%as at the year end (31 May 2022: 35%).
The median discount for listed private
equity peers' as at the same date was 39%
(May 2022: 34%).

LINK TO OUR STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
- Maximise shareholder returns through tong-term
capital growth.

— Promote betler market liquidity and narrow
the discount by building demand for the
Company's shares.

EXAMPLES OF RELATED FACTORS THAT WE MONITOR
- Rate of NAV growth relative to listed markets.
~ Trading volumes for the Company’s shares.

~ Share price discount to NAV.

Strategic Report Manager's Review  Governance

Five-year cumulative total shareholder return
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Performance

Liquidity

1

Five-year cumulative total
shareholder return

NAV per share growth’

Portfolio investment return

Net portfolio cash flow

Undrawn coverage ratio

Excludes valuation gains and/or cash flows associated with the ALN.

WHATTHISIS

NAV per share reflects the attributable value of a
shareholder’s holdingin PIP. The provision of consistent
long-term NAV per sharegrowthis central toour strategy.

NAV per share growth in any period is shown net
of foreign exchange movements and all costs
associated with running the Company.

The NAV is robustly calculated and the balance sheet
is audited by PIP’s auditors.

HOW PIP HAS PERFORMED

~ NAV per share increased by 10.8p during the year
10 462.4p (31 May 2022: 451.6p). Thiswas an
increase of 2.4% compared to the prior year.

~ PIP's NAV per share underperformed the MSCI
World by 1.9% over the financial year.

LINK TO OUR STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

~ Investing in high performing private companies
alongside and throughtop tier private equity managers
globally, to maximise long-term capital growth.

- Containing costs and risks by constructing a
well-diversified portfelio in a cost-efficient manner.

EXAMPLES OF RELATED FACTORS THAT WE MONITOR

- Valuations provided by the underlying private
equity managers.

- Fluctuations in currency exchange rates.
- Taxefficiency of investments.
— Effect of financing (cash drag) on performance.

— Ongoing charges relative to NAV growth
and listed private equity peer group.

NAV per share growth during the year
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Key Performance Indicators
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WHATTHISIS

Portfolio investment return measures the total
movement in the valuation of the underlying
companies and funds comprising PIP's portfolio,
expressed as a percentage of the opening portfolio
value, before taking foreign exchange effects and
other expenses into account.

HOW PIP HAS PERFORMED
~ Modest increase in underlying portfolio valuation
againsta backdrop of market volatility.

- PIP's portfolio is actively managed and focuses
onresilient, high-growth sectors.

LINKTO OUR STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

~ Maximise shareholder returns through
long-term capital growth.

EXAMPLES OF RELATED FACTORS THAT WE MONITOR
- Performance relative to listed markets and
listed private equity peer group.

— Valuations provided by the underlying private
equity managers.

Strategic Report

Manager’'s Review

Governance

Portfolio investment return
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Five-year cumulative total
shareholder return

Performance

NAV per share growth

Portfolio investment return

Net portfolio cash flow’

Liquidity

Undrawn coverage ratio

Read more on PIP’s
historic net portfolio 86
cash flow here

1 ion g d/or cast flow: i withthe ALN.
2 Excludesthe portion of the reference portfolio atiributable tathe ALN.

WHATTHISIS

Net portfolio cash flow is equal to distributions less
capital calls lo finance investments, and reflects the
Company's capacity to finance calls from existing
investment commitments.

PIP manages its maturity profile through a mix

of primaries, secondaries and co-investments

to ensure that its portfolio remains cash-generative
atthe same time as maximising the potential

for growth.

HOW PIP HAS PERFORMED

— PIP's portfolio generated £223m
(31 May 2022: £419m) of distributions versus
£155m of calls (31 May 2022: £187m).

- Inaddition, the Company made new commitments
of £441m (31 May 2022: £496m) during the year,
£190m of which was drawn at the time of purchase
(31 May 2022: £160m).

— At 31 May 2023, PIP's portfolio had a weighted
average age of 4.8years? (31 May 2022:4.9 years).

LINK TO OUR STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

—~ Maximise long-term capital growth through
ongoing portfolio renewal while controlling
financing risk.

EXAMPLES OF RELATED FACTORS THAT WE MONITOR

~ Relationship between outstanding commilments
and NAV.

- Portfolio maturity and distribution rates by vintage.

— Commitment rate to new investment opportunities.

Net portfolio cash flow
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WHATTHISIS

The undrawn coverage ratio is the ratio of available
financing and 10% of private equity assets to
undrawn commitments. The undrawn coverage
ratio is an indicator of the Company’s ability to meet
outstanding commitments, even in the event of a
market downturn.

HOW PiP HAS PERFORMED

~ The current level of commitments is consistent
with PIP's conservative appreach to balance
sheet management.

- Inline with historical experience, the Company
expects undrawn commitments to be funded
over a period of several years.

LINKTO OUR STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

- Flexibilityin portfolio construction, altowing the
Company to selectamix of managerded secondaries,
co-investments and primary, and vary investment’
pace, to achieve long-term capital growth.

EXAMPLES OF RELATED FACTORS THAT WE MONITOR

- Relative weighting of primary, secondary
and co-investments in the portfolio.

- Level of undrawn commitments relative
to gross assets.

- Trend indistribution rates.

- Ability to access debt markets on favourable terms.

Undrawn coverage ratio
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Our Strategy

Building aresilient
portfolio that can deliver
long-term outperformance

INVESTMENT TYPE

Focus on maturity profile and potential to boost performance

INVESTMENT STAGE

Focus on mid-market and growth

SECTOR AND GEOGRAPHIC EXPOSURE

Global with a focus on high-growth and niche areas

The Board regularly reviews
PIP's overall investment
strategy and it has formed
part of Board discussions
throughout the year.

Through the ongoing dialogue between
lhe Board and the Manager, Pantheon, the
Manager reports to the Board on progress
and highlights any obstacles or changes in
market conditions which may affect the
Company’s ability o achieve its strategic
goals. In cases where this may occur, the
Manager will propose solutions for which
it will seek the support of the Board.
Equally, the Board maintains the flexibility
1o propose amendments to the strategy
asitdeems necessary.

Culture and Purpose

Inaddition, the Board reviews individual
investments that exceed exposure limits,
which are set at appropriate levels to
reflect a diversified approach. Attimes,
the Manager may make recommendations
to the Board and seek approval for certain
investments that fall outside of any.

limits expressed in the agreed strategic
approach, but which Pantheon believes to
be a good investment opportunity for PIP.
The Board maintains its independence at
all times and robustly challenges such
recommendations 1o ensure that they
areinthe best interests of shareholders.
The Manager also reports to the Board

on PIP's marketing and investor relations
activities, considering new initiatives that
could help to increase PIP's profile,and

to reach potential new shareholders in
the Company.

Itis a requirement for all companies to set out their culture and purpose.
TheCompany’s defined purpose is relatively simple: it is to deliver our investment
strategy led by a Board that promotes strong governance and a long-term
investment approach that actively considers the interests of all stakeholders.

The Directors agree that establishing and maintaining a healthy corporate
culture within the Board and in its interaction with the Manager, shareholders
and other stakeholders will support the delivery of its purpose, values and
strategy. The Board seeks to promote a culture of openness and integrity
through ongoing dialogue and engagement with its service providers, principally

the Manager.
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Our Strategy

INVESTMENT TYPE

Focus on maturity profile
and potential to boost
performance

Primaries, manager-led secondaries

and co-investments all have attractive
characteristics, as highlighted inthe
Business Modeton pages 35t0 41.

PIP's transparent and direct investment
approach gives it the ftexibility to take
advantage of prevailing market conditions
and to maximise control over the
Company's financing risk, including its
ability to generate positive cash flows.

As the weighting towards co-investments
has beenincreased over time, the three
different investment types have
intentionally taken on more equal
weightings. These weightings do not
represent hard caps; however, the Board
and the Manager believe that thisis the
optimal mix to benefit from the cash
generated by the more mature assets in
PIP's portfolio while rejuvenating the
portfolio with the younger vintages offered
by primaries and co-investments. In
addition, we have been steering PIP's
secondary investment strategy towards
manager-led secondaries which form a
fast-growing part of the secondary market
and are attractive for several reasons

as highlighted on page 96. These
investments also provide younger
vintages to the portfolio.

Investment type’

Withanincreased weighting towards
co-investments and manager-led
secondaries, we expect the number

of underlying managers and portfolio
companies to which the Company is
exposed to continue to reduce over
time. As a result, the potential for the
Company's overall NAV to be driven by
the performance of individual assets
should be increased while maintaining
the benefits of a portfolio that is well
diversified by type, stage, geography
and sector.

Primaries 34%
Co-investments 33%
Manager-led secondaries 19%
Fund secondaries 14%

The Board believes that there are several
benefits to this investment approach:

risk is effectively managed through
diversification while the improved
transparency of PIP's underlying portfolio,
and increased investment flexibility, shouid
create a clearer link between the strongest
performing companies in the portfolio and
the potential to boost NAV growthin the
future. Also, Pantheon can remain highly
selective and disciplined when assessing
deal flow, while at the same time reducing
the risk of PIP being excluded from exciting
oppertunities due to investment constraints.

1 Fundinvestment typeis based upon underlying fund valuations and account for 100% of PIP's overall portfolio value. The charts exclude the portion of the reference portfolio

attributable to the Asset Linked Note.

32 | Pantheon International Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023

Strategic Report Manager's Review

Governance  Financial Statements  Other Information



INVESTMENT STAGE

Focus on mid-market
and growth

PIP's portfoliois diversified by stage.
While the Company's strategy is to
maintain a healthy mix of all stages,
Pantheon and PIP favour the buyout
segments, with a particular focus on

the small and mid-market. The small/
mid-market offers distinct characteristics,
when compared with large deals, such as:

- More attractively priced assets which
tend to have lower levels of leverage
than the broader market average;

— Greater visibility of the value drivers and
the levers to pull toimprove operational
efficiency to better drive growth, both
organically and through buy-and-build
strategies; and

- More routes to exit including strategic
acquisitions, sales to other private
equity managers or initial public
offerings ("IPOs*). In PiP's case, it should
be noted that the majority of exits have
consistently beento strategic buyers
and other private equity managers,
with IPOs accounting for just 3% of
exits during the year to 31 May 2023.

Asset Linked Note.
2 Special situati can

Stage'

Venture accounts for a very small
proportion of PIP's portfolio and any
investment activity by PIP in early stage
venture funds is focused on investing
with top-tier venture managers, mainly
through primary fund investments,
who are able to identify innovative
opportunities with the potential to
generate significant outperformance.

debt, mezzanine, energy/utilities and turnarounds.

Smali/mid buyout 45%
Large/mega buyout 26%
Growth 20%
Special situations? 6%
Venture 3%

While special situations include assets
with unique characteristics which can
offer potential for outperformance, itis the
Board's intention that special situations
investments will only be a small minority
of the overall portfolio.

Stage chartis based upon underlying fund valuations and accounts for 100% of PIP's overall portfolio value. The chartexcludes the portion of the reference portiolio attributable 1o the
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Our Strategy

SECTOR AND GEOGRAPHIC
EXPOSURE

Global with a focus on
high-growth and niche areas

34

The Board is committed to offering investors
aglobal portfolio with investments in North
America, Europe, Asia and Emerging Markets.
It takes an active approach towards the
weightings of those geographies in response
to market conditions but supports the
majority of the Company's capital being
invested in the USA and Europe where the
private equity markets are well established,

The Board relies on Pantheon’s investment
teams located around the world that can
take advantage of proprietary information
flows and access to opportunities through
their extensive networks of relationships.

Itis Pantheon's objective to identify managers
globally that are able to take a thematic
approach and focus on high-growth sectors,
many of which may not be fully represented
by the public markets. In addition, Pantheon
hasa deliberate strategy of targeting sectors
experiencing dislocation, as well as niches
where underlying growth is less correlated
to GDP growth. Recent examples of this have
been within the Information Technology and
Healthcare sectors. For more information
on the sectors in which PIPis invested,

see pages 74 and 75:

The Board believes that its oversight of the
Manager's activities, while at the same time
allowing Pantheon the flexibility that it needs
to make the appropriate investment decisions
onthe Company’s behalf, ensures that PIP
is able to deliver onits strategic objectives
for shareholders over the long term.
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Company sectors’

Information technology
Healthcare

Consumer

Financials

Industrials
Communication services
Energy

Materials

Other

Region?

33% USA 54%
19% Europe 28%
14%. Asiaand EM3 10%
N% Global 8%
10%

7%

3%

2%

1%

The company secior chartis based upon underlying company valuaiions as at 31 March 2023, adjusted for calls and

10 31 May 2023. Thes

tfar100% of PiP’s overall portlolio vaiue:

Region is based upon underlying fund valuations and accounts for 100% of PIP's overall portfolio value. The chart
excludes the portion of the reference portialio attributable io the Asset Linked Note.

EM Is Emerging Markets.
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Our Business Model

We aim to deliver
consistent returns
over the long term

Whatwe do

PIP invests directly in private companies
worldwide through co-investments
alongside selected private equity managers
and through manager-fed opportunities,
aswell as in complementary private

equity funds.

— Aninvestment in FIP offers shareholders
exposure to a growing private market
of over US$5.2tn" globally where the
best private equity opportunities
might otherwise be inaccessible to
shareholders.

We aim o deliver attractive and consistent
returns to shareholders over the long term,
and at relatively low risk. The Board remains
committed to its policy of maximising
capital growth and therefore, as in previous
years, is not proposing the payment of

a dividend. :

1 Source:Pregin. As at 31 December 2022,

Our investment process

Investment opportunities
in companies and
complementary funds
are originated via
Pantheon's extensive and
well-established ptatform.

Whywedoit

investments.

Through Pantheon, we have an opportunity
toinvest withand alongside many of the
best privale equity managers globally based
onthe trust and experience built up over the
40 years that Pantheon has been making

- Itis our aimto bring the attractive
credentials of private equity and its track
record of outperforming public markets
to a wider set of investors.

Itis our mission to generate sustainably high
investment returns through an actively
managed, inslitulional grade porifotio of
private companies and funds built by
investing with the best managers globally.

We invest with many of the
best private equity managers
who are able to identify

and create value in their
portfolio companies.

Cash generated from the
sale of those companies
is returned to PIP and
redeployed into new
investment opportunities.

How we do it

PIP's Manager, Pantheon, has a
well-established platform built on three
strategic pillars of investment: primary,
secondary and co-investments, with each
offering their own merits.

We believe that by combining the three
ways of accessing private equity
investments, we are able to:

- Build and maintain a well-balanced
portfolio in a combination that we monitor
and manage with the aim of maximising
capital growth;

- Manage the maturity profile of the assets
sothat PIP’s portfolio remains naturally
cash-generative on a sustainable basis;
and

— Ensure that the vehicle remains as
cost-effective as possible for our
shareholders by reducing any potential
drag onreturns.
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Our Business Model .

We have full control over

portfolio construction

PIP has the opportunity to participate in all

of the private equity investments sourced

for it by Pantheon.

This means that:

~ We have control of investment
strategy, overseen by the fully
independent Board.

- We have the flexibility to tilt the
portfolio towards where we see the

best fit for our long-term objectives.

- We can accept or decline deals
without being “tied in” to other
Pantheon fund strategies.

- Wecan control PIP'sinvestment
pacing according to its financial
resources at the time.

~ We have the flexibility to vary
the size of its commitments as
appropriate and in line with any
adjustments toits investment
strategy.

~ We avoid the additional costs
that can occur when investing
via intermediate vehicles.
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PIP and
_Pantheon PIP  Pantheon
Pantheonis PIP's
investment manager
Private Private
equity equity
manager fund
Company
PIPinvests alongside private equity PIPinvi
managers directly into companies via manage
co-investments and manager-led secondaries eq
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Financial Statements Other Information



Our investment strategies:

Weinvestin a company - Direct investment in individual companies which have attractive
. . . X growth characteristics and have effectively passed through a
Direct company investments dlre(:ﬂy' abngS'de a P”Vate "double quality filter”, alongside PIP's leading private equity managers.
@) ) equity manager. - This boosts the performance potential because of asset selection,
5 2 o of PIP’s partfolid and there are typically very low or no fees, making it a cost-effective

way of capitalising on the high value added by PIP's selected managers.

- Co-investments are through invitation only and are therefore not

. accessible to most investors.
Co-investments

Manager-led Secondaries

Funds

480/0 of PIP's portfolio’

Primaries

Fund Secondaries

1 Asat31May2023.
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Our Business Model

Our investment strategies:

Direct company investments

520/ O of PIP's portfolio’

Co-investments

Manager-led Secondaries

Funds

'480/0 of PIP’s portfolio’

Primaries

Fund Secondaries

1 Asat31May2023.
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Weinvestina company directly, - We parmer with high-quali}y private equity managers 1oacqui_re,
as single transactions, their most attractive portfolio companies

alongside a private equity via a continuation fund.
manager, that the manager has - alowsthe private equity manager to hold onto a prized asset,
already owned for a period of which they believe has potential for further growth, when the fund

K in which itis held comes to the end of its life.
time and therefore knows well.
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Our investment strategies:

Weinvestin anew private - Captures exposure to top-tier, well-recognised managers as well
equity fund when itis as tosmaller niche funds that are generally hard to access.
Direct company investments 9 y4 - Targets leading managers predominantly in the USA and Europe,
0 established. with a focus on funds which are unlikely to become available in the'
52 O of PIP's portfolio® secondary market.
Co-investments

Manager-led Secondaries

Funds

480/0 of PiP’s portfolio’

Fund Secondaries

1 AsaldlMay2023.
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Our Business Model

Our investment strategies:

" Direct company investments

520/ O of PIP's portfolio”

Co-investments

Manager-led Secondaries

Funds

480/0 of PIP’s portfolio’

Primaries

Fund Secondaries

1 Asal31May2023.
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We purchase the interests of
aninvestorin a fund or funds
typically late into, or after, the
investment period.

Strategic Report Manager'sReview  Governance  Financial Statements  Other Information

- Targets favoured companies and funds at a stage when the
underlying assets’ performance is visible and the funds are
realising investments, returning cash to PIP more quickly.

- One of the advantages of investing in secondaries is that earlier
fees will have been borne by the seller so total expenses are lower.



What sets us apart

Proventrack record and
focus on risk management

For 36 years, PIP has been able to adapt
‘quickly ard effectively to changing market
conditions. This flexible and proactive
approach means that PIP is well piaced to
continue to deliver on its long-term strategic
objectives. PIP's NAV has outperformed

its public market benchmark indices over
multiple periods and since the Company’s
inceptionn 1987.

We pay close attention to the management
of risk. PIP provides a carefully constructed
and appropriately diversified portfolio for
investors with a particular emphasis on
well-established companies in the buyout
stage. Thisis supported by a prudently
managed balance sheet which has the
strength to continue to meet its outstanding
commitments, even in more difficult
economic times. See page 43 for more
informaticn onthe balance sheet.

A global portfolio

Justover half of PIP’s portfoliois invested
inthe USA, which is the deepest, most
developed private equity market in the world
andis often inaccessible to many investors
in other regions. The next largest proportion
of the portfolio is invested in Europe, with an
emphasis on Northern Europe, while the
remaining exposure is to faster-growing
economies such as Asia.

The presence of Pantheon’s teams in its

11 offices around the world means that

they are on the ground locally, working with
their extensive networks of relationships
with private equity managers and taking
advantage of proprietary information

flows andaccess to opportunities. These
relationships enable Pantheon 1o source and
respond quickly to the best deal flow in those
regions. in addition, through its participation
on over 585" advisory boards globally,
Pantheon actively engages with its private
equity managers on portfolio monitoring
issues on a continuous basis.

1 Asat31March2023.

Culture & Diversity

Pantheon has a strong culture of openness
and inclusive teamwork, and encourages
the exchange of ideas. PiP is supported by
455 people around the world including a
large team of 134 investment professionals?,
PP also benefits from a dedicated and
experienced team that looks after it on
aday-to-day basis. In keeping with its
collaborative culture, Pantheon avoids
investments in private equity managers
with “star” individuals which would give
rise to a higher degree of key person risk.

From day one, Pantheon has understood
that a diverse workforce creates a more
productive environment. Each year,
Pantheon publishes statistics documenting
its global staff breakdowns according to
gender identity, ethnic diversity, LGBTQ+
and disability profiles. The firm has
consistently exceeded industry averages
for gender diversity. Pantheon also
supports a number of inclusion and diversity
initiatives and organisations around the
world. See page 81 for more information

2 As2at130June2023.
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Investment Policy

Our investment policy is to
maximise capital growth
with a carefully managed
risk profile.

The Company'’s policy is to make unquoted
investments. [t does so by subscribing to
investments in new private equity funds
("Primary Investment"), buying secondary
interests in existing private equity funds
("Secondary Investment”), and acquiring
direct holdings in unquoted companies
(*Co-investments®), usually either where

a vendor is seeking to sell acombined
portfolio of fund interests and direct
holdings or where there is a private equity
manager, wellknown to the Company’s
Manager, investing on substantially

the same terms.

The Company may, from time to time, hold
quoted investments as a consequence of
such investments being distributed to the
Company from its fund investments as
the result of an investiment in an unquoted
company becoming quoted. In addition,
the Company may invest in private equity
funds which are quoted. The Company will
not otherwise normally invest in quoted
securities, although it reserves the right to
do so should this be deemedto beinthe
interests of the Company.

42 |

The Company may invest in any type of
financial instrument, including equity
and non-equity shares, debt securities,
subscription and conversion rights and
options in relation to such shares and
securities, and interests in parinerships
and limited partnerships and other
forms of collective investment schemes.
Investments in funds and companies
may be made either directly or indirectly,
through one or more holding, special
purpose or investment vehicles in which
one or more co-investors may also have
aninterest.

The Company employs a policy of
over-commitment. This means that the
Company may commit more than its
available uninvested assets toinvestments
in private equity funds on the basis that
such commitments can be met from
anticipated future cash flowsto the
Company and through the use of
borrowings and capital raisings

where necessary.

The Company's policy is to adopt a global
investment approach. The Company’s
strategy is to mitigate investment risk
through diversification of its underlying
portfolio by geography, sectorand
investment stage. Since the Company's
assetsareinvested globally on the basis,
primarily, of the merits of individual
investment opportunities, the Company
does not adopt maximum or minimum
exposures 1o specific geographic regions,
industry sectors or the investment stage
of underlying investments.

Pantheon International Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023

In addition, the Company adopts the
following limitations for the purpose of
diversifying investment risk:

— No holding in acompany will represent
more than 15% by value of the
Company'sinvestments at the time
of investment (in accordance with
the requirement for approval as an
investment trust which applied
to the Companyinrelationtoits
accounting periods ended onand
before 30 June 2012).

— The aggregate of allthe amounts
invested by the Company (including
commitments to or in respect of) in
funds managed by a single management
group may not, in consequence of any
such investment being made, form more
than 20% of the aggregate of the most
recently determined gross asset value
of the Company and the Company’s
aggregate outstanding commitments
inrespect of investments at the time
such investment is made.

- The Company will invest no more than
15% of its total assets in other UK-listed
closed-ended investment funds
(including UK-listed investment trusts).

The Company may invest in funds and
other vehicles estabtished and managed
or advised by Pantheon or any Pantheon
affiliate. In determining the diversification
of its portfolio and applying the Manager’s
diversification requirement referred to
above, the Company looks through vehicles
established and managed or advised by
Pantheon or any Pantheon affiliate.

Strategic Report Manager's Review

The Company may enter into derivatives
transactions for the purposes of efficient
portfolio management and hedging

(for exampte, hedging interest rate,
currency or market exposures).

Surplus cash of the Company may be
invested in fixed interest securities,
bank deposits or other similar securities.

The Company may borrow to make
investments and typically usesits
borrowing facilities to manage its cash
flows flexibly, enabling the Company to
make investments as and when suitable
opportunities arise, and to meet calls in
relation to existing investments without
having to retain significant cash balances
for such purposes. Under the Company’s
Articles of Association, the Company's
borrowings may not at any time exceed
100% of the Company’s NAV. Typically,
the Company does not expect its gearing
to exceed 30% of gross assets. However,
gearing may exceed this in the event that,
for example, the Company's future cash
flows alter.

The Company may invest in private equity
funds, unquoted companies or special
purpose or investment holding vehicles
which are geared by loan facilities that
rank ahead of the Company's investment.
The Company does not adopt restrictions
onthe extent to which it is exposed to
gearing in funds or companies in which
itinvests.

Governance Financial Statements
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Financing Our Undrawn Commitments

Prudent ba‘a nce Sheet Asat 31 May 2023, PIP had net available
) . y cash* balances of £63m (31 May 2022;

management supports PIP’s Und.rawn c10mm|tments £227m). In addition io these cash balances,
long-term investrent strategy. by vintage PIP also has access o a wholly undrawn
. £500m multi-currency revolving credit
We manage PIP to ensure that it has enough faci!ily a_greement (""’af‘ facility’) that
liquidity tofinance its undrawn commitrents, exg'ﬁ; n ‘;6'%;057" Usmfg e};{change ratej
which represent capital committed to funds at ey ‘.t e oanfam ity amounte
but yet to be drawn by the private equity - toasterling equivalentof £491m.
managers, as well as to lake advantage of Therefore, the Company had £554m of
new investment opportunities. A critical part available financing as at the period end
of this exercise is ensuring that the undrawn (31 May 2022: £528m) which, along with
commitments do not become excessive the value of the private equity portfolio,
relative to PIP's privale equity portfolio and
available financing. We achieve this by
managing PiP's investment pacing as well X
as constructing its portfolio so that it has 2023 15% Coverage ratios
the right batance of exposure to prima‘ies, 2022 35%
manager-led secondaries and co-investments. 2021 17%

. " . 2020 4%
Managing our financing cover 2019 o
PIP's undrawn commitments were £857m 2018 ' 4%
asat 31 May 2023 (31 May 2022: £755m). 2017 2%
Of the £857m undrawn commitments as 2014-2016 7%
atthe period end, £48m relate to funds that 2010-2013 3%
are more than 13 years old and therefore 2009and earlier 7%
outside their investment periods. Generally,
when a fund is past its investment period,
it cannot make any new investments
and only draws capital to fund follow-on
investments or to pay expenses. As a
result, the rate of capital calls by these
funds tends to slow dramatically.
1 Includes und: 1© f portfolio refated to the ALN.
2 The availabl hand loan figl h portion payable under the Assei Linked Note, which amounted

10£1.2m as a1 31 May 2023.
3 Exclud cor lating to “und:

£48.2masat 31 May 2023 (31 May 2022: £571m).

theiri period (>13 years old), amounting to

provides comforiable cover of 3.7 times
(31 May 2022: 4.0 times) relative to
undrawn commitments for funds within
their investment periods.

Anotherimportant measure is the undrawn
coverage ratio, which is the ratio of available
financing and 10% of private equity assets
to undrawn commitments. The undrawn
coverage ratio is a key indicator of the
Company's ability to meet outstanding
commitments, even inthe event of a market
downturn, and was 98% as at 31 May 2023
(31 May 2022: 108%)°.
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Risk Management and Principal Risks

The Company is exposed to a variety of risks and uncertainties. The Board, through delegation to the Audit Committee, has undertaken a robust assessment and review of the principal risks facing PIP,
together with a review of any new and emerging risks that may have arisen during the year to 31 May 2023, including those that would threaten its business model, future performance, solvency or

liquidity. A summary of the risk management and internal control processes can be found in the Statement on Corporate Governance on pages 1280 134.

Investment and strategy risk

Type and description of risk

Potential impact

Risk mitigation

Outcome for the year

Investment performance

The Manager selects the investments forthe
Company's portfolio. The origination, in
selection and management capabilities of both
the Manager and third-party managers are key to
the performance of the Company.

- Performance not comparable to benchmark/
industry average. Consistently pcor performance
may lead to a fall in the quoted share price and
impact share price discount tc NAV.

- The Manager has a long track record of investing
alongside private equity managers with experience
of navigating economic cycles. Diversification by
geography, stage, vintage and sector, helps to
mitigate the effect of public market movements on
the Company’s performance.

Stable during the year

- PIP continues 1o adopt a diversified approach
to portfolio construction.

- Inhisterical periods of significant public market
volatility, private equity market valuations have
typically beenless affected than public equity
market valuations.

- Portfolio investment return of 3.5% inthe year
t0 31 May 2023.

Market factors

Inflation, interest rates and equity market performanc
can affect portfolio investment returns. .

- Impact of general economic conditions on
underlying fund and company valuations, exit
opportunities and the avaitability of credit.

- Higher risk of market volatility, price shocks
or a significant market correction.

- Aspart of its investment due diligence process,
Pantheon assesses the approach of its managers to
company illiquidity and macroeconomic factors as well
as projected exit outcomes.

Risingduringthe year

- Resilient performance of the portfolio despite
achallenging macro environment.

Valuations

Invaluing its investments in private equity funds
and unquoted companies and publishing its NAV,
the Company relies to a significant extent onthe
accuracy of financial and other information
provided by third party managers.

- Potential forinconsistency in the valuation
methods adopted by third party managers
and for valuations to be misstated.

- Thevaluation of investments is based on periodically
audited valuations that are provided by the underlying
private equity managers.

- Pantheon carries out a format valuation process
involving monthly reviews of valuations, the verification
of audit reports and a review of any potential
adjustments required to ensure reasonable valuations
in accordance to fair market value principles under
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (‘GAAP”).

- Pantheon’s Valuation Committee, whichis independent
of the investment and investor relations teams, and
comprised of senior team members, has ultimate
responsibility for approving valuations, ensuring that
there are robust governance, oversight and process
frameworks in place, guaranteeing compliance with
standards and consistent application of policy.

Stable during the year

- No material misstatements concerning the
valuations provided by underlying private equity
managers and the existence of investments
during theyear.
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Investment and strategy risk

Type and description of risk

Potential impact .

Risk mitigation

Outcome for the year

Level of discount

Adecline in the popularity of the private equity sector
has contributed to a reduction in demanc for the
Company's shares.

- Market sentiment on the listed private equity
sector can affect the Company's share price
and widen discounts relative to NAV, causing
shareholder dissatisfaction.

- Regular review of the level of discount or premium
relativeto the sector.

- Consideration of ways in which share price performance
may be enhanced including the effectiveness of
marketing and policies such as share buybacks.

- The Board regularly discusses the shareholder register
withthe Manager so as to imonitor buying/selling activity
and toidentify potential new investors.

- The Manager and the Company's broker are in regular
contact with existing shareholders and prospective
new investors.

Risingduringthe year

- Private equity continues to outperform public
markets over the long term and has proved to be
anattractive asset class through various cycles.

— Howevey, inline with the sector, the Company’s
share price discount to NAV has widened during
theyear.

- PIPis committing up to £200m to share
buybacks during the financial yearto 31 May
2024. The Board intends to dedicate a
proportion of the Company’s net portfolio
cash flow to future share buybacks.

Vehicle financing

Availability, level and cost of credit for the Company.

~ Potential impact on performance and liquidity,
especiallyin the event of a market downturn.

- PIP's Articles of Association and investment policy
imposelimits on the amount of gearing that the
Company cantakeon.

- The periodic review of principal covenants for the loan
facility ensures that the Company complies with loan to
value and liquidity ratios.

- The Board conducts regular reviews of the balance sheet
and long-term cash flow projections, including downside
scenarios that reflect the potential effects of significant
declines in NAV performance, adverse changesin
call/distribution rates and restrained liquidity sourcing

Stable during the year

- Cash flow forecasts under normal and stress
conditions were reviewed with the Board.
Downside scenario modelling indicates that
the Company has the available financing in
place to meet investment commitments,
eveninan environment characterised by
large NAV declines and amaterial reduction
indistribution activity.

- There was no gearing at the Company level as
atthe end of the financial year.

in a distressed environment. .

Lookthrough gearing

Availability, level and cost of debt for underlying
funds and portfolio companies.

- Rising interest rates can impact the profitability
and valuation of underlying portfolio companies.

- Adeteriorationin credit availability can
potentially reduce investment activity

- As part of its investment process, the Manager
undertakes a detailed assessment of the impact of debt
attheunderlying fund level and underlying company level
on therisk-return profile of a specific investment.

Risingduringthe year

— Whilst debt multiples in PIP’s buyout portfolio
remain at reasonable levels as at year end, the
collapse of SV8, created a shock to the credit
markets, reducing the availability of credit and
increasing the cost of debt.
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Risk Management and Principal Risks

Investment and strategy risk

Type and description of risk

Potential impact

Risk mitigation

Outcome forthe year

Liquidity management

Insufficient liquid resources to meet outstanding
cemmitments to private equity funds.

- The Company has outstanding commitments
that may be drawn down atany time in excess of
total liquidity to private equity funds. The ability
to fund this differenceis dependent onreceiving
cashproceeds from investments (the timing of
which are unpredictable) and the availabitity of
financing facilities.

- PIP has amature portfolio that is naturally cash
generative.

- Inthe eventthat cash balances and cash distributions
areinsufficient to cover capital calls, PIP has the ability
to draw funds from a credit facility.

- Panthecn manages the Company so that undrawn
commitments remain at an acceptable level relative to
its portfolio assets and available financing.

- The Board conducts a comprehensive review of the
Company’s cash flow forecasts under different
scenarios onaregular basis.

Stable during the year

- PIP has access to a £491m loan facility that
expires in July 2027. Tegether with PIP’'s net
available cash balances of £63m, total available
financing as at 31 May 2023 stood at £554m.
Total available financing, along with the private
equity portfolio, was greater than outstanding
commitments by a factor of 3.7 times.

Investment rate

Lackof suitable investment opportunities to meet
strategic objectives.

- Change inrisk profile as a result of manager,
fund or company exposures that are materially
different from the Company’s intended strategy.

- Pantheon has putin place a dedicated investment
management process designed to achieve the intended
investment strategy agreed with the Board.

- The Board regularly reviews investment and financial
reports to monitar the effectiveness of the Manager's
investment processes.

Stable during the year

- During the year, PIP has invested within strategic
limits for vintage year, geography and stage
allocations, as well as within concentrationlimits
forindividual managers, funds and companies.

Foreign exchange risk

PIP has continued to expand its geographic
diversity by making investments in different
countries. Accordingly, a significant majority of
PIP's investments are denominated in US dollars,
euros and currencies other than sterling.

- Unhedged foreign exchange rate movements
couldimpact NAV total returns.

- The Manager monitors underlying foreign currency
exposure and together with the Board, reviews hedging
strategies available tothe Company.

- Aspart of its investment process, the Manager takes
currency denominations into account when assessing
therisk/return profile of a specific investment.

= Themulti-currency credit facility is a natural hedge
for currency fluctuations relating to outstanding
commitments.

Stable during the year

- There was no material change inthe Company’s
exposure to foreign exchange currency riskin
the year.

- Foreign exchange had a negative impacton
NAV performance during the year. Despite this,
it remains appropriate for the Company not to
hedge its foreign exchange exposure.
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Operational risk

Type and description of risk

Potential impact

Risk mitigation

Outcome for the year

Tax Status

"Changes in the Company’s tax status or in tax
legislation and practice.

- Failureto understand tax risks wheninvesting
or divesting could lead to tax exposure or
financial loss.

- Pantheon’s investment process incorporates an
assessmentof tax.

- The Manager reviews the appropriateness of an

Stable during the year

- Taxes had a minimal effect on overall NAV
performancein the year.

investment’s legal structure to minimise the potential
taximpact on the Company.

Service Providers

The Company is dependent on trird partizs for
the provision of services and systerns, especially
those of the Manager, the Administrator and

the Depositary.

- Business disruption should the services of
Pantheon and other third-party suppliers cease
to be available to the Company.

- Afailure of the Manager to retain or recruit
appropriately qualified personnel may have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s
overall performance.

- The Board keeps the services of the Manager and
third-party suppliers under continuous review.

- The Management Agreement is subject to a notice
period of two years, giving the Board adequate time to
make alternative arrangements in the event that the
services of Pantheon cease to be available.

- The Manager regularly updates the Board on team
developments and succession planning.

- The Board performs an ongoing review of the Investment
Manager’s performance in addition to a formal annual

Stable during the year

- The Board has approved the continuing
appointment of the Manager and other service
providers following an assessment of their
respective performance during the year.

- Pantheon operates a hybrid working model and
is confident of being able to continue to meet
PIP's needs through this model.

review.

Cyber Security

High dependency on effective informatio
technology systems to support key business
functions and the safeguarding f sensitive
information. )

- Significant disruption to information technology
systems, including from a potentiat cyber attack,
may result in financial losses, theinability to
perform business-critical functions, loss or
theft of confidential data, regulatory censure,
legal liability and reputational damage.

- Pantheon has a comprehensive set of policies, standards
and procedures related to information technology and
cybersecurity.

- Ongoinginvestment and training to improve the reliability
and resilience of Pantheon’s informationtechnology
processes and systems.

Rising duringthe year

- Pantheon’s systems, processes and
technologies have been thoroughly tested
andare fully operational.

- Animposter website was identified during the
period, which used PIP's branding and marketing
material in relation to a fictitious cryptocurrency
investment. This was removed, but appeared
under anew name. The Manageris pursuing
the rerovat of this website and monitoring the
occurrence of other similar websites.

- Pantheon hasidentified an expert vendor who
can provide the service of identifying new
fraudulent sites and facifitate the subsequent
take-down once discovered.
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Risk Management and Principal Risks

Operational risk

Type and description of risk

Patentialimpact

Risk mitigation

Outcome for the year

Global geopolitical risks

Political and macro-economic factors including the
Russia-Ukraine war and the resulting economic
uncertainty may affect the Company.

ESG and climate change

The risk that the Company or the Manager fails to
respond appropriately 10 the increasing global focus
on Environmental, Social and Governance issues.

~ Market and currency volatility may affect
returns.

- Geopolitical undercurrents may disrupt
long-term investment and capital allocation
decision-making.

- The Company is exposed to the impact of a
mismanagement or failure 1o recognise
potential ESG issues at portfolio company
level, industry level, service provider, and Board
level, which could damage the reputation and
standing of the Company and ultimately affect
its investment performance,

= Pantheon continuously monitors geopolitical
developments and societal issues relevant to
itsbusiness.

- The Manager has a responsible approach when making
investments on behalf of PIP. Adherence to sound
ESG principles has been an integral part of Pantheon’s
pre-and post-investment processes for several years.
Pantheon continues to play aninfluential role in
promoting ESG standards and Diversity & Inclusion
in private equity.

Stable to rising during the year

— Pantheon’s established Risk, Legal and Tax
functions have ensured compliance withlocal

laws and regulations.

- Anassessment of geopolitical risk is embedded
in Pantheon's investment process.

- PIP's exposure to high risk countries is minimal.
PIP’s de minimis legacy exposure to Russian
assets werereduced to zero during the

financial year.

Stable during the year

- Pantheon has an established in-house ESG
committee comprising senior individuals
fromits investment, risk, legal and investor

relations teams.

- The Board of PIP has full oversight of ESG

mattersin PIP’s portfolio.
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s172(1) Statement

The Directors' overarching
dutyis to act in good faith and
in away thatis the most likely
to promote the success of PIP,
as set outin Section 172 of
the Companies Act 2006.

Indoing so, the Directors must take into
consideration the interests of the various
stakeholders of the Company, the impact
PIP has onthe community and the
environment, take a long-term view on the
consequences of the decisions they make,
as well as aim lo maintain a reputation for
high standards of business conduct and
fair treatment between the members of
the Company.

Fulfilling this duty supports PIP in achieving
itsinvestment strategy and helps to ensure
that all decisions are made in a responsible
and sustainable way. In accordance with
the requirements of the Companies
(Miscellaneous Reporiing) Regulations
2018, the Company explains how the
Directors have discharged their duties
under Section 172 below.

Toensure that the Directors are aware of
and understand their duties, they are
provided with pertinent information when
they first join the Board and receive regular
and ongoing updates and training on
relevant matters. They also have continued
access 10 the advice and services of the
Company Secretary and, when deemed
necessary, the Directors can seek
independent professional advice.

The Schedule of Matters Reserved for the
Board, as well as the terms of reference of
its Committees, are reviewed onanannual
basis and further describe Directors’
responsibilities and obligations, and

include any statutory and regulatory duties.

The Audit Committee has responsibility
for the ongoing review of PIP's risk
management systems and internal
controls and, to the extent that they are
applicable, risks related to the matters
setout in Section 172 areincluded on
PIP'srisk register and are subject to
regular review and monitoring.

Decision-making

The importance of stakeholder
considerations, in particular in the context
of decision-making, is taken into account
atevery Board meeting. All discussions
involve careful consideration of the
longer-term consequences of any
decisions and their implications for
stakeholders. Further information on

the role of the Board in safeguarding
stakeholder interests and monitoring
ongoing investment activity can be
found on pages 26 to 34 of the

Strategic Report.

Stakeholders

The Board seeks to understand the

needs and priorities of PIP's stakeholders
and these are taken into account during
allits discussions and as part of its
decision-making. During the period under
review, the Board has continued to discuss
and monitor which parties should be
considered as stakeholders of the Company
and has again concluded that,as PIP is an
externally managed investment company
and does not have any employees or
customers, its key stakeholders comprise
its shareholders, the Investment Manager,
General Partners, portfolio companies

and service providers. The section below
discusses why these stakeholders are
considered of importance to the Company,
and the actions taken to ensure that their
interests are taken into account.
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$172(1) Statement

Importance

Board engagement

Shareholders

Continued sharéholder support and engagement is
criticat to the Company and the delivery of its long-term
strategy. Further détails on what PIP offers toits
investors canbe found onpages 3to 17 of the
Strategic Report.

The Board is committed to maintaining open
channels of communication and to engage

with shareholders in a meaningful mannerin
order to gain an understanding of their views.

Theseinclude:

- AGM: The Company welcomes and
encourages attendance and participation
of shareholders atthe AGM. Shareholders
have the opportunity to meet the Directors
and Investment Manager, Pantheon, and
to address questions to them directly.
Pantheon attends the AGM and gives a
presentation on PtP's performance and the
future outlook. The Company values any
feedback and questicns thatit may receive
from shareholders ahead of and during the
AGM and will take action or make changes,
asandwhen appropriate;

- Publications: The Annual Report and
Half-Year results are made available on
PiP’s website (www.piplc.com) and
shareholders are notified whenthe Annual
Reports are available. These reports provide
shareholders with a clear understanding
of PIP's business model, strategy, portfolio
and financial position. Thisinformation is
supplemented by a monthly newsletter,
whichis available on the website and the
publication of which is announced via
the London Stock Exchange. In addition,
aquarterly "PIP News and Views" update

is circulated by the Manager to institutional
investors and analysts which provides a
round-up of news, research and views, and
highlights key points of interest relating to
PIP. Feedback and/or questions that the
Company receives from shareholders

help the Company to evolve its reporting,
aimingto render the reports and updates
transparent and understandable;

— Shareholder meetings: As PIPis an
investment trust, shareholder meetings
oftentake the form of meeting with the
Investment Manager. Shareholders are
able tomeet with Pantheon throughout the
year and the Manager provides information
on the Company. Feedback from meetings
between the Investment Manager and
shareholders is shared with the Board.

The Chair, the Senior Independent Director,
the Chair of the Audit Committee and other
members of the Board are available to
meet with sharehclders to understand
their views on governance and PIP’s
performance should they wish to do so.
With assistance from the Manager, the
Chair seeks meetings with shareholders
who might wish to meet withhimanda
significant number of meetings has been
held with shareholders throughout the year
to 31 May 2023 and since the year end;

- Shareholder concerns: In the event that
shareholders wishto raise issues or
concerns with the Directors, they are
welcometo do so at any time by writing
to the Chair at the registered office. Other
members of the Board are also available
to shareholdersifthey have concerns
that have not been addressed through
the normal channels; and

—Investor Relations updates: At almost
every Board meeting, the Directors receive
updates fromthe Company’s broker on
the sharetrading activity and share price
performance, as well as an update from
Pantheon’s Head of investor Relations
& Communications for PIP on specific
shareholder feedback. Any pertinent
feedback s takeninto accountwhen
Directors discuss the investment strategy.
The willingness of the shareholders to
maintain their holdings over the long term
is another way for the Board to gauge how
PIP is meeting its objectives.
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Importance

Board engagement

The Manager

Holding the Company’s shares offers investors a liquid
investment vehicle through which they can obtain
exposure to PIP's.diversified portfolic of private equity
investment opportunities and Pantheons relationships
with its private equity managers (Genera. Partners or
*GPs"). The Manager’s performance s critical for PIP
to successfully deliverits investment strategy and
meetits objective to provide shareholders with
attractive and consistent returns over the long term.
Further cetails of PIP's investment approach can be
found on pages 31 tc 41 of the Strategic Report.

GPs/portfolio companies

PIP's investment strategy is focused on tacking
managers that create sustainable valuein the
underlyirg portfolio companies. The Manager has
extensive private equity networks and relationships
with private equity managers globally, which gives
the Company increased access to the best
investment opportunities.

Maintaining a close and constructive
working relationship with the Manager is
crucial as the Board and the Manager both
aimto achieve consistent, long-term returns
inline with PIP'sinvestment strategy. The
Boardis inregular contact with the Manager
to receive updates on investment activity.
Importantcomponents in the collaboration
withthe Manager, representative of the
Company's culture are:

~ Encouraging an open discussion with
the Manager, allowing time and space for
original and innovative thinking;

The relationship with Pantheonis
fundamentalto ensuring PIP meets its
purpose. Day-to-day engagement with GPs
is undertaken by Pantheon. Details of how
Pantheon carries out portfolio management,
as wellasinformation on how GPs
consistently transform companies to create
long-term value, can be found inthe

- Recognising that the interests of
shareholders and the Manager are, for the
most part, well aligned, adopting atone
of constructive challenge, balanced with
robust negotiation of the Manager's terms
of engagement if those interests should
notbe fully aligned;

- Theregular review of underlying strategic
and investment ohjectives;

Manager's Review on pages 55to0 115.
The Boardreceives updates ateach
scheduled Board meeting fromthe Manager
on specific investments, including regular
valuation reports and detailed portfalio and
returns analyses. Pantheon’s engagement
with GPs and due diligence of portfolio
companies through theinvestment process

- Drawing on Directors’individual experience
and knowledge to support and challenge
the Manager inits monitoring of portfolio
companies and engagement with its GPs;
and

~ The Directors’ willingness to use their
experience to support and challenge
the Managerin the sound long-term
development of its business and
resources, recognising that the long-term
health of the Manager's businessisin the
interests of shareholders in the Company.

andits investment strategies can be foundin
the Strategic Report on pages 3to 13and
pages 35to 41 andinthe Manager's Review,

The Administrator, the Company
Secretary, the Registrar, the
Depositary and the Broker

Inorder ta function as aninvestment trustwitha
premium listing on the London Stock Excrange,
PIP relies on a diverse range of reputable advisers
for suppart in meeting all relevant obligations.

The Board maintains regular contact withits
key external providers and receives reqular
reports from them, both through the Board
and committee meetings, as well as outside
of the reqular meeting cycle. Their advice, as
well as their needs and views, are routinely
takenintoaccount.

The Board(through the Management
Engagement Committee) formally assesses
the performance, fees and continuing
appointment of key service providers
annually to ensure that they continue to
function at an acceptable level and are
appropriately remunerated to deliver the

expected level of service. The Audit
Committee reviews and evaluates the
financial reporting control environments
in place at each service provider.

The Environment and society

The Board continues to increase emphas's on
theimportance of ESG factorsin its investment
deliberations. The Board and the Manager are
fully committed to managing the business and its
investment strategy respensibly.

The Board receives regular updates on
Pantheon’s ESG strategy and provides
feedback an their approach, whichinturn
canleadtochangesinitsinvestment
approach.

Full details on the Manager's ESG practices,
including examples of interaction with GPs,
can be found on pages 16to 19and 76 to 81.
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s172(1) Statement

Importance

Board engagement

Revolving credit facility providers

Availability of funding s crucial to PIP's ability to take
advantage of investment opportunities as they arise
aswell as being able to meet future unfunded
commitments.

The Company aims to demonstrate toiits facility syndicate thatit is a well-managed business, capable of consistently delivering long-term
returns. Regular dialogue between the Manager and the syndicate is crucial to supparting PIP’s relationship with its lenders.

Regulators

PIP canonly operate as aninvestment trust f it
conducts its affairs in compliance with such status.
Interaction with regulators such as the Financial
Conduct Authority (“FCA”) and Financial Reporting
Council ("FRC"), who have a legitimate interest in how
the Company operatesin the market and treats

its shareholders, and industry bodies such as the
Association of investment Companies ("AIC*),
remains an area of Board focus.

The Company regutarly considers how it meets various regulatory and statutory obligations and how any governance decisions it makes can
have animpactonits stakeholders, bothinthe shorter and in the longei term. The Board receives reports from the Manager and Auditor on
their respective regulatory compliance and any inspections or reviews that are commissioned by regulatory bodies.

The mechanisms for engaging with the stakeholders are kept under review by the Directors and will be discussed on a regular basis at Board meetings to ensure that they remain
effective. Examples of the Board's principal decisions during the year, how the Board fulfilled its duties under section 172, and the related engagement activities, are set out below:

Principal decision

Long-term impact { i and

Capital allocation

The Board continually explores how to optimise Funds were made available for share buybacks during the year and 7.6 million shares were

the investment trust structure for the asset houghtback. As discussed inthe Chair’s Statement on page 20, during the year and
class in order to maximise benefits to following the year end, the Board has extensively discussed the options available to
shareholders. This includes discussicn of the address the prevailing level of discount, taking shareholder feedback inte account.
capital allocation policy with Pantheon and As aresult, the Board has settled upon the three key initiatives set outonpage 21.

considering buying back the Company's
shares when this is likely to outperform new
investments due to the prevailing discount

to NAV.
Direct shareholder feedback Communication with shareholders is givena Following his appointment the Chair offered to meet with major shareholders. Ouring the
high priority by the Board and the Manager, and year and following year end, he met with a significant number of shareholders who
all Directors are available to enter into dialogue accepted this invitation. Further details onthe matters raised at meetings with
with shareholders. shareholders and the Company's response are set out on pages 23 10 25.

Pantheon and the Board also hosted a capital markets event during the year. This provided
an opportunity for dialogue between the Board and shareholders, as well a chance to
update shareholders on the Company and its investment activities.

During the year, the Board also complied with a direct request from a major shareholder to
publish alink to Pantheon’s Modern Slavery Statement on the Company's website.
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Principal decision Long-term impact i ions and

Board succession p|anning Effective succession planning, teaqing ?olhe The f_\lomination Ccrnrqittee is resp«znsible_for Board recruitmen‘aqd c_cnductsa
refreshment of the Board and its diversity continuous and proactive process of planning and assessment, taking into account the
is necessary for PIP's long-term success. Company's strategic priorities and the main trends and factors affecting PIP’s long-term

success and future viability. As at the year end, the Board consisted of five Directors:
three male and two female.

Following the resignation of Ms Sakovska and Sir Laurie Magnus CBE's retirement during
the year and as part of ongoing succession planning, the Nomination Committee reviewed
the batance of skills and diversity on the Board as well as the Diversity Policy, and following
asearch process recommended two candidates who were appointed to the Board
following the year end. The search requirements included a preference for candidates

with a strong background in private equity, marketing and governance, as well as

ethnic and gender diversity. The appointments of the two new Directors haveincreased
both the ethnic and gender diversity of the Board and brought this in line with the three
targets setin the Listing Rules. For further information see pages 129 ang 130.

During the year, following the conclusion of PIP’s Annual General Meeting (the "AGM”)

inOctober 2022, Sir Laurie Magnus CBE retired as a Director of the Company and
John Singer CBE assumed the role of Chair.

i initiati Various marketing initiatives have been Marketing initiatives undertaken include the appointment of a new PR agency during the
Marketlng Initiatives agreed with the Board during the pericdto financial year as well as a programme of digital marketing and events targeting both
increasethe attractiveness of PIP to new and institutional and retail investors.
existing investors and improve the liquidity of
the stock.
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Viability Statement

Pursuant to provision 31 of
the UK Corporate Governance
Code 2018, and the AIC Code
of Corporate Governance,
the Board has assessed the
viability of the Company over
a three-year period from

31 May 2023. It has chosen
this period as it falls within
the Board's strategic
planning horizon.

The Company invests in a portfolio of
private equity assets that is diversified
by geography, sector, stage, manager
and vintage; it does so via both fund
investments and by co-investing directly
into companies alongside selected
private equity managers. The Company
invests significantly in the private equity
secondaries market as this allows the
Company to maintaina more mature
portfolio profile that is naturally
cash-generative inany particular year.

The Company seeks to maximise
long-term capital growth by investing

with top-tier private equity managers that
are focused on generating outperformance
against the broader private equity market.
As aninvestment trust, the Company’s
permanent capital structure is well suited
to investing in private equity, along-term

54 |

asset class. The Company’'s Manager has
along-standing culture that emphasises
collaboration and accountability,
facilitating open dialogue with underlying
private equity managers that help the
Company to anticipate market conditions
and maintain a conservative approach to
balance sheet management. The resilience
of the Company, positioning of the portfolio
and durability of the private equity market
are detailed on pages 56 to 59.

In making this statement, the Directors
have reviewed the reports of the
Investment Manager in relation to the
resilience of the Company, taking account
of its current position, the principal risks
facing itina low case scenario which
considers the potential further impact

of the ongoing geopoalitical uncertainties
as a result of the Russia-Ukraine conflict
including the disruption to the global supply
chainandincreases in the cost of living as
result of this conflict, persistent inflation,
interest rate rises and the impact of
climate change on PiP’s portfolio, the
effectiveness of any mitigating actions
and the Company’s risk appetite. The
assessment also considers the impact

of share buybacks in the period and the
impact of an “automatic” share buyback
programme, the amount of which will be
determined by net portfolio inflows and
the prevailing level of discount.

As part of the assessment this also
included a combined reverse stress test
that analyses the factors that would have
to simultaneously occur for the Company

Pantheon International Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023

to be forced into a wind-down scenario
where the Company’s business model
would no longer remain viable. These
circumstances include a significant peak
inthe outstanding commitments called
within a 12-month period, combined
with a significant decline in the portfolio
valuations and distributions. Overall,

the reverse stress tests are sufficiently
imprabable as to provide a low likely risk
of impact to the Company’s viability and
medium-term resilience.

Commitments to new funds are controlled
relative to the Company’s assets, and the
Company's available liquid financial
resources are managed to maintain a
reasonable expectation of being able to
finance the calls, which arise from such
commitments, out of internally generated
cash flow. The Company also has the
ability to control capital allocation to
co-investments and direct investments
asa way of bringing in any immediate
measures 1o ensure that the Company can
cope with the liquidity implications of a
worsening environment. In addition, the
Company has put in place a revolving credit
facility toensure that it is able to finance
such calls in the event that distributions
received from investments in the period
areinsufficient to finance calls. The Board
reviews the Company's financing
arrangements at least quarlerly to ensure
thatthe Company isin a strong position to
finance all outstanding commitments on
existing investments as well as being able
tofinance new investments. .

Strategic Report Manager’s Review

WY,

In reviewing the Company's viability, the
Board has considered the Company’s
position with reference toits investment
trust structure, its business model, its
business objectives, the principal risks and
uncertainties as detailed on pages 44 to 48
of this report and its present and expected
financial position. In addition, the Board
has also considered the Company’s
conservative approach to Balance Sheet
management, which allows it to take
advantage of significant investment
opportunities, and the appropriateness

of the Company's current investment
objectives in the prevailing investment
market and environment.

The Board regularly reviews the prospects
for the Company's portfolio and the
opportunities for new investment under a
range of potential scenarios to ensure it
can expect to be able to continue to finance
its activities for the medium-term future.
Based onits review, the Board has a
reasonable expectation that the Company
will be able to continue in operation and
meet its liabilities as they fall due over a
three year period ending on 31 May 2026.

On behalf of the Board
JOHN SINGER CBE
2 August 2023

—
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Our Market

Taking advantage of
market dislocation

Helen Steers and Jie Gong, Partners at Pantheon
“and co-managers of PIP, discuss how the private
equity industry and PIP have navigated the
ongoing global economic uncertainty and

their expectations for the year ahead.

Financing portfolio
companies with : 70
Advent International
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HELENSTEERS
AND JIEGONG
Partners at Pantheon
and co-managers

of PIP

How would you describe the current
environment for private equity?

The first six months of this year have beenan
extensionof muchof last year, interms of
continued concerns aboutinflation, interest
ralerises and geopolitical turbulence. We
have also witnessed some localised bank
crises earlier this year aithough they were
reasonably well contained.

However, compared with this time last
year, we believe we are closer to a point
of stabilisation. Inflation has shown
signs of moderation in most developed
economies, with the exception of the
UK, and economists believe inflationary
pressures are beginning to wane.

Asaresult, the pace of interest rate
increases has slowed, and market
observers are anticipating a peak for
interest rates in the coming months.

Onthe other hand, the global economy is
not out of the woods yet. The fundamental
macro issues have not gone away and
sticky inflation is likely to make the job

of central banks more difficult in the future.

While public markets have rebounded this
year, the recovery has been led by a narrow
band of large US-based tech companies,
and it has not been broad-based. The IPO
market has cracked open slightly in the
USA butitis nowhere near back to normal.

Uncertainty is the biggest deterrent for deal
making, because deal underwriting and
pricing need a stable near-term outlook,
otherwise a "wait and see” approach
prevails. The largest exit route for private
equity-backed companies is corporate
M&A, butin general strategic buyers have
remained on the sidelines with deal activity
continuing 1o be subdued. Sales of small
and mid-sized private equity-backed
companies to larger private equity funds
have also been dampened, for similar
reasons. As a result, the volume of private
equity exits has declined and distribution
rates have been low. Combined with
areduction in fundraising activity, the

-result has been a slowdown in new deal

investment activity.
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According to Bain & Co', buyout deals
(which comprised the bulk of the private
equity deal volume) amounted to
US$202bn during the first half of 2023,
down 58% year-on-year. in the first ha!f
of 2023, buyout realisations fell 65%
year-on-year to US$131bn.

What does this mean for PIP,
especially inthe single-asset
secondaries and co-investment
strategies which PIP has
increasingly shifted towards?

Private equity has histarically
outperformed public markets, and this
outperformance is more pronounced in
downturns. Research shows that between
2002 and 2022, upper quartile PE
managers outperformed the Dow Jories
Industrial Average by 890 basis points
during bull markets, while this widened
to 1,940 basis points in bear markets?.
Vintage years like those of today have
the advantage of a more favourable
deployment environment both in terms
cf valuation and interms of limiting
competition, and therefore make good
entry points for new investment.

1 Bain& Co, Stuckin Place: Private Equity Midyear

Report 2023.

Source: Capital 1Q as at 30 October 2022.

ThomsonOne PE Buyout and Growth funds Index as

at022022. Bull markets are defined as 2004-2306

and 2010-2019 and 2021. Bear markets are defined

as 2002-2003;2007-2009.2020 and year to

300ctcober2022.

3 Source:Greenhill, Global Secondary Market Review,
February 2023.

4 Source:Jefferies, H1 2023 Global Secondary
Market Review.

)

This advantage applies across the board
inall private equity strategies, butis
especially the case for manager-led
secondaries investments, because of
the additional boost to the supply of such
deals as a solution for the slower pace of
private equity exits.

Manager-led secondaries are when the
private equity managers themselves
instigate deals in order to provide liquidity
options for the investors in their funds.
They can consist of either multi-asset
portfolios or single-asset secondaries.
Single-asset secondaries are attractive to
investors like PIP because they are often
“trophy” companies that the PE manager
believes have significant runway for
additional value uplift froma lengthened

period of ownership by the same manager.

When successful,and with the correct
alignment of interest between existing
investors, the private equity manager,
company management and the new
investors, these types of transaction
tend to have an attractive risk/return
profile and can be of significant value
to all parties involved.

This type of secondaries transaction
accounted for 48%° of all secondary
transactions in 2022, with the remainder
being traditional fund sales.

See page 96 for more information on
manager-led secondaries.

Not allmanager-led deals are created
equal. With an increasingly large volume
of deals entering the secondary market,
much of it driven by liquidity generation

Evolution of the manager-led secondary market*

needs, it relies on us to be extremely
selective on asset quality, manager quality,
as well as the alignment of interest
between the manager and new investors.

The last point cannot be emphasised
enough since itis acritical part of our
investment structuring and deal
underwriting decision. In addition,
manager-led secondaries require
significant expertise and resources to
evaluate, and are frequently sourced
on a proprietary basis through deep
manager relationships.

Pantheon has along track record in the
secondaries market and our dedicated

and experienced team gives us global scale
and reach. The information advantage
from knowledge of specific assets inthe
portfolio over a long time period gives us
the opportunity to play a leading role in

the structuring of the manager-led deals.

In our opinion, the supply and demand
dynamics in the manager-led secondary
market has created an unusually
favourable buying opportunity, which
we are leaning into, on a highly selective
basis, and underwriting outsized
investment returns.
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Our Market

Qur co-investment flow during the
Company's reporting period has remained
robust. Eventhough there have been asset
disposals resulting from stressed sellers
from time to time at depressed pricing,

" the entry valuation on high quality assets
inattractive and resilient sectors have
generally held up without much downward
adjustment. In addition, there have been
more frequent follow-on investments in
existing deals as companies pursue
sizeable bolt-on acquisitions to consolidate
fragmented markets, or for synergistic
product or geographical expansion.

Sourced from the managers that we have
backed ona primary basis, and typically
without any fee or carried interest charged,
co-investments are economically very
advantageous as an investment strategy.

In addition, all our co-investment
opportunities pass through a “double
quality filter”, since each opportunity has
first been evaluated by a private equity
manager, who themselves have passed
our rigorous manager selection hurdles.
The opportunity is then subjected to our
own detailed due diligence process, carried
out by our dedicated co-investment team,
who will confirm amongst other things
that the deal is a good fit for the manager.
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We both sit on Pantheon’s Globai
Co-investment Committee and Helen

sits on the International Investment
Committee, therefore we have the
advantage of reviewing all the direct deals
that are being sourced via Pantheon’s
platform. We seek a distinct sel of
characteristics for assets as set out

in the graphic below, and in addition place
strong emphasis on pricing discipline.
This leads to high selectivity: for reference,
the typical approvalrate interms of
number of deals - from pre-qualified
deals entering into pipeline for our review
tothose completed - is between 10-15%.
In 2022, that number was 12%.

What we look for when assessing deals:

Entry valuation has been the biggest
reason for a deal to be screened out at the
stage that it is brought to the investment
committee, and this has beenthe case
for many years.

Portfolio positioning

High quality Non-cyclical Critical or highly
businesses industries differentiated services
Recurring Modest Key global
revenue leverage themes
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A notable recent developmentis
the excitement about generative
artificial intelligence ("generative
Al"), billed by some as the catalyst
for the next industrial revolution.
What is your take oniits risks

and opportunities inrelationto
private equity?

Generative Al is arguably the most
important technological evolution and
disruptor of our time, which has not only
dominated the public discourse this y=ar
but has been adopted already in a number
of ways by enterprises for productivity
and efficiency gains. We have seenits
application in some portfolio companies,
for example in customer interactions
through chatbots based on predictive
language models, or content generation

in graphics for entertainment. The speed
of adoption has been extremely fast
compared with prior major disruptive
technology. The intelligent use of
technology is an important component we
consider when we evaluate managers, and
likewise a company's technology adoption
and the risk of technology displacement
are essential topics when we assess ¢irect
company investment evaluation. Given
that we prefer asset-light, higher margin,
less labour-intensive businesses, and

are aware of not only the challenges,

but also the opportunities presented by
technology, we believe PIP is well
positioned to benefit from generative

Al applications.

5 Asat31May2023.

PIP has a very little venture exposure at just
3% of NAVS, therefore the direcl exposure
to generative Al technology is limited,
however we expect a wider spectrum of
applications to come out of this area as
significant tools for better productivity and
efficiency are devetoped inthe coming
years. Itis a topic that we exchange

notes on regularly with our managers.

Speaking of technology, the biggest
industry sector in PIP’s portfolio is
information technology, of which the
largest sub-sectoris IT software.
Considering the magnitude of the
software sector sell-off in public
markets since 2022, do the current
marks of these investments
accurately reflect the current
valuation?

The short answer to the question is yes,
that the current marks are consistent
with public market comparables.

The software positions inthe PIP

portfolio were almost all profitable
businesses at entry and have performed
well interms of their revenue and earnings
growth. The appropriate publicly listed
comparables for themare the profitable
listed software businesses, which
represents only 40% of the overall

listed software companies universe.

Afew points to note: first, there is significant
divergence in the pattern of sell-off between
the profitable versus the unprofitable
software businesses, as the aggressive
rate hike in 2022 severely affected the
valuation of unprofitable companies

while there was a “flight to safety” to

the profitable ones. Second, given the
prevalence of unprofitable businesses

in the overall sector (approximately 60%

of the listed companies in the sector

are unprofitable), using the sector
comparables instead of the profitable
subset would be a rather misguided proxy.
Third, itis allabout selection —in this case,
the discipline of focusing on profitable,
growing businesses.

Finally, what are your expectations
for the year ahead?

With macroeconomic unE:enainty extending
into the second half of this year, we expect
continued bumpiness in the external
environment. However, the best private
equity managers are able to take advantage
of market disruption and capitalise on
opportunities to add value to their existing
portfolio companies, as well as seeking
exciting new investments. PIP has been
constructed to provide investors withan
“all-weather” portfolio, which is reflected in
the choice of sectors, with a weighting
towards defensive and resilient areas,

. inthe buyout-heavy composition of the

portfolio, inthe sensible leve! of portfolio
diversification and the ability to flex
investment pacing through the majority
tilt towards direct company investments.

The quality of the underlying companies,
and the managersthat PIP has selected,
the experience in navigating challenging
economic periods and the ability to effect
change will all stand PIP in good stead to
traverse this environment.

PIPis one of the longest established PE
investment trusts listed on the London
Stock Exchange and for 36 years,
Pantheon has successfully steered it
through multiple macroeconomic cycles
and events while generating average NAV
growth (net of all fees) of more than 12%
perannum. While not complacent, we
are confident that PIP has the necessary
credentials to continue to achieve its
aim of outperforming the public market
benchmarks over the long term.
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Portfolio As at 31 May 2023

Since its inception, PIP has been able to
generate excellent returns while at the
same time structuring its portfolio to
minimise the risks typically associated with
private equity investments. Qur established
portfolio of assets has been carefully

Flexible approach to portfolio construction increases Weighted towards the more developed private equity markets
potential for outperformance. inthe USA and Eurcpe, while Asiaand EM provide access to
faster-growing economies.

1 ion'
selected, based on the strengths of our Investment type Region
appointed private equity managers,
actively monitored and diversified to
reduce specific timing, regional and sector
risks;and managed to maximise growth
and liquidity over time.
Type andregion
Maturity and stage
Primaries 34% USA 54%
Co-investments 33% Europe 28%
Manager-led secondaries 19% Asia and EM? 10%
Fund secondaries 14% ‘ Global® 8%

1 Investment type and region charts are based
upon pany
The charts exclude the portion of the reference
portfolio attributable to the ALN.

EMis Emerging Markels.

Global category cantains funds with no target
allocation to any particular region equal io or
exceeding 60%.

w N
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Since its inception, PIP has been able to
generate excellent returns while at the
same time structuring its portfolio to
minimise the risks typically associated with
private equity investments. Our established
portfolio of assets has been carefully
selected, based on the strengths of our
appointed private equity managers,
actively monitored and diversified to
reduce specific timing, regional and sector
risks; and managed to maximise growth *
and liquidity over time.

Stage'

Type andregion

Maturity and stage

Small/mid buyout
Large/mega buyout
Growth

Special situations
Venture

1 Fund stageand maturity charts are based upon
underlying fund and company valuations.
The charis exclude the portion of the reference
portfolio atiributable io the ALN.

Well-diversified with an emphasis on the buyout stages.

PIP's portfolio has a weighted average age of 4.8 years.

Maturity’
45% 2021 and later 30%
. 26% 2020 7%
20% 2019 ' 13%
6% 2018 13%
3% 2017 1%
2016 9%
2015 7%
2014 3%
2011-2013 : 5%
20710and earlier 2%
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New Commitments case study

OPT CONNECT

GP Graham Partners Type Manager-led secondary
Sector Information Technology =~ Commitment  £12.4m

Geography USA Stage Small/mid buyout

Capturing value from
the Internet of Things

OptConnect is a provider of wireless internet connectivity solutions for
unattended equipment such as kiosks, smart vending, digital signage and
ATMs. It enables a reliable Internet of Things (“loT") connection to provide

a cost-effective and dependable platform for customers.
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OPT CONNECT

Investment rationale

- OptConnect has aresilient business
model with predictable recurring
revenues, healthy margins and a strong
market position.

The company’s total addressable market
is projected to grow at an annual rate of
15%102025.

]

The growth of the 10T market is likely
to resultinan increasing number of
devices requiring wireless connections
totheinternet.

Graham Partners originally invested in
the company in 2017 and has focused
on growing the business through new
productinnovation, expansion into new
markets as well as the comaletion of
an add-on acquisition.

The manager has grown the number of
installed products from 80,000 in 2017

to over 480,000, representing anannual
growth rate of 43%.

Active management and
value creation

Graham Partners is a specialistin the
technology sector, with a particular focus
onindustrial technology. The manager
sees a number of routes to further value
creation including accretive M&A, increased
operating leverage and earnings growth.
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Performance

PIP's portfolio value has increased

modestly over the period. Access to
top-performing managers andailt .
towards resilient and high-growth sectors -
has helped PIP to withstand the current
macroeconomic environment.

PIP’s portfolio generated returns of 3.5% during the year.!

Private equity portfolio

movements

Valuation movement
by type

Valuation movement
by stage

Valuation movement
by region

1 Excluding returns attributable tothe ALN share of
the portfolio.
2 Amountdrawn down at the time of commitment.
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PIP's porlfolio value has increased
modestly over the period. Access to
top-performing managers and a ilt
towards resilient and high-growth sectors
has helped PIP to withstand the current
macroeconomic environment.

Private equity portfolio
movements

Valuation movemerit

by type'

Valuation movemerit
by stage

Valuation movement
byregion

Portfolio returns include income, exclude gains
and losses from foreign exchange movements,
and look through underlying vehicle srructures to

the ing funds. Portfoli

generated by the portion of the refererce portfolin
attribuiablé to the ALN, and are calculated by dividing
valuation gains by opening portfolio values.

Resilient portfolio performance despite the current challenging macroeconomic environment.

Manager-led secondaries were the highest performing segment of the portfolio, having been revalued after previously being held

atcost.
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Performance

PIP's portfolio value has increased
modestly over the period. Access to
top-performing managers and a titt
towards resilient and high-growth sectors
has helped PIP to withstand the current
macroeconomic environment.

Valuation gains in the buyout and special situations stages offset valuation losses in the venture and growth segments of
the portfolio.

Private equity portfolio
movements

Valuation movement
bytype

Valuation movement
by stage’

Valuation movement
by region

Portfolio returns include income, exclude gains
and losses from foreign exchange movements,
and look through underlying vehicle structures 10
the underlying funds. Portfolic returns exclude returns
generated by the portion of the reference portiofio

i tothe ALN, and by dividing
valuaiion gains by opening portfolio values.
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PIP's portfolio value has increased
modestly over the period. Access to
top-performing managers and a tilt
towards resilient and high-growth sectors
has helped PIP to withstand the current
macroeconomic environment.

Private equity portfolio
movements

Valuation movement
by type

Valuation movement
by stage

Valuation movement

by region'

Portfolio returns include Incorne, exclude gains

and losses from foreign exchange movements,

and look through underlying vehicle siructures to

the underlying funds. Portfolio returns exclude returns
generated by the portion of the referer.ce portfolio
atiributable to the ALN, and are calculaied by dividing
valuation galns by opening portfolio values.

PIP’s portfolio is weighted towards investments in the USA and Europe, which generated positive returns during the period.
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Distributions case study

INTERACTIVE INVESTOR

Proceeds £31m Sector
Manager J.C. Flowers ("JCF") Stage
Geography Europe Vintage

Type Fund Secondary Exittype

Wealth management

made easy

Interactive investor is the second largest direct-to-consumer online wealth

Financials
Small/mid buyout
2017

Strategic buyer

management platform in the UK. It operates an investment and trading platform

that provides retail investors with financial information, tools and a trading

environment in which they can make investment decisions. This award-winning

platform puts customers in control of their financial futures.
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INTERACTIVE INVESTOR

Investment rationale

The acquisition provided accessto a
high-growth directinvestmen: market,

a scalable business platform that cou d
be expanded rapidly through acquisitions
and a combined technological platform
that meets clients’ financial needs at
different stages of their lives. The business
model has stable and high recurring
revenues based ona flat-fee monthly
subscription model. J. C. Flowers
acquired the company froma very
motivated seller, with a plantc:

(i) consolidate existing customers
across business units (a cross-selling
opportunity); and

(i) implement a data/technology
transformation (combined with
improved pricing/brand
management strategy).

Our relationship

Pantheon has been aninvestor in
J. C. Flowers' funds since 2016 via
multiple secondary transactions.

Active managementand
value creation

- Under JCF's ownership, interactive
investor had a strong track record of
acquiring and integrating complementary
platforms. Interactive investor completed
the acquisitions of TD Direct Investing in
2017, Alliance Trust Savingsin 2019, and
Share plcin2020. The latest acquisition
was the EQi book of customers, which
completed in June 2021.

Inaddition, the company was able

t2 execute on their technology
transformation initiative, making
operations more efficient and driving
& market leading user experience.
Together, these all translated into high
crowth via the business’s scalable
infrastructure and brand leadership,
vehich JCF helped to cultivate.

From June 2017 to May 2023,

J.C. Flowers grew interactive investor's
assels under administration from
approximately ¢. £21bnto £55bn
through a suitable mix of organic
growth and strategic M&A. This was
the equivalent to an annualised
growthrate of ¢.17% over the six

year holding period.

Exit

Interactive Investor was acquired by

abrdn plc, a UK-based asset manager,

in May 2023.
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A Conversation with Advent International

How higher interest
rates are affecting
private equity

Jie Gong, Partner at Pantheon and co-manager of
PIP, speaks to Giles Reaney, who is responsible for
leading new acquisition financings and capital
markets activities for Advent International’s
portfolio companies in the EMEA region.
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GILESREANEY
Managing Director

Advent International (Advent) is an important partner for PIP,
accounting for 2.4% of PIP's total private equity asset value

as at 31 May 2023. Advent is one of the most well-established
and experienced private equity managers in the world,

having invested over $70bn in more than 400 private equity
investments across the globe since 1984. The firm has a team
of over 290 investment professionals, including a dedicated
capital markets team that arranges debt financing for Advent’s
portfolio companies.

Given the current focus on conditions in the financing
environment, Pantheon sought feedback and comments
from Advent on the impact of rising interest rates on the credit
market and on private equity portfolios generally.
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Thank you for taking the time to
speak with us, Giles. We are living
ininteresting times with the
double-whammy of inflation and
rising interest rates. How has
this combination affected
Advent'’s portfolio?

What has been unusual about this
interest rate hike cycle is the rapidity

and aggressiveness of the increases.

Our portfolioc saw some margin squeezes
last year, however the companies’ prizing
adjustments have caught up and their
cost containment has yielded results

As aresult, in general the margin situation
has improved over the last six months.

The rate increase has not been a major
issue. It is common practice in our industry
1o use hedging tools such as interest rate
swaps. At Advent, we have that in place for
approximately 60% of the assets. There are
other derivative tools at our disposal too.
The unhedged assets are often those with
tow levels of debt and/or those that are
closeto exit.

At Advent, we are inthe business of selecting
high-quality companies to own and to which
we add value. An important consideration
at selection is whether a given company is
sufficiently differentiated to command
pricing power. Ininflationary times, this type
of business.can pass oninflalionary costs
to customers, through price adjustments,
or upselling, or cross-selling, all of which
are well withinthe private equity toolkit.

Fer our portfolio, we have found that
appetile towards lending to IT/software
businesses and aerospace & defence has
remained strong. Healthcare is another
sector that has been consistently preferred
when it comes to debt financing. High
quality companies inall of these sectors
heve predictable revenue outlook, stable
businesses, and rich cashflows, which are
alt qualities that the lenders favour.

Therate increase has not been a major issue.
It is commmon practice in our industry to use
hedging tools such as interest rate swaps.

GILES REANEY
Managing Director of Advent International

As we are not out of the woods on
inflation, and while the interest rate
increase is in its late innings, there

is likely still more to come. Looking
beyond Advent at the broader private
equity industry, how would this
period be likely to go downin history?

Inthe last decade, quantitative easing and
super low interest rates drove a lot of
liquidity to our industry, funding new
entrants;and financing many lesser
quality investments that may have been
completed only because of the excessive
liquidity resulting in cheap debt.

There is a wide dispersion of performance
in private equity, between differentmanagers
and different transactions. | think some of
the lesser quality deals completed inthe
last decade would really struggle under the
pressure of increased inflation and a higher
burden of debt. In contrast, higher quality
businesses are able to go through a more
challenging period and come out stronger
and even grow in scale through industry
consolidation or a decrease in competitive
intensity as some firms fall out of the
market. The current environment will prove
to be the acid test of the quality of different
private equity managers. Selectivity,
expertise and a risk management mindset
make all the difference.

The era of zero-interest rates s likely to

be squarely behind us. The reduction in
excess liquidity instils selection and pricing
discipline and reduces competition,

all good things for our industry.

The key to alpha generationin private
equity lies in asset selection and value
creation through active ownership during
the holding period. Yes, the base rate will
be higher than in the last decade, but the
capital supply/demand dynamics for deal
entry will become better, since the market
will be less crowded, in other words less
noisy. Because of these two factors, | don't
believe that private equity outperformance
during the next decade should diminish
compared with the prior level, just because
of therateincreases.
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A Conversation with Advent International

Going back to the topic of financing,
how have the financing environment
and commercial terms evolvedin
the last several years?

Inthe last decade, the overall financing
environment was buoyant because of
the abundant supply of money.

When the COVID-19 pandemic hit in early
2020, the global credit market froze fora
short period of time. Central banks reacted
promptly and flooded the market with
liquidity, which gave a boost to the already
abundant liquidity available

US Leveraged Finance Volume'

As inflationary fears seeped into the
market at the beginning of 2022, the
credit market cooled somewhat. Thenthe
Russian invasion of Ukraine in February
last year compounded the inflationary
fears because of the impact on energy
supply. The central banks startedan
aggressive sel of interest rate increases.
The credit market found it difficult to
price deals with increased macro and
geopolitical uncertainties, and as a result
the borrowing cost base and borrowing
margins accelerated quite a lot last year.

1 Source:Bloomberg, S&P L.CD News & Research, AMG Data Services. Dataas at 30 June 2023.

2 Source:Citi,LCD, Bloomberg.
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More recently, sentiment has improved as
the end point of the rate increase is closer.
Also banks wrote off their losses at the end
of last year, and have been more active this
year compared with the majority of 2022
and private credit players have increased
activity as volatility subsided. Consequently,
the credit spread has narrowed quite a bit.
Itis currently only about 50-75 basis points
higher than during the pre- rate hike period.

You may have seen the headlines recently
about some very large financings
completed, which suggests renewed
strength on the financing front.

In the traditional bank syndicated market
(the vast majority of the lending market),
covenant-lite remains the standard while
that market's accessibility responds to.the
moarket volatility. For example, it was closed
for a month here and a month there during
the height of volatility through Q2-Q4 last
year. In the private credit lending market
(the minority component of the lending
market), there was an increased use of
financial covenants (leverage covenants)
during June to December last year, and
more recently covenant-lite has made
acomeback.

European Leveraged Finance Volume?
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US Maturity Profile®

With a crystal ball, how do you see
the borrowing terms going forward?

My personal estimate is interest rates will
probably peakin Q3and be he d atthose
levels until at Q2 2024, after which time
the rates are expected to comz down.
However, you will not see a cascade of
money coming into the market upon
stabilisation of inflation and interest rates.

3 Source:Citi,L.CD, Bloombery. Data as ai 30 June 2023

Theinflation target could well be higher
than the 2% level going forward. My take
isthat steady state inflationis likely to be
around 3% in the USA and probably slightly
lower at 2.5% for Europe.

Interest rates will come down from current
levels but it is unlikely for base rates to

go back down to the ultra-low levels of

the past decade as | don't believe that
quantitative easing will come back for
sometime.

European Maturity Profile?

At Advent, we focus closely on the
dynamics of the debt markets and how
our portfolio companies might be
impacted. We want to make sure that we
are puttingin place the appropriate capital
structures in our companies so that they
are well-equipped for both favourable and
more difficult macroeconomic times.
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Sectorsin Focus

Infocus: Information Technology continues to attract PiIPinvests in software companies that are
substantial levels of private equity investment, high growth, capital-light and scalable, and typically
driven by the trend towards greater digitalisation empioy subscription models that provide

n fO r I I I a t | O n and automation of the global economy. PIP's predictable revenue streams and cash flows.
exposure to this important sector is heavily
Te C h n O | O g weighted towards enterprise software.

Total exposure

to the sector Largest subsector exposure Five largest companies
0/ . ) .
PIP 37 O of PIP’s NAV in these five companies
Application System T
o sofware software services Others KASEYA ASURION VALANTIC RECORDED ANAPLAN

33% “19% 6% 4% 4% FUTURE
Provider of IT Mobile phone Digital consulting  Cybersecurity Developer ofa
management insurance and software software cloud-based
and monitoring  company company company modeliing
software and ptanning
services platform

1 O,
MSCI World 125 /o of the MSCI World in these five companies
Technology Semi- System Application
0 hardware conductors software software Others APPLE MICROSOFT NVIDIA BROADCOM ASML

22 / (o] 6% 5% 5% 3% 3%
Designer and Developer of Leading Manufacturerof  Manufacturer
manufacturer computer manufacturer semi-conductors  of chip-making
of consumer software systems  of graphic equipment
electronics and applications  processing units

1 Asat26July2023.

74 | Pantheon Intemational Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023 Strategic Report Governance Financial Statements  Other Information



Infocus:

- Healthcare

1

Total exposure
to the sector

PIP

19%

MSCI World'

13%

As 8126 July 2023.

Largest subsector exposure

Healihcare
services

6%

Pharmaceuticals

5%

The demand for high quality healthcare has never
been greater. In partnership with an array of
specialist healthcare sector managers, PIP invests
inasset-light, highly defensive companies that aim
to improve access toin-demand healthcare services
and provide industry professionals with solutions
that allow them to focus their efforts on patient care.

Heafthcare Pharma- Heatihcare

technology ceuticals equipment  Others

4% 2% 2% 5%
Healthcare Healihcare
equipment services Biotech Other
2% 2% 2% 2%

Five largest companies

(o)
37 /0 of PIP's NAV in these five companies

LIFEPOINT EVERSANA OMNIEYE SHIFTKEY
HEALTH SERVICES
Healthcare Commercial Specialist eye Healthcare
provider services platform  treatment recruiiment
for the life provider platform
sciences sector

[o)
31 /0 of the MSCl World in these five companies

JOHNSON & LILLY MERCK UNITED
JOHNSON HEALTH
GROUP
Manufacturer Pharmaceutical ~ Pharmaceutical  Provider of
of heakhcare company company medical care
products benefits

RLDATIX

Developer of
cloud-based
patient safety and
risk management
software:

NOVOo
NORDISK

Pharmaceutical
company
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A Conversation with Pantheon’s Global Head of ESG

Embedding material ESG considerations throughout our processes and
procedures supports our wider mission to invest responsibly on behalf of
our clients, such as PIP, with a focus on managing risks and creating value

over the long term.

EIMEAR PALMER
Partner and Global Head of ESG

Eimear Palmer, Pantheon
Partner and Global Head of
ESG, discusses Pantheon's
enhanced approach to
environmental, social and
governance ("ESG") and
how PIP benefits fromit.
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You have been working in private
equity-focused ESG roles for more
than 10 years. How have attitudes
towards ESG changed over that time?

Enormously! The focus and attention on
ESG by a range of stakeholders has turned
it from a "nice to have” to now being at

2 point where demonstrating a robust
approachto ESG is often imperative

for investors.

Whereas perhaps several years ago
consideration of ESG matters was
desirable, it is now a prerequisite for many
of ourinvestors. It's recognised by both our
managers and their portfolio companies
asanimportant lever of risk mitigation

and value creation. Operating more
sustainably enables portfolio companies to
become more resilient through improved
efficiencies, greater innovation and
reduced costs, which result in companies

Strategic Report Governance

strengthening their positioning and
reputation inthe market. As a result

of their actions, companies are able to

gain investor confidence and it reduces
regulatory uncertainty by ensuring that
their businesses are well-positioned

and more prepared for ESG-and
climate-related regulation and compliance.
Inshort, it makes good business sense,

We continue to see European private equity
managers leading the way in driving the
ESG agenda with managers in the USA
and Asia increasingly recognising that the
decisions they make can have a tangible
impact on their stakeholders and the
communities in which they operate.

A growing number of Asian investors in
particular are focusing more and more on
climate commitments and understanding
the carbon footprint of their portfolios.
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You mentioned regulatory
uncertainty. Perhaps one of the
major shifts in recent years has
been the changing landscape for
measuring and reporting ESG data.
How have private equity managers
responded to this?

Private equity managers are navigating a
highly political and complex regulatory
environment in which the rules and
priorities differ by jurisdiction and canoften
be contradiciory. In the USA, they caneven
vary from stateto state. In many cases,

the regulations were not designed with
private markets in mind.

In Europe in particular, the focus has
been on fabelling financiat products and
disclosing ESG data. For the private equity
industry, data collection is challenging
since it is extremely difficult for small-
and medium-sized businesses with little
in-house ESG experlise or systems to
collect, measure and analyse ESG data.
For managers and funds in scope, the very
specific portfolio company metrics cover
KPIs ranging from carbon emissions -0
hazardous waste ratios, and these KPIs
apply 1o every company in a portfolio
regardless of sector or size. In many
cases, companies do not produce the
information for any other purpose apart
from responding to the request from
their investors. This creates significant
burden for both portfolio companies

and private equity managers and we
expect it will take years to close the

data gap.

Inthe European Union at least, we believe
that we will begin to see progress with the
introduction of the Corporate Sustainability
Reporting Directive requiring mid-market
portfolio companies to report ESG data.
We are also hopeful that the upcoming
European Commission review of the

ESG regulatory framework planned for
the second half of 2023 will resultina
less onerous and more tailored approach
to ESG data disclosures.

At Pantheon, as a global business, we
recognise the challenges that our investors
face across multiple jurisdictions and are
supportive of ESG data standardisation
and the ambition toimprove transparency
of ESG performance across the industry.
Pantheon is a signatory to the ESG Data
Convergence Initiative ('"EDCI) which is

a global initiative focused on collating
performance-based, comparable ESG
metrics. Over 300 private equity managers
have now signed upand 60%' of PIP's
primary private equity managers have
indicated that they would be preparedto
disclose portfolic company information
using the EOCI template, so the signs are
encouraging.

Turning to the challenges being
faced by the global economy,
what role can private equity play
inaddressing these?

The private equity sector is well-placed to

make a positive contribution to stimulating
growth through the creation and support of
jobs. The most recently available statistics

show that in Europe, private equity-backed
companies employed 10.5 million people
atthe end of 2021, representing 4.5% of
the entire workforce? and anincrease

of 6.5% from the end of 2020. In the UK
alone, private equity-backed companies
employed two million people in 2021,
representing 6% of all UK jobs, and these
businesses contributed 5% of total UK
GDP?. Itis the same story inthe USA
where 12 million people are employed by
PE-backed businesses’. This is positive,
not just for the people employed by those
companies, but also for those impacted
through supply chains and the customers
who value the products and services
offered by them.

What also matters of course is how private
equity managers behave towards the
businesses that they own. For years, private
equity has been extremely successful
atincorporating robust governance
structures. Managers typically investin
portfolio companies alongside the existing
management teams and they work closely
togetherto grow the business overthe long
term. Company management, the private
equity manager and theirinvestors all exit
the business at the same time, meaning
thatthereis a real alignment of interest.
There are direct lines of communication
between the private equity managers and
the executive teams so they are able to
adopt a much more proactive, collaborative
approach and respond quickly to any
issuesthat may arise.

Finally, private equity managers are alert to
the investment opportunities arising from
the need to provide solutions to enable the
greentransition, decarbonisationand to
harness the benefits of a circular economy.
There are examples of these types of
compadies in PIP's portfolio and case
studies for some of them can be found

on the Company’s website. Pantheon

has a longstanding relationship with
Ambienta, which focuses on investing

in sustainability-driven businesses, and
during the period, PIP invested in Ambienta's
fund IV which will target small-and
medium-sized companies in Europe whose
products aid pollution control and resource
efficiency in their respective sectors.

See the case study on page 18.

You joined Pantheon ayear ago.
What have been your first
impressions?

Firstly, | have been hugely impressed by
how cross-functional ESG is at Pantheon.
Ittouches every part of the business from
the investment teams through to operations
and risk. It is truly a team effort.

Of course, the consideration of ESG factors
has been a part of how Pantheon does
business for many years. Back in 2007,

1 Source:Pantheon’s annual survey of its underlying
privaie equiiy managers. The results are basedona
76% response rate from the primary private equity
managersn PIP's portfolio.

2 Source:Invest Europe, Private Equity at Work,

April 2023.

3 Source:BVCADigest, January 2023.

Source: g Council, |

- American Investment Council.
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A Conversation with Pantheon’s Global Head of ESG

we were one of the first private equity
signatories to the United Nations-backed
Principles for Responsible investment
{("UNPRI"). The six Principles of the UNPRI
underpin our ESG strategy and we have
consistently achieved high scores intheir
annual assessments. Pantheon's strong
history of engagement across the industry
on ESG matters reflects my own beliefinthe
importance of collaboration inthis area.

| co-founded the UK network of Initiative
Climat International ("iCI")in 2020 and,
when | joined Pantheon, worked with Jie
Gong, co-manager of PIP to lead the launch
of the Asia-Pacific chapter. iClis the largest
climate-focused private market initiative
withover 230 signatories, including Pantheon,
that seeks to improve the industry’s
understanding and management of the
risks and opportunities associated

with climate change. | co-chair the iCi
Regulatory working group and we are also
a member of the iCl Net Zero working
group. naddition, our positions on the
BVCA Responsible Investment Roundtable
and on the ESG Committees of both Invest
Europe and the Hong Kong Private Equity.
and Venture Capital Association, combined
with our seats on over 585° advisory boards,
provide us with numerous opportunities
tocollaborate with our peersand drive

ESG best practice across theindustry.

5 Asal31March?2023.
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Within Pantheon we have a formal ESG
governance structure in place. | siton
Pantheon’s International Investment
Committee which means that | can exert
realinfluenceinterms of how ESG s factored
into the investment decision-making for all
deals that are considered by Pantheon for
investment on behalf of PIP. In addition,

| chair our well-established ESG committee
which comprises representatives from our
key investment strategies, operations,
investor relations, marketing and legal &
compliance teams. The Committee is
responsible for overseeing and monitoring”
our ESG programme across core projects
relating to ESG strategy, integration,
regulation and data. Each projecthas a
designated sponsor from the Committee
to support the necessary monitoring,
delivery and leadership.

lam pleased to report that Pantheon’s
efforts received external endorsement
when we won the ‘LP - Co-investor”
category at the inaugural Real Deals
ESG Awards 2022.

| should also mention that the PIP Board is
extremely engaged on the topic of ESG.
We have commenced an annual ESG
training session for the Directors and they
receive regular updates on Pantheon's ESG
strategy and our progress against the
goals that we have set for ourselves.

We also report on any ESG-related issues
that we might have identified in PIP's
portfolio and, importantly, what our
managers have done to resolve them.
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The six Principles of the UNPRI
underpin our ESG strategy

1

4

We will promote

We will incorporate ESG issues
into investment analysis and
decision-making processes.

2

We will be active owners
and incorporate ESG
issues into our ownership
policiesand practices.

3

We will seek appropriate
disclosure on ESG issues
by the entities in which
we invest.

Whatinitiatives have you been
working on since you joined
Pantheon and why?

Embedding material ESG considerations
throughout our processes and procedures
supports our wider mission to invest
responsibly on behalf of our clients, such
as PIP, with a focus on managing risks
and creating value over the long term.

ESG factors have beenintegrated into our
pre-and post-investment processes for

Strategic Report Governance

acceptance and
implementation of

the Principles within

the investment industry.

— 5

We will work together
to enhance our effectiveness
inimplementing the

Principles.

6

We will each report on our
activities and progress
towards implementing

the Principles.

years but our focus recently has been
onenhancing how we screenand carry

out due diligence on deals froman ESG
perspective. We have introduced a new
approach 1o ESG called TIES — which stands
for Transparency, Integration, Engagement
and Solutions — as this encapsulates the
strong ties between us, our private equity
managers and our portfolio companies.

We believe that greater transparency
leads to more insight which in turn wili
lead to more thoughtful decision-making.

Financial Statements
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Our approach is based
around four key aspects:

Transparency Integration

Pantheon
TIES

Engagement Solutions

Integration refers to our approachto
integrating ESG across the invastment
life cycle from screening, due diligence,
monitoring and reporting. As mentioned,
we engage extensively through our
industry participation and advisory board
seats and TIES will help to enhance this
further. And finally, Solutions is about
providing clarity to our investors around
key concepts, such as “impact” and
“sustainable”, and understanding the
investment solutions that can Je
developed to support the transitionto a
more sustainable economy; th s will allow
usto explore an even greater range of
investment opportunities for PIPand the

6 SDG:Sustainable Development Goals.

rolethat they can play inits diversified
portfolio. With increasing investor demand
for impact investments, we are starting to
see some of our mainstream European
managers launch impact strategies,
which are particularly focused on climate
transition. It's important to note that these
impact strategies do not compromise on
market-leading returns, so the impact
achieved and financial return generated
are highly correlated. PIP is alert to the
opportunities that are emerging from

this growing trend of top tier managers
expanding their remit to incorporate
impact funds and in the previous financial
year, for example, PIP committed £17.8m
to the Apax Global Impact fund.

This year, we have developed and launched
our proprietary ESG scorecards as part of our
enhancements to our new ESG framework.
The scorecards will help systematically

integrate ESG into the due diligence process,

providing more insight into the potential
material ESG considerations for each
investment opportunity. The scorecard
ulilises various industry-data sources and
leading ESG indicators 1o assess private
equity managers, funds and portfolio
companies throughout the due diligence
process. They will also enable us to
benchmark our PE managers' ESG
performance, monitor progress and
improve our ESG reporting thus providing
more transparency to our clients on the
ESG performance of their investments.

Pantheon has developed our own ESG scorecards to provide a
comprehensive view of each investment

ESG Due Diligence scorecards

Private equity Fund rating Company &

manager rating - Track record transaction rating

- ESGintegration — ESG commitments - Industry sector

- Reputation - Climate — Reputation

— Climate - ESG reporting — Climate

— Diversity, Equity & - Country
Inclusion - Biodiversity

— Biodiversity - ESG maturity

Tell us more about the scorecards -
what are they and what do they aim
to achieve?

Pantheon has developed four ESG
scorecards which are tailored according
tothe type of prospective investment
opportunity: Manager, Fund, Single-asset
and Multi-asset. The output of each
scorecard is an ESG rating (Leading

to Emerging) which is based on our
assessment of many ESG considerations.

Forexample, when assessing a
co-investment opportunity, the investment
team completes both a manager
scorecard and a single-asset scorecard.
The single-asset scorecard assesses each

- SDGS alignment

portfolio company through a dual scoring
system covering inherent sector risk and
acompany risk rating based on specific
criteria as outlined in the graphic (above).

The manager scorecard, which s populated
by ourinvestment teams, is supported by
the results of our annual ESG survey which
we use to obtain up-to-date information on
our private equity managers. The survey
covers a range of topics including how our
managers measure and report on ESG,
their approach to climate change, whether
they have committed to Net Zero, their
integration of Diversity, Equity & Inclusion,
and how consideration of biodiversity is
addressed in their investment decisions.
Biodiversity loss is happeningonan
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A Conversation with Pantheon’s Global Head of ESG

enormous scale that is difficult to
comprehend therefore itis vital that we
factorthis into our investment process.

We continue to use RepRisk, a third-party
news information service which has been
integrated into our systems since 2017,
as part of our screening, due diligence
and pre- and post-monitoring processes
to ensure extensive coverage of any ESG
issues within PIP’s portfolio.

Looking ahead, what are your
priorities for thenext 12 months
orso?

We have made great strides but the
world is constantly changing, investor
expectations are growing, ESG regulatory
requirements are increasing rapidly, and
there is always more to do. We are looking
to enhance our ESG systems loimprove
our reporting and provide better
transparency {o our investors on the

ESG performance of their portfolio,

for example calculating the carbon
footprint of PIP's portfolio. As a firm,

itis alsoimportant that we practise

what we preach so we have commenced

The UK Modern Slavery Act

anexercise to calculate Pantheon’s own
operational Scope 1,2 and 3 (business
travel) emissions. This will support better
engagement with our managers on
thistopic.

Secondly, we intend o use our ESG
scorecards to engage more effectively
with our private equity managers on
ESGissues. | know from experience that
receiving feedback frominvestors can be
incredibly molivating for private equity
managers as they want a high rating!

At Pantheon we believe that private
markets have a key role to play in the
transition to a more sustainable society.
We believe we also have a key role to play
supporting our managers and driving
and encouraging ESG best practice.

We are pleased to see the progress and
momentum to date but conscious there
is more work to do. Effectively analysing
and monitoring all opportunities from an
ESG perspective on behalf of PIP remains
our priority as we strive to exceed the
expectations of all of our clients.

The UK's Modern Slavery Act 2015 requires Pantheon to report annually on the
steps taken Lo ensure that slavery and human trafficking are not taking place
anywhere within the business or supply chains. Pantheon’s ESG policy is already
aligned with a zero tolerance approach to modern slavery and trafficking, and
both the policy and the modern slavery statement can be found on Pantheon’s

website (www.pantheon.com).
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Our private equity managers continue to make good progress
towards the adoption of ESG principles

Pantheon recently completed its annual survey of the private equity managers in
PIP’s primary portfolio. Some of the responses are shown below.!

Are you a signatory to the United
Nations Principles for R ibl

P P

Investment (“UNPRI")?

Yes 63% No 37%

Do you have a formal approach to
integrating ESG factors within the
investment process?

Yes 92% No 8%

Do you have a current ESG policy?

Yes 96% No 4%

Do you engage with portfolio
companies onclimate-related
matters?

Yes 85% No 15%

1 Surveyresults based on a 76% response rate from the primary private equity managersin PIP's portfolio.
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One united, diverse culture
at Pantheon

We believe that the diversity of our people
and practices is key to the sustainable
success of our firm, ouremployees and
the broad set of Pantheon stakeholders.
We focus on Inclusion & Diversity {"I&D")
and ourinclusion ethosis founded on the
premise that harnessing our differences
will create a productive environment in
which everybody feels valued, where

our talents are being fully utilised and in
which our organisational goals are met. _
We have an established I&D Committee,
comprising representatives from across
the business, which meets monthly and
there are separate I&D workstreams that
meet more regularty.

Pantheon was one of the first private
equity houses to report its 1&D statistics.
As a signatory to the UK Government's
Womenin Finance Charter, Pantheon is
committed to setting internal targets for
gender diversity in senior management
roles. The proportion of women who are
engaged in the day-to-day management
and operations of our firm (identified as
Global Heads of Departments and/or
members of Pantheon’s Partnership
Board) was 42% as at January 2023,
exceeding the target of 33%,and we

are proud to report that half of our
investment team heads are women.

We are delighted that our hard work was
recognised at the Real Deals Private

Equity Awards 2022 where Pantheon
won the Diversity award. Inaddition,
three of the seven Directors on PIP's
Board are female.

QOur commitrnent to I&D does not sitonly
within Pantheon. Wehave long incorporated
1&D within our investment process with
adedicated section in our due diligence
questionnaireonthe topicthat is completed
by prospective private equity managers
for a primary investment. While the wider
sector still has significant improvements
to make, we are encouraged by the progress
that is being made and note that many of
our managers have improved recruitment
processes to increase their diversily.

Pantheon conlinues to advocate for this
topic through a number of partnerships
across the investment management
sector including Girls are Investors,
Jopwell, Sponsors for Educational
Opportunity ("SEQ”), 10,000 Black
Interns and the Diversity Project.
Pantheonis proud to sponsor Level 20,
a not-for-profit organisation established
toinspire womento join and succeed

in the private equity industry.

Global staff gender Investment team Ethnic diversity
identity’' - heads’ profile!
Male 62% Male 50% White 61%
Female 36% Female 50% Other ethnic 36% ;
Prefernot 2% background
to say Prefer not 3%
to say
Global staff LGBTQ+ Global staff disability
profile’ profile’
" No 90% No 91%
Yes 3% Yes 2%
Prefer not 7% Prefer not 7%
losay tosay
1 i on and ised i ion inputted 1o our HR system by our global stafl, defined

as permanent staff and partners. The percentage of input for this year was 89%, compared to a 75% response
rate of our 2022 voluniary annual Inclusion and Diversity Survey.
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Realisations

PIP’s mature portfolio continued to
generate distributions despite a subdued
exit environment. Distributions have
beenincremental to returns, with many
reflecting realisations at significant uplifts
{o carrying value.

Uplifts on exit realisations'

Cost multiples on exit
realisations

Exit realisations by sector
andtype

1 Seepage 182 of the Alternative Performance
section for Dl i
and disclosures.
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The value-weighted average uplift on exit realisations in the year was 27%, consistent with our view that realisations can be

significantly incremental to returns.

The method used to calculate the average uplift is to compare the value at exit with the value of the invesiment 12 months prior

to exit. Since 2012, the weighted average uplift on exit is 31%.

For the year to 31 May 2023

Value-weighted
average uplift=27%

Strategic Report Governance
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P{P’s mature portfolio continued to
generate distributions despite a challenging
exit environment. Distributions have

been incremental to returns, with many
reflecting realisations at significant uplifts
to carrying value.

Uplifts on exit realisations

Cost multiples on exit

realisations’

Exitrealisations by sector
andtype

1 Seepage 182 of the Alternative Perfoimance
Measures section for sample calculazions
and disclosures.

The average cost multiple on exit realisations of the sample was 3.0 times, demonstrating value creation over the course of

PIP's investment.

The average cost multiple on exit since 2012is 3.0 times.

For the year to 31 May 2023

Average cost
multiple = 3.0x
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Realisations

PIP’s mature portfolio continued to
generate distributions despite a challenging
exitenvironment. Distributions have
beenincremental to returns, with many
reflecting realisations at significant uplifts

tocarrying value. Exit realisations by sector

Forthe yearto 31 May 2023

Uplifts on exit realisations

Cost multiples on exit
realisations

Exit realisations by sector

and type

Industrials

Information technology
Financials

Healthcare
Communication services
Consumer

Utilities

Energy

Materials

Realestate
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20%
15%
14%
13%
13%
10%

8%

2%
1%

Exitrealisations by type
For the year to 31 May 2023

Trade sale

Secondary buyout

IPQ and secondary share sale
Refinancing and recapitalisation

Strategic Report Governance Financial Statements

Realisation activity was strongest in the industrials and information technology sectors. Trade sales and seco ndéry buyouts
represented the most significant sources of exit activity during the year. The data in the sample provides coverage for 100%
(for exit realisations by sector)and 100% (for exit realisations by type) of proceeds from exit realisations received during the period.

55%
41%
3%
1%
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Distributions case study

CHEQUERS CAPITAL

Strong realisations
at impressive uplifts

Founded in Paris in 1972, Chequers
Capital ("Chequers”) is one of the longest
established private equity managers

in Europe.

- With over 50 years of experience, Chequers has
raised and invested 18 funds since 1972, and has
over €2bn under management.

- Chequers has 25 investment professionals across
France, Italy and the DACH (Germany/Austria/
Switzerland) region, supported by a large
eco-system of operating experts.

- Asmalland mid-market buyout specialist,
Chequerstargets asset-light industrial and service
businesses, often acquired from family owners,
and focuses on creating value through driving
growth and operational improvements.

— Overthe past year, Chequers has succeeded in
realising several portfolio companies, despite
the general slowdown in the exit environment,
resulting in sizeable distributions to PIP,
including those from Serma, Ririand MTA.

SERMA GROUP

Provider of electronic testing services

and solutions, for the aerospace,
transportation, energy and
telecommunications sectors,
based in France.

Exited to a financial buyer in
July 2022:

RIRI

Manufacturer of coated metal
accessories such as zips, buttons
and buckles for the high-end
luxury fashion industry, based

in Switzerland. )

Exited to Oerlikon Group, a Swiss
strategic buyer, in February 2023:

MTA

Manufacturer of heating,
ventilation and air conditioning
equipment based in Italy.

Exited to Trane Technologies,

aUS strategic buyer, in May 2023:

f16m 32%

£21m 34%

f1.0m 40%

Proceeds to PIP IRR Proceedsto PIP IRR Proceeds to PIP * IRR

[0)
24X 50% 27X 82% 32X 56%
Return generated Uplift on exit Returngenerated Uplift on exit Return generated Uplifton exit

Valuecreationbridge

Value creation bridge
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Net Portfolio Cash Flow

Net portfolio cash flow equals distributions
less capital calls.

A continued focus on the portfolio’s maturity
profile means that PIP is well-positioned to
generate positive cash flows.

With a long-term average distribution rate
of 20-25%, PiP’s portfolio has been cash
flow positive since 2010.

PIP's total net portfolio cash flow over the
lasttenyears has been £1.7bn.

Net portfolio cash flow
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Distributions

With a weighted average fund maturity of
48years atthe end of the period (31 May
2022:49years), PIP's portfolio continued
togenerate cash.

PIP received £223min proceec’s from
PIP's portfolioin the yearto 31 May 2023
(year to 31 May 2022: £419m), 2quivalent
10 10% of opening private equity assets
(31 May 2022:25%). .

Quarterly distribution rates’

1 Distribution rate equals distributions in the perfod
(annualised) divided by opening portfolio value.

Although PIP’s portfolio has continued to generate cash, there has been a slowdown in distributions during the period.

The challenging economic environment has impacted exit activity.
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Distributions case study

K2 CLAIMS SERVICES

Proceeds £10.8m

Manager Lee Equity Partners
Geography USA

Type Co-investment

Sector
Stage
Vintage
Exittype

Financials
Small/mid buyout
2019

Secondary buyout

Strong returns

from specialty insurance

K2 is one of the largest Managing General Agent ("MGA") platforms in
the USA, providing insurance carriers with distribution, underwriting
and claims managerhent services for specialty insurance lines.

The company underwrites ¢.USS 1.4bn of premiums across more

than 24 different programmes.
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K2 CLAIMS SERVICES

Investment rationale

- Asone of the largest MGA platforms
in the USA specialty insurance market,
K2 is well-positioned to capitalise onthe
highly fragmented market opportunity.

i

K2 hasdelivered historically strong
underwriting results that materially
outperform the industry avarage, which
is critical for retaining existing carriar
relationships and expandirginto

new ones.

— Strong value proposition across the
specialty insurance spectrum from
broker to carrier; the higher-returning
lines they underwrite are difficult fcr
traditional insurers to access profitably
ontheir own.

— Attractive financial profile characterised
by high recurring revenues, strong free
cash flow, and virtually no balance
sheetrisk.

Our relationship

Pantheonis a primary investor ina number
of Lee Equity Partners funds and hasalso
previously co-invested alongside the
private equity manager.

Active management and
value creation

- Lee Equity Partners bolstered the
management team with key senior hires
to support the growth of the business.
This included a new President, Chief
Claims Officer, Chief Actuary and
Financial Controller.

— K2 completed 20 acquisitions, start-ups
and “team lift-outs" in order to expand

into new specialty lines and geographies.

The company drove carrier partner
expansion to diversify its sources of

capacity and helped to add new strategic

distribution partnerships.

Lee Equity Partners worked with
management to implement a number
of operating best practices including:

- more formalised reporting;

- refinement of key performance
indicators ("KPIs®) for the business;
and

- leveraging centralised support
services across the platform
to achieve efficiencies.

- Lee Equity Partners’active management
intandem with management's execution
resultedinanannualised growth rate
of 22% in revenues and 24% in EBITDA
through a combination of organic growth
and strategic M&A.

Value creation bridge

1 K2 1 ing that ra-k d the busi

Exit
In May 2023, Warburg Pincus acquired
K2 Insurance Services from Lee Equity

Partners. The sale generated returns of
3.9xoncashanda51.2% IRR.

2 Capital structureimpact, mainly capital returned in dividend I entive unit dflution.
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Distributions case study

MEDIFOX CAREMANAGEMENT SOFTWARE

Proceeds £4.6m Sector Healthcare
Manager Hg Capital ("Hg") Stage Small/mid buyout
Geography Europe Vintage 2018

Type Co-investment Exittype Strategic sale

Essential software
for care and therapy

Medifox is a leading provider of software solutions to over 16,000 outpatient
care services, elderly care homes, therapist practices, youth care institutions
and non-professional caregivers in Germany.

The business supports care providers with key challenges including
resource and route planning, care documentation, regulatory compliance
and quality assurance of services provided, as well as invoicing systems.
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MEDIFOX CARE MANAGEMENT SOFTWARE

Medifox is characterised by a leading
position in a fragmented sector, a robust
financial profile, a highly competent

management team and a ‘mission-critical’

product. The company is headquartered
inHildesheim, Germany and employs
over 500 people across six locations.

Investment rationale

- Medifox is a highly altractive
business with a fragmented small
and medium-sized business ("SMB®)
customer base, a high retentionard
mission-critical, regulatory-driven
productthatis used daily.

- Medifox is benefiting from fundamental
trends of integrated care, an ageing
population and digitalisation drivirg
underlying growth for the coming
decades. )

Further growth is expected in the core
outpatient segment, with tangible
mergers and acquisition cpportunities
to further gain sector share in newer
therapy and in-patient segments.

Opportunities 1o make operationzl
improvements led by a strong
management leam and operators.

Ourrelationship

Pantheon has been a longstanding investor
with the manager having backed several
mid-cap Hg funds since 2006. In addition,
Pantheon holds advisory board seats for
all of the Hg funds that it is investedin.

Active management and
value creation

Medifox has grown substantially as a
result of several of Hg's initiatives since
2018, including:

~ Achieving annualised organic
revenue growth of over 10% via new
customer wins and delivering adjacent
functionality. This resulied in annualised
revenue growth which was over 30%
better than the peer average.

Driving product and service innovation
for the customers via the largest
dedicated elderly care software
research and development teamin
Germany (e.g. the new next-generation
cloud-ready elderly care product).

Driving digitalisation of sales and
investing in systems landscape to deliver
strong incremental margins, expanding
EBITDA margins over time.

- Building a repeatable mergers and
acquisition platform, with the execution
and integration of nine acquisitions,
including DAN Produkte.

Exit

Medifox was acquired by the US-listed
strategic buyer, ResMed, a global leader
in cloud-connected medical devices and
out-of-hospital software-as-a-service
("SaaS") business solutions, ina
transaction valuing the business atan
estimated USS1bn. PIP made a return of
4.1x onthe original cost and a 40% IRR.
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Calils

PIP paid £155m to finance calls on
undrawn commitments during the year i . o . . P
(yearto 31 May 2022: £187m). Theannual callrate for the year 0 31 May 2023 was equivalent to 21% of opening undrawn commitments (31 May 2022: 35%).

Thedecline inthe call rate reflects the slowdown in deal activity during the period.

Quarterly call rate’

1 call quals calls in the peri ) divided
by opening undrawn commitments. All cali figures
exclyde the acquisition cost of new secondary and
co-invesiment iransactions. .
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New Commitments

PIP committed £441m to 25 new
investments during the year (31 May 2022:
£496m, 70 new investments).

PiIPinvested in six manager-led
secondaries (£154.9m). This included
aUS$112.5m (£93.5m) commitment to
the Pantheon Secondary Opportunity
Fund II, whichis focused on
manager-led secondaries.

In addition, PIP commitied to aight
primaries (£147.4m)and 11 co-investments
(£138.5m).

New commitments by

investmenttype

New commitments
by region

New commitments
by stage

Ourinvestment process

Investment opportunities in We invest with many of the best Cash generated from the sale

companies and funds are private equity managers who are * ofthose companies is returned
originated via Pantheon’s extensive able toidentify and create value to PIP and redeployed into new
and well-established platform. intheir portfolio companies. investment opportunities.

New commitments during the year were equally weighted across the three investment types, with each demonstrating
attractive characteristics for overall portfolio construction.

Manager-led secondaries 35%
Primaries 33%

Co-investments 32%
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New Commitments

PIP committed £441m 1025 new
investments during the year (31 May 2022:
£496m, 70 new investments).

PP invested in six manager-led
secondaries (£154.9m). This included
aUsS$112.5m (£93.5m) commitment to
the Pantheon Secondary Opportunity
Fund II, whichis focused on
manager-led secondaries.

In addition, PIP committed to eight
primaries (£147.4m)and 11 co-investments
(£138.5m).

New commitments by
investment type

New commitments

by region

New commitments
by stage

Global cansists of the US$112.5m (£93.5m)
commitment 1o the Pantheon Secondary
Opporiunity Fund Il (PSOF (), which is focused
onmanager-led secondaries.
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Ourinvestment process

Investment opportunities in
companies and funds are
originated via Pantheon'’s extensive
and well-established platform.

We invest with many of the best
private equity managers who are
able toidentify and create value
intheir portfolio companies.

Cash generated from the sale

of those companies is returned
. 1oPIP and redeployed into new

investment opportunities.

The majority of commitments made in the year were to opportunities in the developed US and European private equity markets.

USA
Europe
Global

Strategic Report Governance

40%
39%
21%
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PP committed £441m 1025 new
investments during the year (31 May 2022;
£496m, 70 new investments).

PIP invested in six manager-led
secondaries (£154.9m). This included
aUS$112.5m (£93.5m) commitment to
the Pantheon Secondary Opportunity
Fund I, which is focused on
manager-led secondaries.

In addition, PIP committed to eight
primaries (£147.4m)and 11 co-investments
(£138.5m).

New commitments by
investmenttype

New commitments
by region

New commitments

by stage

Generalist refates 10 a US$112.5m (£93.5m)
commitment to the Pantheon Secondary
Opporiunity Fund 1 ("PSOF II"), whichis facused
on single-assei secondaries.

Ourinvestment process

Investment opportunities in We invest with many of the best Cash generated from the sale
companiesand funds are privale equity managers who are . of those companies is returned
originated via Pantheon’s extensive able toidentify and create value to PIP and redeployed into new

and well-established platform. intheir portfolio companies. investment opportunities.

Small and mid market buyout investment activity was robust during the period.

Small/mid buyout ' 58%"
Generalist’ 21%
Large/mega buyout 18%
Venture 3%

Pantheon International Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023 |

95




Focus on Manager-led Secondaries

Taking advantage of the attractive
manager-led secondary market

- During the financial year, PIP commilted
$112.5m {£93.5m) 1o the Pantheon
Secondary Opportunity Fund Il, which
is focused on manager-led secondaries
in single company assets.

- This commitment forms part of
the Company's strategy to capitalise
on attractive opportunities in this
fast-growing segment of the
secondaries market.

- PIP benefits from Pantheon’s extensive
platform and experience inthe
secondary market. Pantheon has over
13 years'experience in manager-led
transactions, decades long relationships
that can be leveraged for sourcing and
information, while the Secondaries
Investment Committee has almost
200 years of combined private
markets experience.

1 Jefferies H12023 Global Secondary Market Review.

2 Lazard Sponsor Led Secondary Market Report - H12022
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What we look for:

Mid-market focus

Tilt towards companies in the small &
medium buyout and growth equity stages
managed by top quality private equity
managers.

High-quality companies

Companies that constitute prized assets
for managers, in non-cyclical industries
with growth driven by structural tailwinds.

Transaction alignment

Sound transaction rationale with strong
alignment of interest across the company
management team, the private equity
manager and secondary invesior.

Deal structure

Focus on leading or co-leading deals
to drive structure, terms and alignment
of interest.
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Unprecedented market opportunity

Strong deal flow
Manager-led secondaries represented
~50% of all transaction volume in 2022,

Viable exit option for managers
Increased demand from investors and
managers as PE exit activity at record low.

Elevated liquidity needs

90% of investors elected to sell to
continuation vehicles inthe first half
of 20222, :

Limited dry powder
Under supply of capital relative
1o opportunity set.

Manager-led transaction volume (US$bn)’

Strategic Report

Manager's Review | Governance

Financial Statements

Other Information



New Commitments case study

WAYSTONE

Manager Montagu Private Equity Type Co-invesiment
(Montagu’) stage Srmall/mid buyout

Sector Financials Commitment  £8.1m

Geography Europe

Essential architects in the
world of asset management

Waystone is a prcvider of outsourced governance, risk and compliance
services to the asset management industry. The company services a
number of blue-chip asset managers with combined assets under
management of US$2tn. Waystone has grown to now employ ¢.350
individuals in globally recognised epicentres for fund management
including London, Hong Kong, Sirgapore, Ireland and Luxembourg.
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New Commitments case study

WAYSTONE

Investment rationale

~ Founded in 2000, the company has
grown organically and through a
mergers and acquisition strategy, with
nine add-on acquisitions completed
between2019and 2021.

The company provides services thatare
mission-critical to a fund's set-up and
ongoing operation. This resultsina
sticky business model evidenced by
historically low customer churn rates
and limited customer switching.

Regulatory scrutiny and increasing
complexity are providing a strong
tailwind for the industry, in which
Waystone is a leading player.

Montagu has extensive experience in
fund services, including a successful
investment in peer company,
Universal Investment.

Since Montagu’s investment in 2021,
the company has grown organically and
through targeted add-on acquisitions
which have expanded Waystone's
service offering and geographical
footprint.
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Ourrelationship

Pantheonhas a long-standing relationship
with Montagu. PIP is a primary investor
and has also co-invested alongside the
manager, while Pantheon holds an
advisory board seat with Montagu.

Early engagement with Montagu allowed
Pantheon to secure a sizeable allocation
inthis opportunity.

Active management and
value creation

As ajoint owner of Waystone, Montagu
will have the opportunity toimplement
organisational best practices and further
support Waystone's buy-and-build strategy.

In April 2023, shortly following PIP's
co-investment in the company,
Waystone signed agreements to acquire
Link Fund Solutions, a European fund
services provider with £160bn of assets
under oversight and administration,
closing subject to regulatory approval
and other conditions. Combined with the
acquisitions of KB Associates, Centaur
Fund Administrationand T. Bailey Fund
Services in the past year, a comprehensive
product offering and exposure to
structurally growing markets, Waystone
iswell placed to continue its current
growth trajectory.

Strategic Report Governance
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SENTINEL CAPITAL PARTNERS

Company

Manager

Sentinel Capital Geography North America
Partners VII Type Primary

Sentinel CapitalPartners Commitment  £19.3m

("Sentinel’)

Top performance
from a proven partner

Sentinel is a US-based private equity manager focused on investing in
mid-market businesses. The manager has raised USS$11.2 billion of capital
since inception and has a track record of growing businesses and creating
value for investors. In November 2022, Sentinel Capital Partners Vi raised
$4.35 billion from: new and existing investors, with strong demand resuiting
ina larger than ta-geted fund.

Pantheon has a long-standing relationship with Sentinel with PIP investing in
one of Sentinel's previous funds. Pantheon also holds four advisory board
seats with the manager.
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New Commitments case study

SENTINEL CAPITAL PARTNERS

Sentinel's investment strategy

— Sentinel targets mid-market companies
and the fund will consist of roughly
20-25 equity investments of $150to
$175million each.

- The manager has a strong focus on core
industry sectors including: business
services, consumer products/services,
healthcare services, and industrials.

~ When assessing an investment
opportunity, Sentinel is seeking:

— Astrong management team with
along-term vision and alignment
of interest;

- Market leadership in the product line,
geography ortechnology;

- Adiversified customer base or
preduct line; and

- The‘opporlunity to grow via M&A
ororganically.

Investment rationale

— Sentinel aims to create value through
operational improvements that lead to
both revenue and profit growth, while
accretive add-on acquisitions also
drive growth.

- Sentinelis a top-quartile performing
manager with a proven and repeatable
investment strategy.

- The manager has a stable senior
investment team, with a combinedtotal
average of over 20 years at Sentinel.
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Maideninvestment from
Sentinel Capital Partners VI

InNovember 2022, Sentinel made
its firstinvestment from Sentine!
Capital Partners Vilinto L2
Brands("L2"). L2 is a designer,
manufacturer and marketer of
custom-decorated apparel and
headwear for the collegiate,
destination and leisure, and
corporate markets. Sinceits
foundingin 1991, L2 has
become a diversified business
with a history of long-term
profitable growth.

Sentinel's experience and track
record in this sector will enable
L2 to accelerate its growth, both
organically and through add-on
acquisitions.

Financial Statements
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VALANTIC ERANEOS

Manager Deutsche Prival2 Equity Type Manager-led Secondary
("OPE) Stage Small/mid buyout
Sector Information Technology
Geography Europe
DESCRIPTION AND COMMITMENT:
valantic Digital consulting and
software company
(£9.7m)
Eraneos Anindependent

rmanagement and
technology consulting
firm (£8.6m)

Digital transformation,
delivered

PIP invested in a manager-led secondary transaction with DPE that
comprised two high-grewth technology and digital consulting
businesses: valantic and Eraneos.
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New Commitments case study

VALANTIC ERANEOS

valanticis a consultancy and provider
of software solutions for digital
transformations. The company has
over 800 consultants and developers
and is represented in Germany, Austria,
Switzerland, Belgium, the Netherlands,
Portugal and many other international
locations.

Eraneosis an international management
and technology consulting group providing
digitalisation and transformation services,
from strategy development throughto
implementation. The company has 1,000

consultants in four core markets (Swilzerland,

Germany, the Netherlands and Spain).
Investment rationale

— DPEisatop-tier manager operatingin
Germany, Austria and Switzerland that
has a strong track record of supporting
and delivering organic growth for its
portfolio companies and specialises

* in executing buy-and-build growth
strategies. The manager has
consistently generated strong
returns over several funds. .

— DPE wanted to move the two businesses
toa continuation fund so that additional
capital could be provided for further
accretive add-on acquisitions.

102 |

— The growth of the digital transformation
services market is expected to provide
a strong tailwind for both companies,
with an expected compounded annual
growth rate of 9% untit 2026 taking
the total market size to more than €80bn.

The businesses benefit from their sticky
customer relationships, substantial
scale combined with a customer-centric
approach and a full end-to-end
consulting service thatis able to
respond to custiomers’ needs.

Eraneos has delivered robust performance
with consistent above-market organic
growth, maintained strong margins and
cash conversion over the recent years.
Incombination with a well-executed
growth strategy and successful
buy-and-build sirategy Eraneos was
able to strengthen its positioning with

a footprintin four European markets.

Active management and
value creation

- Both businesses have grown
substantially under the ownership of
DPE, with revenues increasing by over
270% for Eraneos since it was acquired
in 2017, and more than 240% for valantic
since it was acquiredin 2019.
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- valantic has a track record of completing
and integraling add-on acquisitions,
with 15 completed under the ownership
of DPE, who originally investedin the
businessin 2019.

- valantic sees routes to further value
creation through the launch of new
technologies and service offerings.
These will enable customers to benefit
from a more comprehensive portfolio
of products and services, while the
business will also focus on developing
new customer markets in Scandinavia
and Benelux. The company has
continued to deliver strong organic
growth and has already completed
five add-on acquisitions over the past
six months.

1

Eraneos has also continued to expand
through M&A with two recent
acquisitions in Germany. In addition,

the group is pursuing organic growth
opportunities and recently opened a new
office in Austria, while enhanced client
support and expanding joint consultancy
businesses are also expected to drive
growth. Eraneos is targeting double-digit
growth for 2023 and beyond.

Strategic Report Governance
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Buyout Analysis'

Weighted average revenue and EBITDA
growth of 21% and 15%, respectively,
for PIP’s sample buyout companies have
consistently exceeded growtt rates
seen among companies that constituie
the MSCI World index. Strong top-line
performance, disciplined cost control,
operational expertise and good earnings
growth, together with an efficient use of
capital, underpin the investment thesis
of many private equity managers.

Annual revenue growth?

Revenueand EBITCA
growth

Annual EBITDA growth?

Valuation multiple

Debt multiples

The sample buyout figures for the 12 months to

31 December 2022 were calculated using all the

information available to the Compay. Thefigures

arebased on unaudited data. MSCH Jala was sourced

from Bloomberg. See page 182 of the Alternative

Performance Measures section for sample

calculations and disclosures. . .
MSCIWorld, 2022 and 2021 aggregate market-weighied

revenue and EBITDA growth datais derived frem

0

pared on ¥
basis for the financial years ending 2022 and 2021..
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Buyout Analysis’

Accounting standards require private
equity managers to value their portfolios at
fair value. Public market movements can
be reflected in vatuations.

PIP's sample-weighted average Enterprise
Value (EV)/EBITDA was 17.8times
compared to 16.2 times for the MSCI
World index; and this should be considered
in the context of the underlying growth
rates for each.

PIPinvests proportionately more in
high-growth sectors such as mission-critical
B2Binformation technology and healthcare,
and these sectors tend to trade ata
premium to other sectors.

Revenue and EBITDA Buyout portfolio? MSCI World®
growth
Information technology  27% Information technology 18%
Healthcare 20% : Consumer 18%
Valuation mu|t|p|e . Consumer 17% Financials 16%
industrials “13% . Healthcare 15%
Financials 12% Industrials 1%
Communication services 6% Communication services 6%
Debt multiples Materials 3% Energy 6%
Energy 1% Materials 4%
Real estate 1% Real estate 3%
Utilities 3%

1 The sample buyout figures for the 12 monihs o
31 December 2022 were calculated using all the
Information available to the Company. The figures
are based on unaudited data. MSCI data was sourced
from Bloomberg. See page 182 of the Aliernative 3 Asal31December2022.
Performance Measures section for sample
calculations and disclosures.

2 Fullbuyoutportfolio.
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Venture, growth and buyout investments
have differing leverage characteristics.

Average debl multiples for small/mid
buyout investments, which represent the
largest segment of PIP's buyout portfclio,
aretypically lower than debt levels in the
large/mega-buyout segment.

The venture and growth portfolios have
little or no reliance on leverage.

Revenue and EBITDA
growth

Valuation multiple

Debt multiples

1 Leveraged buyoutdatasourced from Pitchbook’s Leveraged Commentary & Data (LCD), 2022.
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Largest 50 Companies

PIP's largest 50 companies, which
accounted for 28% of NAV at the year Cross-section of PIP’s largest 50 companies
end, have exhibited profitable growth

inthe past 12 months, and make a Exposure by sector’ Exposure by region Exposure by industry type
significant contribution towards
overall portfolio performance.
SHITFKEY
ACTION
KASEYA
ASURION
OMNIEYE SERVICES
Informationtechnology ~ 39% USA 58% Resilient? 85%
Healthcare 22% Europe’ 27% Cyclical 15%
Consumer 16% Asia & RowW 15%
Financials 10%
~ Industrials 6%
Communication services 5%
Energy 2%

1 BasedonMarch 2023 valuations and adjusted for May 2023.
2 Resilient i defined as ing in i ies with structural growth trends, i iSSi itical products or have recurring revenue models.
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PIP’s largest 50 companies, which
accounted for 28% of NAV at the year
end, have exhibited profitable growth
inthe past 12 months, and make a
significant contribution towards
overall portfolio performance.

VISTRA

VALANTIC

DOIT

RECORDED FUTURE
ANAPLAN

Attractive portfolio growth and profitability characteristics

Average NAV-weighted revenue Average NAV-weighted ) Proportion of companies
growthinthe last 12 months EBITDA growth with positive EBITDA

0, o) O,
27.1% 26.8% 91%

The 50 largest companies in PIP’s portfolio are held at a significant multiple over cost
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Other Information - The largest 50 companies by value’

% of PIP

Company Country Sector Investment type Description portfolio

1 SHIFTKEY USA Healthcare Manager-led Secondary Recruitment platform for nurses 1.1%
2 ACTION Netherlands Consumer Manager-led Secondary Non-food discount stores 1.0%
3 KASEYA Switzerland Information Technology Co-Investment; Secondary SP;?{/‘Ldaerrec;fe!lir:;nagemem and monitoring 0.8%
4 ASURION USA Financials Primary; Secondary Mobile phone insurance company 0.8%
5 OMNI EYE SERVICES USA Healthcare Manager-led Secondary Specialist eye treatment provider 0.7%
6 VISTRA Hong Kong Financials Co-Investiment; Secondary A fund administrator and corporate service provider 0.7%
7 VALANTIC Germany Information Technology Manager-led Secondary Digital consulting and software company 0.7%
8 RECORDED FUTURE USA Information Technology Primary; Co-lnvestment; Secondary ~ Cybersecurity software company 0.7%
9 ANAPLAN USA Information Technology Co-Invesiment; Primary glea t\er:;”ge;;fig f,:w'based modelling and 0.7%
10 DbIT USA Information Technology Co-Invesiment Provider of cloud consulling and engineering services  0.7%
1 FRONERI United Kingdom  Consumer Manager-led Secondary Ice cream and frozen food manufacturer 0.7%
12 ASCENT RESOURCES USA Energy Secondary Natural gas and oil producer 0.7%
13 EVERSANA USA Healthcare Manager-led Secondary Commercial services platform for the lfe 0.7%

sciences sector

1 Thelargest 50 companies table is based upon underlying company valuations at 31 March 2023 adjusted for known call and distributions to 31 May 2023, and includes the portion of the reference portiolio attributable to the ALN.
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%of PIP

Company Country Sector Investmenttype Description portfolio
MILLENNIUM TRUST : ’ . o Provider of technology-enabled retirement and o
14 COMPANY USA Financials Co-lnvestment; Primary investment services 0.7%
15 CAA USA Communication Services Manager-led Secondary Entertainment, media and sports agency 0.7%
16  LIFEPOINTHEALTH USA Healthcare Corlnvestment; Healthcare provider 07%
Manager-led Secondary
17 VISMA Norway Information Technology Primary; Co-Investment Provider of software solutions for finance and HR 0.6%
departments
18 JsI USA Industrials Manager-led Secondary Consultant to lelecommunication service providers 0.6%
19 TAG Israel Healthcare Manager-led Secondary Prcv‘lder of medical and dental equipment 0.6%
and implants
20 RLDATIX USA Healthcare Manager-led Secondary Developer of cloud-based patient safety and risk 0.6%
managemenl software
21 SUNMEDIA Spain Communication Services Co-lnvesiment Digital advertising company 0.5%
22 24SEVEN USA Industrials Manager-led Secondary Digital marketing and recruitment services provider 0.5%
23  OPTCONNECT USA Information Technology Manager-ed Secondary Provider of wireless internet connectivily solutions 0.5%
24  SMILEDOCTORS USA Healthcare Manager-led Secondary Orthodontic treatments and services provider 0.5%
25 LOGIC MONITOR USA Information Technology Primary; Co-Investment; Secondary ~ Managed IT service provider 0.5%
26  CONFIE USA Financials Co-Investment; Commercial insurance broker 0.5%

Pantheon International Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023

1 109




Other Information - The largest 50 companies by value’

% of PIP
Company Country Sector Investmenttype Description portfolio
27  CHEWY USA Consumer Co-Investment Online distributor of pet food and supplies 0.5%
28 101 USA Industrials Co-Investment Provider of food waste recycling services 0.5%
29 gggg:r?g:m Hong Kong Consumer Primary, Co-investment Operator of educational institutions 0.5%
30 TANIUM USA Information Technology Co-Invesiment Cybersecurity services provider 0.5%
31 KILCOY GLOBAL FOODS Australia Consumer Manager-led Secondary Producer of beef and other animal protein products 0.5%
32 KD PHARMA Germany Healthcare Manager-led Secondary Specialist pharmaceutical company 0.5%
ACCESS FREEDOM TO ; . . Provider of business management software solutions o
33 DO MORE United Kingdom  Information Technology Cor-lnvestment . 10SMEs 0.5%
34 IFS Sweden Information Technology Co-Investment; Primary Developer of enterprise resource planning software 0.5%
35 MRO USA Healthcare Co-Investment; Primary Provider of disclosure management services 0.5%
36 SAILPOINT USA Information Technology Primary; Co-Investment Provider of enterprise identity governance solutions 0.4%
. . i r igi
37  VIZRT Norway Information Technology Primary; Manager-led Secondary Devgloper of conteni production fools for ihe digital 0.4%
media industry
STARHEALTH " - ’ y . , o
38 INSURANCE india Financials Co-lnvestment Health insurance provider 0.4%
39  KASPLKZ Kazakhstan Financials Primary Banking products and services provider 0.4%
1 Thelargest 50 companies table is based upon i p: at 31 March 202 for known call and distributions 10 31 May 2023, and Includes the portion of the reference portiotio attributable to the ALN.
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% of PIP

Company Country Sector Investment type Description portfolio
e Provider of L
40  TRIMECH USA Information Technology Co-investment rovider o :,;D desugf\, engineering and 0.4%
manufacturing solutions
41 SONAR Switzerland Information Technology Primary; Secondary Developer of coding software 0.4%
42 ARBYS USA Consumer Manager-led Secondary Restaurani franchise 0.4%
43  PERSONIO Germany Information Technology Primary Developer. of an HR management 0.4%
and recruitment platform
44 FLYNN RESTAURANT USA Consumer Co-lnvestment Restaurant franchise 0.4%
GROUP
45 PERSPECTA USA Information Technology Co-lnvestment IT services management company 0.4%
- Co-Investment; " .

i . t %

46  CALLRAIL USA information Technology Manager-led Secondary Mobile data analytics company 0.4%
47 DIGICERT USA Information Technology Co-Investment Digital security company 0.4%
48  ALM USA Communication Services Manager-led Secondary Content provider to the legal industry 0.4%

- Developer of hljman protein biomarker

49  OLINK Sweden Healthcare Co-Investment discovery products 0.4%
50 FRESHEASY South Korea Consumer Co-lnvestment Producer of meal kits 0.4%
Coverage of PIP's private equity asset value 28.0%
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Other Information - The largest 50 managers by value

% of total private

Rank Manager Region® Stage equity assetvalue?
1 INSIGHT PARTNERS USA Growth 6.9%
2 INDEX VENTURES Global Venture, Growth 3.9%
3 PROVIDENCE EQUITY PARTNERS USA Buyout, Growth 3.2%
4 HG Europe Buyout .2.9%
S ADVENT INTERNATIONAL Global Buyout 2.4%
6 WATER STREET USA Buyout 2.1%
7 ABRY PARTNERS USA Buyout 21%
8 BPEABARING PRIVATEEQUITY ASIA Asia & EM Growth 2.0%
9 PARTHENON CAPITAL USA Buyout 19%
10 VERITAS USA Buyout 1.8%
1A THOMASBRAVO USA Buyout 17%
12 SEVEN2 (Previously Apax Partners SAS) Europe Buyout 1.5%
13 MIDEUROPA Europe Buyout 1.5%

1 Refers tothe regional exposure of funds .

2 look through vehicle andexclude of portiolio tothe ALN.
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Region’

% of total private

Rank Manager Stage equity assetvalue?
14 LYFE Asia & EM Growth 1.5%
15 CHARLESBANK USA Buyout 1.4%
16 SEARCHLIGHT USA Special Situations 1.3%
17 ALTAMONT CAPITAL PARTNERS USA Buyout 1.3%
18 INVESTMENT PARTNERS Europe Buyout 1.3%
19 HELLMAN&FRIEDMAN Global Buyout 1.3%
20 3i Europe Buyout 1.2%
21 TPG Global Buyout . 1.2%
22 LORIENT CAPITAL USA Buyout 1.2%
;'23 DEUTSCHE PRIVATEEQUITY Europe Buyout 1.2%
24 OAKHC/FT USA Growth . 1 .1‘%
25 HLG CAPITAL USA Buyout 11%
26 APOLLO Global Buyout 1.1%

1 Referstotheregional exposure of funds.

2 Percentages look through underlying vehicle sirLctures and exclude the portion of the reference portfofio atiributable 10 the ALN.
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Other Information - The largest 50 managers by value

% of total private

Rank Manager Region® Stage equity assetvalue?
27 ALTOR CAPITAL Europe Buyout 1.0%
28 FIVEARROWS Europe Buyout 0.9%
29 THEENERGY & MINERALS GROUP USA Special Situations 0.9%
30 QUANTUMENERGY PARTNERS USA . Special Situations 0.9%
31 CALERA CAPITAL USA Buyout 09%
32 BC PARTNERS Europe Buyout 09%

¥
33 FP FRANCISCO PARTNERS USA Buyout 0.8%
34 Growth Fund® . USA Growth 0.8%
35 PAIPARTNERS Europe ‘ Buyout 0.8%
36 ONEX USA Buyout 0.8%
37 MAIN POST PARTNERS : USA Buyout 0.8%
38 NMS MANAGEMENT INC. USA ) Buyout 0.8%

1 Refers tothe regional exposure of funds.

2 Percentages look through underlying vehicle and exclude the portion of the ref portfolio atiributable to the ALN.

3 The private equity manager dees not permit the Company to disctose thisinformation.
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% of total private

Rank Manager Region' Stage equity asset value?

‘39 ECI BUILDING SUCCESSFUL BUSINESS Europe Buyout 0.8%
40 WARBURG PINCUS: Global Buyout 0.8%
41 SHAMROCK CAPITAL USA Buyout 0.7%
42 ERGON CAPITAL PARTNERS Europe Buyout 0.7%
43 WASSERSTEIN & CO. USA Buyout 0.7%
44 LEEEQUITY USA Growlh 0.7%
45 STONE GOFF USA Buyout 0.6%
46 RQARK CAPITAL GROUP USA Buyout 0.6%
47 CHEQUERS CAPITAL Europe Buyout 0.6%
48 SAGEVIEW CAPITAL USA Growth 0.6%
49 NORDIC CAPITAL Europe BLI\/OUI 0.6%
50 'MAGNUM INDUSTRIAL PARTNES Europe Buyout 0.6%
Coverage of PIP’'s private equily asset value 68.4%

1 Refers tothe regional exposure of funds.

2 Percentages look through underlying vehicle siructures and exclude the portion of the reference portfolio aitributable 1o the ALN.
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Key Pantheon Personnel Supporting PIP

Helen Steers

PIP and European Investment, Partner

Joined 2004; 34 years of private equity
experience. Helen is a Partner in Pantheon’s
European Investment Team and is
responsible for co-managing the activities
of PIP. Sheis a member of Pantheon’s
International investment Committee,
European Investment Committee and Global
Co-Investment Commitlee, Prior 1o joining
Pantheon, Helen held senior positions at
Russell Investments in Paris and at the
Caisse de dépot el placement du Québec in
Montréal. Helenis a past Chair and member
of the Council (Board) of the British Private
Equity and Venture Capital Association
("8VCA"). She has also served as a Board
member of Invest Europe and is a co-founder
of Level 20.

m|o|o|o

JieGong

PIPand Asian Investment, Partner

Joined 2013; 24 years of private equity
experience. Jie is a Partner in Pantheon's
Asia Investment Team and responsible for
co-managing the activities of PIP. Sheis a
member of the Global Co-investment
Commitiee and the Asian Regional
Investment Committee. Jie joined Pantheon
from Morgan Stanley Allernative Investment
Partners’ private equity fund-of-funds group
where her last role was head of Asia, and
before that she worked at JP Morganin
leverage finance. Jie is a past member of the
United Nations Principles for Responsible
Investment ("UNPRI") Private Equity Advisory
Committee, Vice Chairman of the Hong
Kong Venture Capital and Private Equity
Association (‘HKVCA®), and Chairman

of Initiative Climat International ('iCI*}Y's

Asia Pacific chapter.
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Vicki Bradley

Head of Investor Relations and
Communications for PIP

Joined 2016; over 14 years of investor
relations and communications experience
with publicly listed companies. Vickiis also a
member of the UK Investor Relations Society
Policy Committee. Prior tojoining Pantheon,
she held senior roles at FTSE 100 and FTSE
250 companies, as well as at a Dutch-listed
investment trust.
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Maria Candelario

Principal, PIP

Joined 2014; 14 years of private equity and
investment banking experience. Maria is
responsible for investment strategy, portfolio
management, vehicle financing and reporting
for PIP. Prior to joining Pantheon, Maria
worked in mergers and acquisitions at Credit
Suisse, where she evaluated investments
and was responsible for executing buy and
sell-side M&A transactions across a variety
of sectors. She also held senior finance
positions at Citi and 18M.
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Farid Barekati
Vice President, Fund Finance

Joined 2020; 10 years of private equity
experience. Farid is a Vice President within
Pantheon’s Fund Finance Team, where he
has operational oversight for the reporting,
valuation and external audii of Pantheon’s UK
listed products, including PiP and Pantheon
Infrastructure Plc. Prior to joining Pantheon,
Farid was the Financial Cortroller for John
Laing Capital Management, responsible for
their listed funds. He also spent timzin
various finance and operations roles within
3iGroup Plc, before moving to their listed
infrastructure fund.
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Bradley Mitchell
Vice President, Fund Management

Joined 2022;11 years of private equity-and
banking experience. Brad is a Vice President
in Pantheon's Fund Management team, part
of the Investment team, where he focuses on
fund debt strategies and solutions. Prior to
joining Pantheon, he worked at NatWest
Group as a Director in its Institutional
Banking, Funds Finance division. Brad holds a
bachelor's degree in International Business &
Economics from Aston University and has
passed allthree levels of the CFA Program.

Eimear Palmer
Global Head of ESG, Partner

Joined 2022; 15 years of private markets
experience. Eimear is a Partner and Global
Head of ESG, with responsibility for
overseeing and developing Pantheon’s ESG
strategy. frameworks and range of initiatives.
Eimear chairs Pantheon’s ESG committee
andisa member of the International
Investment Committee. Prior to joining the
firm, Eimear worked for 14 years in private
equity-focused ESG roles, including most
recently as Managing Director and Head of
Responsible Investment at intermediate
Capital Group {"ICG"). Before that she worked
atthe Carlyle Group.
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PetraBukovec
Secondary (nvestment, Partner

Joined 2006; 17 years of private equity
experience. Petrais a Partner in Pantheon's
Global Secondaries Team, where sheis
involvedin all aspects of secondary
investments including the analysis,
evaluation and completion of secondary
transactions. She is a member of the Global
Secondary Investment Committee and has
beena member of the secondary team since
joining Pantheon in 2006. Prior to joining
Pantheon, Petra was an investment banking
analyst at Lehman Brothers, focusing on
M&A and other corporate finance mandates.
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Key Pantheon Personnel Supporting PIP

Amyn Hassanally

Global Head of Private Equity Secondaries,
Partner

Joined 2022; 23 years of private markets
experience. Amyn s a Partner and Global
Head of Private Equity Secondaries. He is a
member of the Global Secondary Investment
Committee. Prior to joining Pantheon Amyn
was an Investment Partner at Coller Capital,
where he worked for 17 years in both London
and New York and was formerly the global
Co-Head of Investment Execution. Prior to
joining Coller, he praclised corporate law,
focusing on private equity transactions and
fund structuring.
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Erik Wong
Co-Investment, Partner

Joined 2007; 23 years of private equity
experience. Erik is a Partner in Pantheon’s
Global Co-Investment Team and a member
of the Co-Investment Committee and
European Investment Commiittee. Erik is
responsible for sourcing, executionand
monitoring co-investments in Europe. Prior
to Pantheon, Erik worked for the Abu Dhabi
Investment Authority, IFRS Foundationin
the UK and with Quilvest Asiain Hong Kong.
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Imogen Richards
Primary Investment, Partner

Joined 2005; 21 years of private markets
experience. Imogen s a Partner on the
European Private Equity team with
responsibility for European primaries and
co-investments, and also the portfolio
strategy and treasury & fund management
teams. Prior to Pantheon Imogen worked
on small and mid-market private equity and
mezzanine transactions for Anglo lrish
Bank in Dublin.

Strategic Report Governance

Graeme Keenan
Chief Risk Officer, Partner

Joined 1999; 23 years of private markets
experience. Graeme is a Partner and
Pantheon's Chief Risk Officer, with
responsibility for global risk management.
Graeme also heads up the Performance
Analytics function. He is a member of
Pantheon'’s Risk Committee and ESG
Committee. Prior to taking on the role of
Chief Risk Officer, Graeme was Pantheon’s
Global Head of Operations, responsible for
global client financial reporting, handling the
processing, maintenance and reconciliation
of transactions, valuations and company
data for clients and Pantheon fund-of-funds
within Pantheon’s in-house systems.
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Paul Ward
Managing Partner

Joined 2003; 25 years of private equity
experience. Paul is Pantheon’s Managing
Partner and is a member of the Partnership
Board. Paul joined Pantheon from Lehman
Brothers Private Equity Group, where he
was Investment Director. Previously,

he worked for Lehman Brothers Investment
Bank in New York and Loncon on M&A and
corporate finance advisory services and,
prior to that, was a management consultant
for PA Consulting.
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Dennis McCrary
Head of Investment, Partner

Joined 2007; 43 years of private markets
experience, Dennis is a Partner and Pantheon's
Head of Investment with management
oversight of the investment team heads.

He is a member of Pantheon’s Partnership
Board, Executive Committee, International
Investment Committee, Co-Investment
Committee, Global Secondary investment
Committee, US Investment Commiittee,

and Global Credit Committee. Dennis was
previously the Head of the US Parinership
Team at Adams Street Partners, where he
was responsible for primary and secondary
fundinvestments and was a member of the
firm's global investment committee, Prior to
this, Dennis held several investment banking
and principal investing positions with Bank
of America and Continental Bank.

Jeff Miller
Globa! Head of Private Equity, Partner

Joined 2008; 22 years of private equity
experience. Jeffis a Partner and Global

Head of Private Equity. He is also Global
Head of Co-investments, leading ali
underlying co-investment activities and team
management, and is a member of Pantheon’s
Global Partnership Board, International
Investment Committee, Co-investment
Committee and US Investment Committee.
Prior to joining Pantheon, Jeff was a Principal
at Allied Capital, where he was responsible
for evaluating and executing private equity
and mezzanine investments. Previously,

he was a Vice President in Lehman Brothers’
investment banking division.
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Susan Long-McAndrews
US Primary Investment, Partner

| Joined 2002; 27 years of private equity

experience. Susan is a Partner in Pantheon’s
US Investment Team and leads Pantheon's
global business development. Sheis a
member of Pantheon’s Partnership Board,
Executive Committee, International
Investment Committee, the US Investment
Committee and is the Chief Executive Officer
of Pantheon Securities, LLC. Prior to joining
Pantheon, Susan was a principal at Capital Z
Partnersin Asia, and a director at Russell
Investments’ private equity group. Susan
has served on the Board of the American
Investment Council, the Investment
Committee for the Archdiocese of San
Francisco and was a Term Member of

the Council on Foreign Relations.
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Board of Directors

John Singer CBE
Chair
Appointed to the Board 23 Novemter 2016

Mr Singer is aninvestment andfinancial services professional with over 30 years’ experience in private
equity. Mr Singer spent over 20 years with Advent International Pic as co-founder,member of the Globat
Executive Committee and, unti? 2012, Chairman of European Qperations. He was Managing Director and
founder of Granville Europe plc one of the first pan-European private equity funds. In addition, he was
Chairman of the European Ven-ure Capizat Association.

Y )

Mr Singer is involved with several organisations within the arts and education sectors. Heis a Trustee of
the National Gallery, tondon, Chairman of City of London Sinfonia and Chairman of the National Youth
Orchestra of Great Britain.

Mary Ann Sieghart Aun@

Senior Independent Director
Appointed to the Board 30 October 2019

Ms Sieghart is a Non-Executive Director of

The Merchants Trust plc and the Guardian
Media Group. Until 2022, she was the Chair of
the Investment Committee of the Scott Trust,
overseeing its £1.2bn endowment. In addition,
sheis a Trustee of the Kennedy Memorial Trust,
amongother voluntary posts.

Ms Sieghart is also ajournalist, broadcaster and
author of The Authority Gap: Why Women Are Still
Taken Less Seriously Than Men, and What We Can
Do About it. She was formerly Assistant Editor of
The Times, a Lex columnist at the Financial Times
and City Editor of Today. Sheis a Visiting Professor
ofKing's College London and also spent the
academic year 2018-19 as a Visiting Fellow of

All Souts College, Oxford.

David Melvin

Audit Committee Chair

A m @

Appointed to the Board 23 February 2015

Mr Melvin is an investment and financial services
professional with over 30 years of experience
ininvestment banking and private equity. Heis
currently a senior adviser at Bixteth Partners
Limited, aboutique advisory firm, Chairman of HBA
Media Limited, Principal at 24 Haymarket Private
Capital and amember of the tnvestment Committee
of Gonwille and Caius College, Cambridge.

Mr Melvin was formerly a Partner at TDR Capital,

a European private equity firm, where hewas a
member of the Investment Committee and Head of
investor Relations. Prior to that, he spent 24 years at
Merrill Lynch, where he held a number of leadership
positions, including Global Co-Head of Financial
Sponsors and Chairman of EMEA Financial
Sponsors and Leverage Finance. Heis a qualified
Chartered Accountant.
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Board of Directors

Aaw @
Appointed to the Board 23 November 2016

MrBurgess has over 20 years' experience within
private equity, following eight years with the Boston
Consulting Group in Paris and London, where he
became a Partner.

JohnBurgess

Subsequently, he held senior roles with F&C
Ventures Ltd and Candover Investments Pic before
co-founding BC Partners (formerly Baring Capital
Investors Ltd)in 1986, where he was a Managing
Partner until 2005. While at BC Partners, he held
directorships of a variety of companies across the
UK and Continental Europe.

Since 2005, he has remained actively involvedin
private equity, as well as increasing his investrment
interestsinthe public markets. Mr Burgessis an
Independent Member of the Governing Body of
the Royal Academy of Music and was a Director
of the Business Growth Fund Pic.

Dame Susan OwenDCB

A MoN o
Appointed to the Board 31 October 2019

Darne Sue Owenis an economist with over 30 years’
experiencein government,including 14 years at
the Treasury. She led the Department for Digital,
Culture, Media and Sport from 2013 t0 2019, having
also worked in the British Embassy in Washington
0C, No. 10, the Department of International
Development and as Strategy Director General in
the Department for Work and Pensions overseeing
a£200bn budget. She has considerable experience
of governance, advising Ministers on board and
chair appointments including at the BBC, Ofcom
and the Tate. She chaired the Civil Service Charity
and was Civil Service Diversity Champion.

Currently, Dame Sue s chair of UK Debt Management
Office Advisory Board, a specialist partner at
Flint-Global and non executive Director at Pool Re,
Serco plc and Methera Global Communications.
Inthe not for profit space she Chairs the Royal Ballet
Governors andis a trustee of Opera Holland Park.
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Zoe Clements
Appointed to the Board 5 July 2023

Ms Clementsis aninvestment, private equity and
finance professional with over 15 years of board
experience, and over 25 years of executive
experience, notably in a private equity context
atleading firms including Palatine Private Equity,
Electra Partners, LGV Capital and Royal Bank

of Scotland.

Y

Sheis a current Non-Executive Director

of JPMorgan Emerging Markets Investment Trust
plcandis also a Member of the Social Investment
Advisory Committee of the Growth Impact Fund
and a Trustee of the Money and Mental Health
Policy Institute. She has previously satona

range of consumer, retail, leisure, healthcare and
professional services boards as a Non-Executive
Oirector. She qualified as a Chartered Accountant
with PwC.
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Rahul Welde R )
Appointed to the Board 25 July 2023

Mr Welde is a marketing and digital professional
who spent almost 31 years in senior, international
roles at Unilever. He is a current Non-Executive
Director of Entain Plc and Parentinc Pte Ltd
(Singapore), and is Chair of the Advisory Board

of Migrant Leaders, a UK charity. He also serves
inanadvisory capacity to corporations and
technology-led companiesincluding those at

the startup and scaleup stages.

KEY

4 Memberof the Augit Committee

m  Member of the Management Engagement
Committee

~  Member of the Nomination Committee

o Independent of the Manager

Other Information



Directors’ Report

The Directors are pleased to
present their report, together
with the audited financial
statements of the Company
for the year ended 31 May 2023.

Directors

The names and full biographies of the
Directors, as at the date of this report,can
be found on pages 121 and 122. Sir Laurie
Magnus CBE retired from the Board on

18 October 2022 and Ms Tamara Sakovska
resigned from the Board with effect from
22 July 2022. Ms Zoe Clements and

Mr Rahul Welde were appointed to the
Board on 5 July 2023 and 25 July 2023
respectively, following the yearend. As at
31 May 2023, the Board of Directors of
the Company was comprised of three
male Directors and two female Directors.
As at the date of this report, the Board
was comprised of four male and three
female Directors.

All Directors will retire and stand for
re-election or election at the Company’s
Annual General Meeting ("AGN.") on 19
October 2023. Further details regarding
the selection and appointment of Directors,
including the Company's position on
diversity, can be found on pages “33and . 34.

The rules concerning the appointment
and replacement of Directors are set out
inthe Company's Articles of Associaticn.
There are no agreements between the
Company and its Directors concerning
any compensation for their loss of office.

Articles of Association

Any amendments tothe Articles of
Association must be made by special
resolution at a general meeting of the
shareholders.

Share Capital

The rights attaching tothe Company's shares
are setout inthe Company's Articles of
Association. Further details can be found
in Note 15 of the financial statements.

Authorites givento the Directors at the
AGM on 18 October 2022 to allot shares,
disapply statutory pre-emptionrights

and buy back shares will expire at the
forthcoming AGM. In order to take
advantage of the investment opportunity
offered by the discount to NAV on the
shares, during the year 7,600,183 shares,
representing 1.4% of the called-up share
capital and a nominal value of £509,212.26,
were bought back for an aggregate amount
of £19,558,638 and subsequently cancelled.
As at 31 May 2023, authority 1o buy back
afurther 78,872,351 shares remained.

Asat 31 May 2023 and as at the date of this
Report, the Company had shares inissue
as shown in the table below, all of which
were listzd on the official list maintained

by the Financial Conduct Authority ("FCA”)
and admitted to trading on the London
Slock Exchange. No shares were held in
Treasury at the year end.

The Company’s ordinary shares are freely
transferable. However, the Directors may

refuse toregister a transfer of shares held
in certificated form which are not fully paid

unless the instrument of transfer is (i)
lodged, duly stamped at the Company's
registered office, accompanied by the
relevant share certificate(s) and such other
evidence (if any) as the Directors may
reasonably require to show the right of the
transferor to make the transfer and (i) not
in favour of more than four persons jointly.
The Directors may decline to register a
transfer of an uncertificated share in the
circumstances set out in the Uncertified
Securities Regulations 2001 and where,

in the case of a transfer to joint holders,
the number of joint holders to whom the
uncertificated share is to be transferred
exceeds four. If the Directors decline to
register a transfer, they are required to
send notice of the refusal to the transferee
within two months, giving reasons for
their decision.

Unless the Directors determine otherwise,
a holder of ordinary shares will cease o
be entitled to attend or vote at general
meetlings of the Company or on any poll if
he/she fails 10 comply with a request by the
Company to provide details of any interest
held by any person in his/her ordinary
shares within 14 days of the request being
made. Additionally, if the shares represent
atleast 0.25%,any dividends payable in
respect of the shares will be withheld by

the Company and no transfers of any of
the shares heldin certified form will be
registered unless the shareholder is not
him/herself in default as regards supplying
the information required (and the Directors
are satisfied that no person in default as
regards supplying such information is
interested in any of the shares that are
subject of the transfer) or unless the
transfer arises as a result of the acceptance
of atakeover offer or a sale made through
arecognised investment exchange (or any
other stock exchange outside the UK on
which the Company’s shares are normally
traded) or is a transfer which the Directors
are satisfied is made in consequence of a
sale of the entire beneficial interest in the
shares to a person who is unconnecied
with the shareholder and with any other
person appearing interested in the shares.

The Company'’s Articles of Association
contain additional provisions enabling
the Directors to take certain steps where
ordinary shares are or may be owned, or
rights attaching to such shares may be
exercised, by persons in circumstances
which the Directors determine woutd give
rise to a regulatory burden under certain
US securities, invesiment and pension
laws and regulations.

Share capital and voting rights at 31 May 2023

Voling rights Number of

NGmber of attachedto  shares heldin

. sharesinissue each share Treasury

Ordinary shares of 6.7p each 529,893,457 1 -
Total voting rights 529,893,457
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Save as described above, there are no
restrictions concerning the transfer of
securities in the Company or on voting
rights; no special rights with regard to
control attached to securities; no agreements
between holders of securities regarding
their transfer known to the Company;

and no agreements which the Company

is party to that might affect its control
following a successful takeover bid.

The giving of authority to issue or buy
back the Company'’s shares requires an
appropriate resolution to be passed by
shareholders. Proposals for the renewal
of the Board's current authorities toissue
and buy back shares will be set out inthe
separate 2023 AGM Notice.

Dividends
No final dividend is being recommended.
Investment Trust Status

The Company has received written approval
from HM Revenue & Customs ("HMRC")

as anauthorised investment trust under
Section 1158 of the Corporation Tax Act
2010. The Directors are of the opinion that
the Company has conductedits affairs

in compliance with such approval and
intends to continue doing so.

Financial risk management

The principal financial risks and the
Company'’s policies for managing these
risks are setoutin Note 21 to the financial
statements (on pages 17210 175).
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Management

The Company entered into a Management
Agreement with the Company's investment
manager, Pantheon Ventures {(UK)
("Pantheon Ventures™),on 22 July 2014,
under which Pantheon Ventures was
appointed as the Company’s Alternative
Investment Fund Manager ("AIFM") on the
terms of and subject to the conditions of a
new investment Management Agreement
(the “Management Agreement”) between
the Company and Pantheon Ventures.
Pantheon Ventures, which is part of the
Pantheon Group, has been approved as
an AlFM by the FCA.

The Pantheon Group is one of the world's
foremost private equity fund investors and
has acted as Manager to the Company
since the Company'sinceptionin 1987.

Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. ("AMG"),
alongside senior members of the Pantheon
team, acquired the Pantheon Group in 2010.
The ownership structure, with Pantheon
senior management owning a meaningful
share of the equity in the business, provides
a framework for long-term successionand
enables Pantheon management o continue
to direct the firm’s day-to-day operations.
AMG is a global asset management company
with equity investments in leading boutique
investment management firms.

Pantheon International Pic Annual Report and Accounts 2023

Under the terms of the Management
Agreement, Pantheon Ventures has

been appointed as the sole and exclusive
discretionary manager of all the assefs

of the’Company and to provide certain
additional services in connection with the
management and administration of the
Company's affairs, including monitoring
the performance of, and giving instructions
on behalf of the Company to, other service
providers to the Company.

The Company entered into a Supplemental
Agreement with Pantheon Ventures on

18 April 2017 to align the Management
Agreement with the change to the
Company's accounting reference date
from 30 June to 31 May of each year.

The Manager is entitled to a monthly
management fee as atan annual rate of:

(i) 1.5% on the value of the Company's
investment assets up to £150m; and

(i) 1% on the value of such assetsin
excessof £150m.

Inaddition, the Manager is entitled to

a monthly commitment fee of 0.5%

per annum on the aggregate amount
committed (but unpaid) in respect of
investments, up to a maximum amount
equal to the total value of the Company's
investment assets.

The arrangements in respect of the
management fee and notice period are
materially unchanged.

Strategic Report

The Manager is entitled to a performance
fee from the Company in respect of each
12-month calendar period. No performance
fee is payable in respect of the year ended
31 May 2023 (period ended 31 May 2022:
£nil). Further detail as to how the performance
feeis calculatedis set out below.

The performance fee payable in respect
of each such calculation period is 5% of
the amount by which the net asset value
atthe end of such a period exceeds 110%
of the applicable “high-water mark’,

i.e., the net assetvalue atthe end of the
previous calculation period in respect of
which a performance fee was payable,
compounded annually at 10% for each
subsequent completed calculation period
up to the start of the calculation period for
which the feeis being calculated. For the
calculation year ended 31 May 2023, the
notional performance fee hurdle is a net
asset value per share of 510.7p.

The performance fee is calculated so as
toignore the effect on performance of any
performance fee payable in respect of the
period for which the fee is being calculated
or of any increase or decrease inthe net
assets of the Company resulting from

any issue, redemption or purchase of any
shares or other securities, the sale of any
treasury shares or the issue or cancellation
of any subscription or conversion rights
for any shares or other securities and any
other reduction in the Company’s share
capital or any distribution to shareholders.

Manager’s Review Governance Financial Statements



The value of investmentsin,and
outstanding commitments to, investment
funds managed or advised by the
Pantheon Group {"Pantheon Funds”)

are excluded in calculating the monthly
management fee and the commitment fee.
In addition, the Manager has agreed that
the total fees (including performance fees)
payable by Pantheon Funds to members
of the Pantheon Group and attributableto
the Company's investments in Panthecn
Funds shall be less than the total fees
(excluding the performance fee) that the
Company would have been charged under
the Management Agreement had it
invested directly in all of the underlying
investments of the relevant Pantheon
Funds instead of through the relevant
Pantheon Funds.

The Management Agreement is capable of
being terminated (without penalty to the
Company) by either parly giving twoyears’
notice in writing. Itis capable of being
terminated by the Company (without
penalty to the Company) immediately

if, among other things, the Manager
materially breaches its obligations (and
cannot or does not remedy the breach) or
goes into liquidation, and on six months’
notice if there is a change of control of the
Manager or if certain "key man’ provisions
aretriggered. The Manager has the benefit
of anindemnity from the Company in
respect of liabilities arising out of the
proper performance by the Manager of its
duties and compliance with instructions

giventoit by the Board and an exclusion of
liability save tothe extent of any negligence,
fraud, wilful default or breach of duty.

Pantheon Ventures sources, evaluates and
manages investments on the Company's
behalf, allocating investments to the
Company, inaccordance with Pantheon’s
investment allocation policy, that are in
line with the strategy agreed with the Board
and the Company's investment objective
and policy.

Under the terms of the Management
Agreement, the Company is entitled to
participate in allocations made by the
Pantheon Group under its secondary
investment programme, in accordance
withthe allocation basis agreed from
time to time between the Company and
the Manager.

Analternative basis forthe allocation to
the Company of secondary investment
opportunities may be applied by Pantheon
in the context of a successor fund to
Pantheon Global Secondary Fund Vi.
Inthe event of Pantheon and the Company
being unable to agree any such alternative
allocation basis, Pantheon will cease to

be entitled 10 any performance fee for
calculation periods following that in which
the alternative allocation basis takes
effect and the Company will be entitled to
terminate the Management Agreement
(without penalty to the Company) on

six months’ notice.

Continuing appointment of
the Manager

The Board keeps the performance of the
Manager under continual review, and the
Management Engagement Committee
carries out anannual review of the
Manager’s performance and the terms of
the Management Agreement. The ongoing
review of the Manager includes activities
and performance over the course of the
year and review against the Company’s
peer group. The Board is of the opinion
that it is in the interests of shareholders
as a whole to continue the appointment.

The reasons for this view are that the
investment performance is satisfactory
and the Manager is well placed to continue
1o manage the assets of the Company
according to the Company's strategy.
Further details of the Board's engagement
with the Manager is set out on page 130.

Other service providers

Administrative, accounting and company
secretarial services are provided by Link
Alternative Fund Administrators Limited.
The Administration Agreement may be
terminated with 12 months’ written notice.

The Board has also appointed BNP
Paribas Trust Corporation UK Limited
(previously BNP Paribas Securities

" Services, London Branch) to act as the

Company's Depositary (as required by the
AIFM Directive) (the "Depositary”) subject

to the terms and conditions of a Depositary
Agreement, as updated in 2022 by a Deed
of Novation and Amendment, entered into
between the Company, the AIFM and the
Depositary. BNP Paribas Trust Corporation
UK Limited have also been appointed as
Custodian. Full details of the Board's
engagement with service providers are
setout on page 134. ’

Related

party trar

Related party lransactions are disclosed
in Note 22 to the financial statements.

Going concern

The Company'’s business activities,
together with the factors likely to affect
its future development, performance,
and financial position, are set out in the
Slrategic Reportand Manager's Review.

The Directors have made an assessment
of the going concern, taking into account
both the Company's financial position at
the Balance Sheet date and the expected
performance of the Company, considering
the recent banking crisis, the geopolitical
uncertainties as a result of the Russia -
Ukraine conflict, including the disruption to
the global supply chain, the combination
of rising inflation, interest rates and the
impact of climate change driven by
changes in regulations, using the
information available up to the date

of issue of the financial statements.
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The Directors have also considered the
Company’s position with reference to its
investment trust structure, its business
model, its business objectives, the principal
risks and uncertainties as detailed on
pages 44 to 48 of this report and its present
and projected financial position. The
Directors have considered the impact of
the intended one-off £200million share
buyback in the year ending 31 May 2024
and the impact of a further "automatic”
share buyback programme, the amount

of which will be determined by net portfolio
inflows and the prevailing level of discount.
As part of the overall assessment, the
Directors have takeninto account the
Manager’s culture, which emphasises
collaboration and accountability, the
Manager’s conservative approach 1o
balance sheet management, and its
emphasis on investing with underlying
private equity managers that are focused
on market outperformance.

At each Board meeting, the Directors
review the Company's latest management
accounts and other financial information.
The Company's commitments to private
equity investments are reviewed, together
with its financial resources, including cash
held and its borrowing capability. One-year
cash flow scenarios are also presented
and discussed at each meeting.

PIP's Balance Sheet is managed to
ensure that the Company can finance
its undrawn commitments, which are
carefully controlled relative to its assets
and available liquidity. This disciplined
approach enables the Company to

126 |

Shareholdings

Asat 31 May 2023, the Company’s top ten shareholders were:

Major interests in shares

As at 31 May 2023, the Company had received notification
of 1he following disclosable interests in the voting rights of

% of otal L N
Name Shareholding  votingrights  the (flompany.Thlsmformauon was correct at the date of
notification. It should be noted that these holdings may have
USS Investmenl Management Lid  44102,260 832 changed since notified to the Company and may not therefore
Esperides S.A. Sicav-SIF 31,101,440 587  bewhollyaccurate statements of actual holdings as at
Quilter Investors 27925368 527  31May2023. However, notification of any changeis not
Rathbones 24,608759 464 required until the next applicable threshold is crossed:

. . Number of % of total
Quilter Cheviot Investment - sharesheld  volingrights
Management 19,556,226 3.69 -

Quilter Plc 51,725,446 974
Investec Wealth & Investment 19,548,602 3.69
i APG Asset Management 21,269,413 396
West Midlands PF 17,551,940 3.3 AV) Global Trust P 15005.032 300
lobal Trust Plc 905, .
{nteractive Investor 16,964,199 320 i .
Auslralian Retirement Trust Pty Ltd 15,223,782 2.83
Hargreaves Lansdown 16,378,037 3.09
Border 1o Coast Pensions Subsequent to the financial year end, USS Investment
Partnership 16,362,875 309 Management Ltd notified the Company that it had reduced

withstand periods of volatility such as
those experienced as a result of the
ongoing Russia-Ukraine conflict.

The Directors have considered downside
liguidity modelling scenarios with varying

degrees of decline in investment valuations,

decreased investment distributions,

and increased call rates, with the worst
being an extreme downside scenario
representing an impact to the portfolio
that is worse than that experienced during
the 2008-2009 global financial crisis.
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its holding to 7.41% and Quilter Plc notified the Company that

ithad reduced its holding to 8.38%. No other changes have

been notified.

In the event of a downside scenario,

PIP can take steps to limit or mitigate

the impact on the Balance Sheet, namely
drawing on the credit facility and pausing
on new commitments. In addition, subject
tothe prevailing market environment,

it could raise additional credit or capital,
and sell assets toincrease liquidity and
reduce outstanding commitments.

After due consideration of the Balance
Sheet, activities of the Company, its assets,
liabilities, commitments and financial

Slrategic Report
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resources, the Directors have concluded
that the Company has adequate resources to
continue in operation for at least 12 months
fromthe approval of the financial statements
for the year ended 31 May 2023. For this
reason, they consider it appropriate to
continue to adopt the going concern basis
in preparing the financial statements.

Financial Statements Other Information



Corporate Governance

The Board consists solely of Non-Executive
Directors and no one individual has
unfettered powers of decision. The Board
has putin place levels of corporate
governance which it believes are
appropriate for an investment trust and
to enable the Company to comply with
the AIC Code of Corporate Governance
(the “AIC Code”) published in February
2019. The Board's compliance with the
AIC Code is detailed in the Statement on
Corporate Governance.

The Company's Statement on Corporate
Governance, which forms part of this
Direclors’ Report, is set out on pages 128
to 134 and on its website (www.piplc.com).

Greenhouse gas emissions

Allof the Company's activities are
outsourced to third parties. As such it does
not have any physical assets, property,
employees or operations of ils own and
does not generate any greenhouse gas or
other emissions or consume any energy
reportable under the Companies Act 2006
(Strategic Report and Directors' Report}
Regulations 2013 or the Companies
(Directors’ Report) and Limited Liability
Partnerships (Energy and Carbon Repot)
Regulations 2018, implementing the UK
Government's policy on Streamlined
Energy and Carbon Reporting. Under
Listing Rule 15.4.29(R), the Company,

as aclosed ended investment fund, is
currently exempt from complying with

the Task Force on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures.

Further details of the Investment
Manager's approach to responsible
investment practices and ESG standards
can be found in the Strategic Report on
pages 1610 17.

Modern Slavery Act

In 2015, the UK Government introduced
the Modern Slavery Act (“the Act”). As an
Investment Trust, the Company does not
provide goods or services inthe normal
course of business, and does not have
employees, customers or turnover.
Accordingly, the Directors consider that
the Company is notin scope because it
does not have turnover and is therefore
not required to make any slavery or

human trafficking statement under the Act.

The Company’s own supply chain, which
consists predominately of professional
advisers and service providers inthe
financial services industry, is considered
to be low risk in relation to this matter.
Details of the Investment Manager's
approach to Modern Slavery can be
found in the ESG Q&A on page 80 and
onits website (www.pipic.com).

Donations

The Company made no political or
charitable donations during the year
(2022: £nil).

Future developments

The outlook for the Company is set outin
the Chair's Statement on pages 20to 25.

Requirements of the Listing Rules

Listing Rule 9.8.4 requires the Company
toinclude certaininformation ina single
identifiable section of the Annual Report or
a cross-reference table indicating where
theinformation is sel out. The Directors
confirmthat there are no disclosures to

be made in this regard.

Annual General Meeting ("AGM")

The Company's AGM will be held on
19 October 2023, and explanations of the
business proposed at the AGM will be set
outin a separate Notice of Meeting.

Audit information

The Directors who held office atthe date
of approval of the Report of the Directors
confirm that, so far as they are aware, there
is no relevant audit information of which
the Company’s Auditor is unaware; and
each Director has taken all reasonable
stepsthat he or she ought to have taken as
a Director to make himself or herself aware
of any relevant audit information and to
establish that the Company’s Auditor is
aware of that information.

Approval

The Directors’ Report has been approved
by the Board.

On behalf of the Board

JOHNSINGERCBE
Chair

2 August 2023
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Statement on Corporate Governance

Introduction from the Chair

| am pleasedto introduce this year's
Corporate Governance Statement. In this
statement, the Company reports onits
compliance with the AIC Code of Corporate
Governance (the “AIC Code”) and sels out
how the Board has operated during the
pastyear. The AIC Code, as publishedin
February 2019, sets out principles and
provisions regarding matters including
stakeholder engagement and the culture
of the Company, against which the
Company has reported in the Strategic
Report. The Company is commilted to
maintaining the highest standard of
corporate governance and the Directors
are accountable to shareholders for the
governance of the Company’s affairs.

Stat it of con

P

This statement, together with the Statement
of Directors’ Responsibilities on page 141,
indicates how the Company has applied
the principles of recommended governance
of the Financial Reporting Council's ("FRC")
2018 UK Corporate Governance Code (the
“UK Code”) and the AIC Codeissuedin2019,
which complemenits the UK Code and
provides a framework of best practice for
investment trusts.

The Board considers that reporting against
the principles and provisions of the AIC
Code, which has been endorsed by the
FRC, provides more relevant information to
shareholders and that by reporting against
the AIC Code the Company has met its
obligations in relation to the UK Code

and associated disclosure requirements
under paragraph 9.8.6 of the Listing Rules.
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The UK Code s available onthe FRC website
{(www.frc.org.uk). The AIC Code is available
onthe AIC website (www.theaic.co.uk) and
includes an explanation of how the AIC
Code adapts the principles and provisions
setoutin the UK Code to make them
relevant for investment companies.

Throughout the year ended 31 May 2023,
the Company complied with the principles
and provisions of the AIC Code which
incorporates the UK Code. The Board
attaches greatimportance to the matters
set outin the UK Code and strives to apply
its principles ina manner that would enable
shareholders to evaluate how the principles
have beenapplied. However, it should be
noted that where the principles and provisions
are related to the role of the Chief Executive,
Executive Direclors’ remuneration and the
establishmentof a Remuneration Commiittee,
the Board considers these principles and
provisions not relevant as Pantheon
International Plc is an externally managed
Company with an entirely Non-Executive
Board, no employees or internal operations.

The principles of the AIC Code

The AIC Code is made up of 17 principles
splitinto five sections covering:

- Board leadership and purpose;

~ Division of responsibilities;

-~ Composition, succession and evaluation;
- Audit, risk and internal control; and

- Remuneration.

Details of how the Company has applied
the principles of the AIC Code are set out
inthis report.
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Viability Statement

The Viability Statement can be found
on page 54.

The Board of Directors

Atthe start of the year under review, the
Board consisted of seven Non-Executive
Directors {four male and three female).
Following Ms Sakovska's resignation in
July 2022, the Board consisted of six
Non-Executive Directors {four male and
two female) and since Sir Laurie Magnus’
retirement in October 2022, the Board
consisted of five Non-Executive Directors
(three male and two female). The Company
has no employees. The Board is responsible
for all matters of direction and control of
ihe Company.

The Board seeks to ensure that it has the
appropriate balance of skills, experience,
ages and lengths of service amongits
members. The Directors possess a wide
range of business and financial expertise
relevant to the direction of the Company,
and consider themselves as committing
sufficient time to the Company’s affairs.

Brief biographica! details of the Directors,
including details of their other directorships
and significant commitments, can be found
onpages121and 122.

Theappointment of a new Director is always
made on the basis of a candidate’s merits
and the skills/experience identified by the
Board as being desirable to complement
those of the existing Directors. The Board
acknowledges the benefits of greater
diversity, including gender and ethnic

Strategic Report
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diversity, and the Board remains committed
to ensuring that the Company’s Directors
bring a wide range of skills, knowledge,
experience, backgrounds and perspectives.
Aformal process exists for the selection
of new Directors to the Company, and the
level of remuneration of the Directors has
been setin order toattract individuals

of a calibre appropriate to the future
development of the Company.

Aformalinduction process has been
established for new Directors which
involves the provision of a full induction
pack containing relevant information about
the Company. On appointment to the
Board, Directors are fully briefed as to

their responsibilities and are given the
opporiunity totalk to the relevant executive
members of the Manager throughout their
termsin office.

Theterms and conditions of the appointment
of the Non-Executive Directors are set outin
letters of appointment, copies of which are
available forinspection at the registered
office of the Company and will be available
atthe AGM. None of the Directors hasa
contract of service with the Company.

Further details on the Company's purpose,
culture and values can be found inthe
Strategic Reporton page 31.

Board and Committee meeting
attendance

The Board has at least six scheduled
meetings a year, and more if required.
Directors' attendance at scheduled Board
and Committee meetings held during
theyearto 31 May 2023 is set outon
page 129 below.

Other Information



Performance evaluation

During the year, in order to review the
effectiveness of the Board as a whole,

its Committees and individual Directors,
aninternal performance evaluztion was
carried out by the Company Secretary.

Led by the Senior Independent Jirector, the
evaluation was conducted using tailored
questionnaires structured to analyse
Directors’ feedback on Board composition
and effectiveness, the Board's performance
inrelation 1o shareholder relations and
value, governance, the efficiency of Board
and Committee meetings, and i0 assess
whether the operation of such meetings
was appropriate, as well as any additional
information that may be required to
facilitate better Board discussions.
Responses were collated by the Company
Secretary. The independence o* lhe
Directors and their ability to commit
sufficient time 1o the Company's activities
was considered as part of the evaluation
process. The performance of the Chair was
similarly evaluated by the other Directors.

Following conclusion of the review, lhe
Company Secretary provided a report on
the outcome of the evaluation, a summary
of strengths and areas for development
and feedback on how the Board could
improve in each area of assessment.

The reporl from the Company Secretary
was reviewed by the Nomination
Committee as part of its assessment

of Board performance

The results of the evaluation process
indicated that the Board continues to work
well and there are no significant concerns

among the Directors about the Board's
effectiveness. The resulting actions agreed
by the Directors will be monitored during
the 2023-24 financial year.

As aresult of the evaluation, the Boardis
satisfied that all the current Directors
contribute effectively and have the skills
and experience relevant to the leadership
and direction of the Company.

Insurance and indemnity provisions

The Board has formalised arrangements
under which the Directors, inthe
furtherance of their duties, may take
independent professional advice at the
Company’s expense. The Company has
arranged a Directors” and Officers' liability
insurance policy which includes cover

for legal expenses.

The Company's Articles of Association
take advantage of statutory provisions to
indemnify the Directors against certain
liabilities owed to third parties even

where such liability arises from conduct
amounting to negligence or breach of duty
orof trust. In addition, under the terms of
appointment of each Director, the Company
has agreed, subject to the restrictions and
limitations imposed by statute and by the
Company'’s Articles of Association, to
indemnify each Director against all costs,
expenses, losses and liabilities incurred

in execution of his/her office as Director

or otherwise inrelation to such office.
Save for such indemnity provisions inthe
Company's Articles of Associationand in
the Directors’ terms of appointment, there
are no qualifying third-party indemnity
provisions in force.

Chair and Senior Independent Director

The Chair leads the Board and is responsible
forits overall effectiveness in directing the
affairs of the Company. The Board appointed
John Singer CBE as Chair of the Company
atthe conclusion of the Company's AGM in
2022. John Singer CBE was deemed to be

Board and Committee meeting attendance

independent at the time of his appointment
and, in line with the guidetines of the AIC
Code of Corporate Governance, continues
1o be considered independent. He considers
himself to have sufficient time to commit
tothe Company'’s affairs. He has no
significant commitments other than those
disclosed in his biography on page 121.

Management

Audit  Engagement  Nomination
@ Meetings altended Scheduled ~ Commitlee  Commitiee  Commitiee
@ Meetings not attended Board meelings meelings meetings meetings
J.B.H.C.A. Singer CBE! L ] ® [ 1]
D.L. Melvin ® ® ( 1]
J.D. Burgess?® o [ ] [ 1]
M.A. Siegharl ® [ [ 1]
Dame Sue Owen DCB ® [ ] [ 1]
Sir Laurie Magnus CBE? [ 1 J [ 1] [ ] [ 1]
T. Sakovska“ (1] (1 J N/A N/A
1 MrSinger CBE was unableto attend the Committee and

gs. which were

2 Mr

dueto aprevious commitment.

W

180ctober2022, ahead of the Annual General Meeting.

Sir Laurie Magnus CBE retired from ihe Board on 18 October 2022,
Ms Sakovska resigned from the Board on 22 July 2022,

As well as those meetings detailed in the table above, additional meetings were
held during the year to approve the NAV, to approve the final versions of the
Annual and Half-Year Reports, to receive Ms Sakovska's resignation, to conduct
interviews with candidates, to discuss strategy and to discuss the Company’s
commitment to PSOF It and appoint an external adviser in relation to this. AFinance
Sub-Committee of the Board, comprising Messrs Singer, Melvin and Burgess, was
established to discuss PiP's credit facility requirements and to make recommendations
to the Board. This Sub-Commitiee met three times during the year under review.
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Ms Mary Ann Sieghart was appointed
Senior Independent Director of the
Company at the conclusion of the
Company's AGMin 2021. She provides
a channei for any shareholder concerns
regarding the Chair and leads the Chair's
-annual perfermance evaluation.

Directors’ independence

Inaccordance with the Listing Rules that
apply to closed-ended investment entities,
and taking into consideration the AIC Code,
the Board has reviewed the status of its
individual Directors and the Board as
awhole.

All Directors were considered independent
of the Investment Manager at the time

of their appointment and, in line with the
guidelines of the AIC Code of Corporate
Governance, all continue to be considered
independent.

Chairand Director tenure/
re-appointment of Directors

Following the Company’s inclusion in the
FTSE 250 Index and in accordance with the
AIC Code, the Board has determined that
its policy on the tenure of the Chairand the
Directors is that the Chair and all Directors
will be subject to annual re-election at each
AGM. Accordingly, resolutions to elect or
re-elect all Directors are contained within
the 2023 AGM Notice of Meeting.

Board responsibilities and
relationship with the Manager

The Board is responsible for the
determination and implementation of
the Company's investment policy and

for monitoring compliance with the
Company's objectives. At each Board
meeting, the Directors follow a formal
agenda 1o review the Company’s
investments and all other important issues,
such as asset allocation, gearing policy,
corporate strategic issues, cash
management, peer group performance,
marketing and shareholder relations,
investment outlook and pacing, revenue
forecasts and outlook, to ensure that
controlis maintained over the Company's
affairs. The Board regularly considersiits
overall strategy and monitors the share
price and tevel of discount.

The Board is responsible for the strategic
and operational decisions of the Company
and for ensuring that the Company is run
inaceordance with all regulatory and
statutory requirements. These procedures
have been formalised ina schedule of
matters reserved for decision by the full
Board, which has been adopted for all
meetings. These matters include:

- The maintenance of clear investment
objectives, investment strategy and risk
management policies, changes to which
require Board approval;

~ The monitoring of the business activities
of the Company, including investment
performance and annual budgeting; and

— Review of matters delegated to the
Manager, Administrator or Company
Secretary.

The management of the Company’s assets
is delegated to Pantheon. At each Board
meeling, representatives of Pantheon are
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in attendance to present verbal and writlen
reports covering its activities, the portfolio
andinvestment performance over the
preceding period. Ongoing communication
with the Board is maintained in between
formal meetings. The Manager ensures
that Directors have timely access to all
relevant management, financial and
regulatory information to enable informed
decisions to be made and contacts the
Board as required for specific guidance on
particularissues. Pantheon has discretion
tomanage the assets of the Company in
accordance withthe Company's investment
objectives and policies, subject to certain
additional investment restrictions

(which may be amended by the Company
from time to time with the consent of

the Manager). The additional investment
restrictions currently imposed on the
Manager are as follows:

- Atthe time of making an investment, the
aggregate of allamounts committed by
the Company in respect of investments
(excluding all amounts paid pursuant to
such commitments and including any
such commitments in respect of the
investment to be made) shall not exceed
300% of the available cash and loan
resources of the Company without the
prior approval of the Board.

— Nodirect or indirect investment ina
single company shall form more than
5% of the gross value of the Company
atthe time the investment is made.

The amount invested (including
amounts committed for investment) in
respect of a single fund shall not exceed

Strategic Report
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10% of the aggregate of the gross asset
value of the Company and the aggregate
outstanding investment commitments
of the Company at the time the
investment is made.

— The prior approval of the Board is required
foraninvestment (including investment
commitments) in respect of a single
secondary interest in an existing fund
or a portfolio of secondary interestsin
existing funds and/or direct investments
inone or more companies exceeding 3%
of the net asset value of the Company
atthetime the investmentis made.

- The prior approval of the Board is
required for a direct investmentina
single company exceeding 1% of the net
asset value of the Company at the time
theinvestment is made.

The Manager has also agreed that it will
obtain the prior approval of the Board in
relationto any primary investment ina new
fund which is made otherwise than ona
pro-rata basis with other Pantheon clients
investing in the same fund and in relation
toanyinvestment ina vehicle managed by
amember of the Pantheon Group, other
than holding, special purpose and feeder
vehicles where no fee is charged by the
Pantheon Group.

The Board determines the parameters of
investment strategy and risk management
policies within which the Manager can
exercise judgementand sets the investment
and risk management strategies in relation
to currency exposure. The Company
Secretary and Manager prepare briefing

Financial Statements
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notes for Board consideration on matters
of relevance, for example changes to

the Company’s economic and financial
environment, statutory and regulatory
changes and corporate governance

best practice.

Institutional investors - use of
voting rights

The Company has delegated the exercise
of its voting rights to the Manager.
Pantheon has a policy of advising its clients
to vote on all corporate actions in relation
to investments and does this on behalf of
the Company. Pantheon consults with the
Directors of the Company inthe case of
any corporate action where either there

is aconflict of interest between PIP and
other Pantheon clients, or where for

any reason the proposed voting is
inconsistent with the advice givento
Pantheon’s other clients.

Conflicts of interest

The Articles of Association permit the
Board 1o consider and, if it sees fit, to
authorise situations where a Director has
aninterest that conflicts, or may possibly
conflict, with the interests of the Company.
Thereis in place a formal system for

the Board to consider authorising such
conflicts, whereby the Directors who have
nointerest in the matter decide whethe:

to authorise the conflict and any conditions
to be attached to such authorisations.

The process in place for authorising
potential conflict of interest has operated
effectively during the year.

The Directors are able toimpose limits
or conditions when giving authorisation
if they think this is appropriate in the
circumstances. A register of potential
conflicts is maintained by the Company
Secretary and is reviewed at each Board
meeting, to ensure that any authorised
conflicts remain appropriate. Directors
are required to confirm at these meetings
whether there has beenany change to
their position.

The Directors must atso comply with the
statutory rules requiring company directors
to declare any interest in an actual or
proposed transaction or arrangement

with the Company.

The above process for authorising
potential conflicts of interest has
operated effectively during the year.

Committees of the Board

The Board has appointed a number of
Committees, as set out below, to which
certain Board functions have been
delegated. Each of these Committees has
formal written terms of reference which
clearly define their responsibilities, and
these can beinspected at the registered
office of the Company and viewed on the
Company’s website (www.piplc.com).

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises the whole
Board. Mr David Melvin, who is the Chair_
of the Audit Committee, is a qualified
Chartered Accountant and contributes

his knowledge and experience to the Audit
Committee. Itis felt by the Committee that
he is sufficiently qualified for the position
of Chair of the Audit Committee.

Mr John Singer CBE isaninvestment and
financial professional with over 30 years
of experience in private equity, and it is
considered appropriate for the Chair of
the Company to be a member of the
Audit Committee as he provides a
valuable contribution to the deliberations
of the Committee.

The Audit Committee met on four
occasions during the year ended 31 May
2023. ltisintended that the Committee
will continue to meet at least four times,
toreview the Half-Yearly Report, to review
the year-end valuation of investments and
to approve the Company’s Annual Report
and Accounts.

The Report of the Audit Committee can
be found onpage 135.

Management Engagement
Committee

The Management Engagement Committee
comprises all the Directors and is chaired
by MrJohn Singer CBE. The Management
Engagement Committee metonone
occasion during the year under review.

The Board keeps the performance of

the Manager under continual review.

In addition, in accordance with the
requirements of the AIC Code, the
Management Engagement Committeé
reviews the performance of the Manager’s
obligations under the Management
Agreement and considers the need for any
variation to the terms of this Agreement
onanannual basis.

The Management Engagement Commitiee
then makes a recommendation to the
Board about the continuing appointment

of the Manager under the terms of the
Management Agreement.

The Management Engagement Committee
also reviews annually the performance of
the Company Secretary, the Custodian,

the Depositary and the Registrar and any
matters concerning their respective
agreements with the Company.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises all
Directors and is chaired by Mr John Singer
CBE, except when the succession of the
Chairis being considered.

The role of the Nomination Committee is 10
undertake the formal process of reviewing
the balance, effectiveness and diversity

of the Board and to consider succession
planning, identifying the skills and expertise
needed to meet the future challenges and
opportunities facing the Company, and
those individuals who might best provide
them. The Nomination Committee, as and
when necessary, makes recommendations
to the Board with regard to the criteria for
future Board appointments and the methods
of selection. It also considers and reviews
the appointment of a Senior Independent
Director, membership of the Board's
Commiltees,and the re-appointment of those
Directors standing for re-election at AGMSs.

In addition, the Nomination Commiittee

is responsible for assessing the time
commitment required for each Board
appointment and ensuring that the present
incumbents have sufficient lime to devote
Lo their role, and for reviewing the Directors’
performance appraisal process.

As part of ongoing succession planning,
the Nomination Committee ensures that
all Board appointments are subject toa
formal, rigorous and transparent procedure.

132 1

The Company seeks toensure that any Board
vacancies are filled by the most qualified
candidates based on objective criteria

and meritand in the context of the skills,
knowledge and experience that are needed
for the Board to be effective. The Board
supports diversity and inclusion at Board
level and encourages candidates from all
educational backgrounds and walks of life.

During the year, the Nomination Committee
reviewed PIP’s Diversity Policy and satisfied
itselfthat the Board has a balance of skills,
qualifications and experience which are
relevant to the Company. As part of ongoing
succession planning, Sapphire Partners,an
independent external consultancy with no
connection to the Company, was engaged
to assist with the search for candidatesin
order to appoint two new Directors. The
search requirementsincluded a preference
for adiverse range of candidates, including
Chartered Accountants, and preferably
with a strong background in private equity
or marketing. Following this process, the
Nomination Committee recommended lo
the Board the appointments of Ms Zoe
Clements and Mr Rahul Welde. After due
consideration Ms Clements was appointed
to the Board with effect from 5 July 2023
and Mr Welde with effect from 25 July 2023,
being the strongest candidates with relevant
knowledge, qualifications and experience.

The Board acknowledges and welcomes
the recommendations from the
Hampton-Alexander Review on gender
diversity on boards and the Parker Review
regarding ethnic representation on boards.
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The Hampton-Alexander Review
recommended a minimum of 40%

female representation on all FTSE 350
companies by the end of 2025. PiP met this
recommendation during the year, having

40% women on the Board as at 31 May
2023. Inregard to the Parker Review, itis
recommended that by December 2024 all
FTSE 350 companies have a person from
aminority ethnic group onits Board.

Gender identity or sex Number of
Numberof Percentageon senior positions
Board members the Board onthe Board'
Men 3 60 1
Women 2 40 1
Not specified/prefer not to say - - -
Ethnic background Number of
Number of Percenlage senior positions
Boardmembers  on the Board on the Board'
White British or other White
(including minority white groups) 5 100 2
Mixed/Multiple Ethnic Groups 0 0 0
Asian/Asian British 0 0 0
Black/African/Caribbean/Black British 0 0 0
Other ethnic group, including Arab 0 0 0
Not specified/prefer not 1o say 0 0 0

1 Llisting Rule 9.8.6(9)includes only the positions of chair, chief executive, senior independent director and
chief financial officer in this category. As the Company is an externally managed Invesiment trust without
employees, the Company considers the posltion of Audit Committee Chair as a senior position in addition
1o those reported above. This senior role Is currently performed by a man.

The data in the above tables was collected through self-reporting by the
Directors, who were asked to indicate which of the categories specified in the
prescribed tables were most applicable to them.

Further information regarding diversity and inclusion at Pantheon can be found

onpage4l.
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The Board also notes the new FCA rules on

diversity and inclusion on company boards,

namely that from accounting periods
commencing onor after 1 April 2022
included in Listing Rule 9.8.6 (9-11):

— Atleast 40% of individuals on the Bozrd
to be women;

~ Atleast one senior Board position to be
held by awoman;and

~ At least one individual on the Board to
be from a minority ethnic background.

While all appointments to the Board

are made on merit, the Board supports
the recommendation to have ethnic
representation on the Board, and as
such this was integral to the Board's
considerations during the recruitment
carried outin the year. The resulting
appointments following year end
increased the Board's gender and ethnic
diversity. The Board is expecting lo be
able to report compliance with the
recommendations of the Parker Review
and each of the three diversily targets
setin the Listing Rules in the 2024
Annual Reporl.

In accordance with Listing Rule 9 Annex
2.1,thetables on the previous page, in
prescribed format, show the gender and
ethnic backgrounds of the Directors at
the yearend.

Remuneration Committee

As the Company has no employees and the
Board is composed solely of Non-Executive
Directors, it is not considered necessary to
have a Remuneration Committee. Led by
the Senior Independent Director, itis the
responsibility of the Board as a whole to
determine and approve Directors’ fees,
following proper consideration and having
regardto the industry generally, the role
thatindividual Directors fulfil in respect of
Board and Committee responsibilities, the
time committed to the Company’s affairs
and remuneration levels generally within
the investment trust sector. Each Director
takes no part in discussions concerning
their own remuneration

Detailed information on the remuneration
arrangements for the Directors of the
Company can be found in the Directors’
Remuneration Report on pages 138 to 140.

Internal control review

The Directors acknowledge that they
are responsible for the Company’s risk
management and systems of internal
control and for reviewing their
effectiveness.

Anongoing process, in accordance with
the guidance provided by the FRC on risk
management, internal control and related
finance and business reporting, has been
established for identifying, evaluating and
managing risks faced by the Company.

This process, together with key procedures
established with a view to providing
effective financiat control, has beenin
place throughout the year and up to

the date the financial statements were
approved. Full details of the principal risks
and uncertainties faced by the Company
can be found on pages 44 10 48.

The risk management process and systems

of internal control are designed to manage, ~

rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to
achieve the Company's objectives. It should
be recognised that such systems can only
provide reasonable, rather than absolute,
assurance against material misstatement
orloss.

Internal control assessment process

Regular risk assessments and reviews

of internal controls and the Company’s
risk appetite are undertaken by the Board
in the context of the Company’s overall
investment objective. The Board, through
delegation to the Audit Committee, has
carried oul a robust assessment and
review of the emerging and principal risks
facing the Company. The review covers
the key business, operational, compliance
and financial risks facing the Company.
Inarriving at its judgement of what risks the
Company faces, the Board has considered
the Company’s operations in the light of
the following factors:

~ The nature and extent of risks which it
regards as acceptable for the Company
to bear within its overall business
objective:

- The threat of such risks becoming
areality;

— The Company’s ability to reduce the
incidence and impact of risk on its
performance;

- The cost to the Company and benefits
related to the review of risk and
associated controls of the Company;
and

— The extent to which third parties
operate the relevant controls. Against
this background, the Board has split
the review into four sections reflecting
the nature of the risks being addressed.

The sections are as follows:
— Corporate strategy;

- Published information and compliance
with laws and regulations;

~ Relationship with service providers; and
- Investment and business activities.

Given the nature of the Company's
activities and the fact that most functions
are sub-contracted, the Directors have
obtained information from key third-party
suppliers regarding the controls operated
by them. To enable the Board to make an
appropriate risk and control assessment,
the information and assurances sought
fromthird parties include the following:

- Details of the control environment;

— Identification and evaluation of risks
and control objectives;

- Assessment of the communication
procedures; and

- Assessment of the control pracedures
operated.
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- There were no significant matters of
concernidentified in the Board's review
of the internal controls of its third-party
suppliers.

The key procedures which have been
eslablished to provide effective internal
financial controls are as follows:

- Investment management is provided by
Pantheon Ventures (UK) LLP. The Board
is responsible for the implementation
of the overallinvestment policy and
monitors the actions of the Manager
at regular Board meetings.

— BNP Paribas Trust Corporation UK
Limited (previously BNP Paribas
Securities Services, London Branch) has
been appoinied as Depositary. Custody
of assets is also undertaken by BNP
Paribas Trust Corporation UK Limited
as the Company’s Custodian for equities
and bonds.

The provision of administration,
accounting and Company secretarial
duties is the responsibility of Link

Alternative Fund Administrators Limited.

The provision of services provided by
Link Market Services as Registrar of
the Company.

The duties of investment management,
accounting and custody of assets

are segregated. The procedures of

the individual parties are designed to
complement one another.
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— The Directors of the Company clearly
define the duties and responsibilities of
their agents and advisers in the terms
of their contracts. The appoiniment of
agents and advisers is conducted by the
Board after consideration of the quality
of the parties involved; the Board, viathe
Management Engagement Committee,
monitors their ongoing performance and
contraclual arrangements.

- Mandates for authorisation of
investment transactions and expense
payments are set by the Board.

— The Board reviews delailed financial
information produced by the Manager
and the Administrator on a regular basis.

The Company does not have aninternal
audit function. All of the Company's
management functions are delegated to
independent third parties whose controls
are reviewed by the Board. Itis therefore
felt that there is no need for the Company
1o have an internal audit function.

This need is reviewed periodically.

Inaccordance with guidance issued

to directors of listed companies, the
Directors have carried out a review of

the effectiveness of the various systems
of internal controls as operated by the
Company’s main service providers during
the year and found there 1o be no matters
of concern.
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Company Secretary

The Board has direct access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary,
Link Alternative Fund Administrators
Limited, who is responsible for ensuring
1hat Board and Committee procedures are
followed and that applicable regulations
are complied with.

The Company Secretary is also responsible
to the Board for ensuring the timely delivery
of information and reports and for ensuring
that statutory obligations of the Company
aremet.

Dialogue with shareholders

Communication with shareholders is

given a high priority by the Board and the
Manager, and all Directors are available
to enter into dialogue with shareholders.
Following his appointment, the Chair offered
major shareholders the opportunity to
meet with him and has held a significant
number of meetings with shareholders
during the year and following the year
end. All shareholders are encouraged to
attend and vote at the AGM, during which
the Board and the Manager are available

- todiscuss issues affecting the Company,

and shareholders have the opportunity to
address questions to the Manager, the Board
and the Chairs of the Board's Committees.
Ateach AGM, a presentation is given by the
Manager to all shareholders present.

Thereis regular dialogue with institutional
shareholders and a structured programme
of shareholder presentations by the
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Manager toinstitutional investors taking
place following publication of the Annual
and Half-Yearly results. A detailed list of
the Company's shareholders is reviewed
ateach Board meeting. PIP has also put
in place a PR programme designed to
promote the benefits that PIP can provide
toaninvestor’s portfolio.

The Half-Yearly and Annual Reports of the
Company are prepared by the Board and
its advisers to present a full and readily
understandable review of the Company’s
performance. Copies are dispatched to
shareholders by mail or electronically as
requested and are also available on the
Company’s website: www.piplc.com.

The Company always responds 1o
communications from shareholders.
Shareholders wishing to communicate
directly with the Board should contact

the Company Secretary by email to
pip_cosec@linkgroup.co.uk or by writing
tothe registered office shown on page 186,
who will arrange for the relevant Board
member to contact them.

Further details of our engagement with all
of the Company's stakeholders and how
the Board has regard to those stakeholders
in the Board's decision-making processes
are setoutin the Strategic Report on

page 49.

On behalf of the Board

JOHN SINGERCBE
Chair

2August 2023
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Audit Committee Report

1am pleased to present the Audit Committee
Report for the year ended 31 May 2023.

The Audit Committee comprises myself,
asChair,and the entire Board, who are all
independent Non-Executive Directors

Further details about the composition of the
Audit Committee are setout onpage 13”.

Audit Committee members consider

that, individually and collectively, they are
each independent and appropriately
experienced to fulfil the role required within
the sector in which the Company operates.
The constitution and performance of the
Audit Committee are reviewedon a

regular basis.

Role of the Audit Committee

Clearly defined terms of reference, which
were reviewed and updated during the
year, have been established by the Board.
The primary responsibilities of the Audit
Committee are:

- Tomonitor the integrity of the financial
statements, the financial reporting
process and the accounting policies

" of the Company;

To review the effectiveness of the
internal control environment of the
Company and its reporting processes
and to monitor adherence to best
practice in corporate governance;

To make recommendations to the Board
in relation to the re-appointment of the
Auditor and to approve the Auditor's
remuneration and terms of engagement,
including scope of work;

~ To review and monitor the Auditor's
independence and objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process; and

- To provide a forum through which the
Company’s Auditor reports to the Board.

The Audit Committee also reviews the
Manager's whistleblowing procedures.

The Audit Committee has direct access
to the Company’s Auditor, Ernst & Young
("EY"), and representatives of EY attend
each Audit Committee meeting.

Matters considered in the year

We met on four occasions during the year
ended 31 May 2023. Atthose meetings,
the Audit Committee has:

- Reviewed and agreed the half-year and
year-end portfolio valuation and the net
assetvalues;

- Reviewed the Company’s financial
slalements for the haif year and year
end and made formal recommendations
tothe Board;

- Reviewed the Company’s going concern
and viability statements;

- Reviewed the impact of the recent
developments in the banking sector,
disruption on availability of credit,
geopolitical uncertainties as a result of
the Russia—Ukraine conflict, increases
inthe cost of living, persistent inflation,
interest rate rises and the impact of
climate change on the Company’s
financial statements;

- Reviewedtheinternal controls and
risk management systems (including
cybersecurity) of the Company and
its third-party service providers;

— Agreed the audit plan and fees with the
Auditor, including the principal areas
of focus;

- Reviewed the whistleblowing policy
of the Manager (no incidents were
reported during the period);

~ Reviewed its own performance as
a Committee and its own terms of
reference; and

— Received updates regarding a fraudulent
- website impersonating the Company

and discussed the actions taken or to be

taken to limit the damage caused by this.

The principal issues considered by the
Committee were as follows:

A.Valuation process

Discussions have been held with the
Manager about the valuation process,
ownership of assets and the systems in
place al Pantheon to ensure the accuracy
of the valuation of the Company’s portfolio.

The Audit Committee has received
reassurances about the robustness of
the Manager’s valuation system from
Pantheon.

Inaddition, the Audit Committee reviewed
the outputs of Pantheon'’s Investment
Valuation Committee and Pantheon's
processes and internal controls around
the investment valuation process.

B. Undrawn commitments

Asan investor in private equity, the Company
has outstanding commitments to fund
investments. Approximately 5.63% of these
uncalled commitments relate to funds

that are outside theirinvestment periods.
Generally, whena fundis past its investment
period, whichis typically between five

and six years, it cannot make any new
investments and only draws capital to fund ~
follow-oninvestments into existing portfolio
companies, or to pay expenses. As aresult,
the rate of capital calls by these funds tends
to slow dramatically. During the year, the
Manager undertook a detailed process to
review the undrawn commitments, and

the results were discussed with the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee received
anexternally audited control report from
Pantheon which provides comfortonthe
systemsand controls in place to track the
undrawn commitments as part of the
valuation entry process.

The Audit Committee also reviewed the
level of undrawn commitments as part
of its analysis of PIP's going concernand
long-term viability.
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C. Going concern and long-term viability

The Commitiee considered the Company’s
financial requirements and viability for the
forthcoming year, taking into account the
Company'’s performance and financial
posilion as at 31 May 2023. Its assessment
included a review of various downside
liquidity models with varying degrees of
decline ininvestment valuations, a review
of the level of undrawn commitments,
ongoing geopolitical uncertainties as a
result of the Russia—Ukraine conflict and
the impact of climate change on financia!
statement disclosures, including those
relating to principal risks. The Committee
also considered the impact of the approved
one-off £200million share buyback and

the impact of a further "automatic” share
buyback programme. As a result of this
assessment, the Committee concluded
that the Company had adequate resources
to continue in operation and meet its
liabilities as they fall due both for the
forthcoming year and over the subsequent
twoyears. Related going concernand
long-term viability disclosures are set
outon pages 125and 54 and Note 1
onpage 155.

D. Maintenance of investment
trust status

The Manager and Administralor have
reported to the Committee to confirm
continuing compliance with the
requirements for maintaining investment
trust status. The position is also discussed
with the Auditor as part of the audit process.
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E. Internal controls

The Audit Committee has reviewed

and updated, where appropriate, the
Company’s risk matrix. This document is
reviewed by the Audit Committee every
six months. It is satisfied with the extent,
frequency and quality of the reporting of
the Manager’s monitoring to enable the
Audit Committee to assess the degree of
control of the Company and the effect
with which risk is managed and mitigated.
The Audit Committee has received
reports on internal controls from each

of its service providers.

Noincidents of significant control failings
or weaknesses have been identified during
the year ended 31 May 2023, within the
Company or its third-party suppliers,
including Pantheon.

The Company does not have aninternal
audit function as substantially all of its
day-to-day operations are delegated to
third parties, all of whom have their own
internal control procedures. The Audit
Committee discussed whether it would be
appropriate to establish an internal audit
function and agreed that the existing
system of monitoring and reporting by third
parties remains appropriate and sufficient.

External audit

The Audit Committee monitors and
reviews the effectiveness of the external
audit process for the publication of the
Annual Report and makes recommendations
to the Board on the re-appointment,
remuneration and terms of engagement

of the Auditor.
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Audit fees

The audit fee incurred for the review of
the 2023 Annual Report and Audit was
£146,000 (31 May 2022: £105,000).

This increase in fees took place following
the expiry of a three-year agreement to
fix the level of audit fees. The Audit
Committee continues to monitor the
level of audit fees carefully.

Non-audit fees/independence and
objectivity of the Auditor

The Audit Committee reviews the scope
and nature of all proposed non-audit
services before engagement, to ensure
that the independence and objectivity of
the Auditor are safequarded. The Board's
policy is that non-audit services may be
carried out by the Company's Auditor
unless there is a conflict of interest or
someone else is consideredto have
more relevant experience.

Non-audit services amounting to £44,000
were provided during the year ended

31 May 2023 (31 May 2022: £35,000),
relating to the review of the Half-Yearly
Report. The ratio of non-audit to audit fees
is 30%. The Audit Committee believes that
it is appropriate for the Company’s Auditor
to provide these services to the Company
asthese services are audit-related.

The Audit Commitlee has received
assurances from the Auditor that its
independence is not compromised by
the supply of these services.

Strategic Report
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Effectiveness of external audit process

The Audit Committee meets at least twice
ayear with the Auditor. The Auditor
provides a planning report in advance of
the annual audit, a report on the annual
auditand a report on their review of the
half-year financial statements. The Audit
Committee has an opportunity to guestion
and challenge the Auditor in respect of
each of these reports. In addition, at least
once a year, the Audit Committee has an
opportunity to discuss any aspect of the
Auditor's work with the Auditor in the
absence of the Manager. After each audit,
the Audit Committee reviews the audit
process and considers its effectiveness.

Continuing appointment of the Auditor

EY was appointed as the Company’s
Auditor at the AGM in 2019 and this is
therefore the fourth audit of the Company’s
financial statements since its appointment.

Acompetitive tender must be carried out
bythe Company at least every 10 years.
The Company is therefore required to
carry out a tender no later than in respect
of the financial year ending 31 May 2029.
The current lead audit partner, Mr Matthew
Price, has beenin place since the
appointmentin 2019. Ethical standards
generally require the rotation of the

lead audit partner every five years for
alisted company.
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The Committee monitors the Company’s
relationship with the Auditor and

has discussed and considered their
independence and objectivity. The Auditor
also provides confirmation that they are
independent within the meaning of all
regulatory and professional requirements
and that objectivity of the audit is not
impaired. The Committee is therefore
satisfied thal EY was independent,
especially considering the term of
appointment to date, and will continue

1o monitor this position.

Following the completion of the audit, the

Commitiee reviewed EY's effectiveness by:

- Reviewing the overall audit process and
the audit procedures laken to address
theidentified principal issues;

- Considering feedback on the audit
provided by the Investment Manager
and Link Group; and

- Reviewing the experience and continuity
of the audit team, including the audit
partner.

The Committee has considered the
principal issues identified by the audit team
during the audit of the financial statements
for the year. The feedback provided by the
Investment Manager regarding the audit
team's performance on the audit was
positive. The Auditor demonstrated a good
understanding of the Company, and had
identified and focused on the areas of
greatest financial reporting risk. Its reporting
to the Audit Committee was clear, open
and thorough. The Commiittee is satisfied
that the Auditor has demonstrated
professional scepticism and appropriately
challenged management's judgements
relating to the valuations of unlisted
investments. The Committee acknowledged
that the audit team, including the audit
partner, comprised staff with appropriate

_levels of knowledge and experience of the

investment trust and private equity sectors.

Onthe basis of these factors and
assessments, the Committee has
concluded that the external audit process
has been effective. Taking into account
the performance and effectiveness of
the Auditor and the confirmation of
theirindependence, the Committee

has recommended to the Board thata
resolution to re-appoint EY as Auditor be
put to shareholders at the forthcoming
AGM. EY has confirmed its willingness
to continue in office.

CMA Order

The Company complied throughout

the year ended 31 May 2023 withthe
provisions of the Statutory Audit Services
Order 2014, issued by the Competition

- and Markets Authority (‘'CMA Order®).

1 Aabl

Fair, b d and under
As a result of the work performed, the Audit
Committee has concluded that the Annual
Report for the year ended 31 May 2023,

taken as a whole, is fair, batanced and

understandable and provides the
information necessary for shareholders
toassess the Company’s position and
performance, business model and
strategy, and has reported on these
findings to the Board.

DAVID MELVIN
Audit Committee Chair

2 August 2023
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

The Board has prepared this
report in accordance with the
requirements of the Large and
Medium Sized Companies
and Groups (Accounts and
Reports) (Amendment)
Regulations 2013.

Thelaw requires the Company's Auditor to
audit certain disclosures provided. Where
disclosures have been audiled, they are
indicated as such. The Auditor's opinion
isincluded inthe "Independent Auditor's
Report”on pages 142to 149.

Statement from the Chair

|am pleased to present the Directors’
Remuneration Report for the year ended
31 May 2023

Companies are required to ask
shareholders to approve the annual
Remuneration Report, which includes the
annual remuneration paid to Directors,
each year and formally to approve the
Directors’ Remuneration Policyona
three-yearly basis. Any change to the
Directors’ Remuneration Policy requires
shareholder approval. The vote onthe
Directors’ Remuneration Report is

an advisory vote, while the Directors’
Remuneration Policy is subjecttoa
binding vote.
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Aresolution to approve the Remuneration
Policy was last proposed and approved by
shareholders at the AGM of the Company
held on 18 October 2022. The Policy will
apply until itis next put to shareholders for
renewal of that approval at the Company's
AGM in 2025, unless any variations to the
policy are proposed prior to this. There will
be no significant change in the way that the
Remuneration Policy will be implemented
inthe course of the next financial year.

A resolution to approve the Remuneration
Report will be proposed at the AGM of the
Company to be held on 19 October 2023.

Directors’ fees for the year (audited)

The Board consists entirely of Non-Executive
Directors and the Company has no
employees. We have not, therefore,
reported onihose aspects of remuneration
that relate 1o Executive Directors.

Asexplained on page 133, itis not
considered appropriate for the Company
to establish a separate Remuneration
Committee. It is therefore the practice
for the Board as a whole to consider and
approve Directors’ remuneration.

Inaccordance with PIP’s Remuneration
Policy adopled on 18 October 2022, fees
for the Directors are increased annually,

effective from the first day of the
Company's financial year, at a rate no
greater than the rate of the Consumer
Price Index (“CPI") prevailing at the time.

In line with this policy, fees for the Direclors
were increased with effect from 1 June

2023 by 5%, which was below the prevailing
CPlwhichstood at 8.7% as at 31 May 2023.

Directors’ fees for the 12 months to 31 May .
2024 are as set out on page 140.

No travel expenses or any other expenses
were claimed by the Directors from the
Company during the year ended 31 May
2023 or as at the date of this Report.

Fees Percentage change (%)"
- Year to Yearto
31May2023  31May2022
£ £ 2022-2023 2021-2022  2020-2021
J.B.H.C.A. Singer CBE (Chair) 66,549 40,840 63%° 2% 10%
D.L. Melvin 56,785 53,603 6% 2% 36%*
J.D. Burgess 43,264 40,840 6% 2% 10%
M.A. Sieghart 46,520 40,840 14%° 2% 10%
Dame Sue Owen DCB 43,264 40,840 6% 2% 10%
T. Sakovska' .7,426 10,210 N/A N/A N/A
Sir Laurie Magnus CBE? 27477 66,365 N/A 2% 8%
Total 291,285 310,554
The he previ years. Fees for Directors who were during ayear apro-rata basls, in orderto provide a

9
meaningful figure.

aoswom o
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Ms Sakovskajoined the Board on 1 March 2022 and subsequently resigned on 22 July 2022,

Sir lLaurie Magnus CBE retired from the Board on 18 October 20272,

Mr Singer CBE was appointed as Chair of the Bu;ard on 18 October 2022, resulting in a higher fee from this date.

MrMelvin was appointed as Chair of the Audit Committee in April 2020, resulting in a higher fee from this date,

Ms Sieghart was appainted as Senior Independent Director from 18 Ociober 2022, resulting in ahigher fee from this date.
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Company performance

The graph below shows the total return to shareholders compared to the total shareholder
returns of the FTSE All-Share Total Return Index and MSCI World Total Return (Sterling)
Index. These indices have been selected as the most relevant, as there is no listed index
thatis directly comparable with the Company's portfolio.

Relative importance of spend on pay

The table below sets out, in respect of the financial year ended 31 May 2023 and
the preceding financial period, the tolal remuneration paid to Directors, the Management
fee and share buybacks and the percentage change between the two periods:

Yearto Year to
31May 2023 31 May 2022 Change
£000 £000 %
750% Total remuneration paid o Directors 291 3N (6%)
Management fee 27707 23115 20%
Share buybacks 19,559 10,302 90%
600% Note: the ftems listed in the table above are as required by the Large and Medium-sized C nd Groups
and Reporis) (Amendment) Regulaiions 2013 s5.20, with the exception of the management fee, which has been included
because the Directors believe that it will helj 3 of the rek; imporiance of the spend on pay.
The figures for this measure are the same as those shown in Note 3 to the financial statements.
450% Directors' interests (audited)
There is no requirement under the Company's Articles of Association or the terms of their
appointment for Directors to hold shares in the Company.
00% . ) ]
300% The interests of the Directors and any persons closely associated in the shares of the
Company as at 31 May 2023 (or date of retirement/resignationif earlier) are set out below:
150% 31May2023 31 May2022
o
P =" JB.H.C.A. Singer CBE (Chair) 399820 399,820
D.L. Melvin' 105,000 105,000
0 J.D. Burgess? 2,719,696 1,930,630
2 S o o % 9 e~ X o o oo Q M.A. Sieghart 37,250 37,250
S = 2 = = = = o
8 &« S R RLRRLIRKE KR Dame Sue Owen DCB 17,500 17,500
PIP FINANCIAL YEAR Sir Laurie Magnus?® 143,240 143,240
T. Sakovska* 1,557 1557

B PP Crdinary Share Price emmme FTSE All-Share Total Return
w— \SC| Wortd Total Return (Sterling)

1 Heldjointly with spouse.

2 Includes 2,319,876 shares held by The November 1990 Trust, a connected person.

3 SirLaurie Magnus CBE retired from the Board on 18 October 2022

4 Ms Sakovska joined the Board on 1 March 2022 and subsequently resigned on 22 July 2022.

There has been no change to the above interests between 31 May 2023 and the date of
this report. Ms Clements anddMr Welde, who have been appointed as Directors since the
year end, hold no shares inthe Company as at the date of this report.
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

Voting atthe AGM

The Direclors’ Remuneration Policy
and Remuneration Report for the year
ended 31 May 2022 were approved
by shareholders at the AGM held on
18 October 2022.

The votes cast by proxy were as follows:

Remuneration Report

Number %of
ofvotes  volescasl
For 287,850,320 99.99
Against 39,860 0.01
At Chair's .
discretion - N
Total votes cast 287,890,180 100.00
Number of
votes withheld 19,486 -
Remuneration Policy
Nurmber %ol
ofvoles  volescast
For 287,784,289 99.98
Against 54,330 0.02
At Chair's _ _
discretion
Total votes cast 287,838,619 100.00
Number of
votes withheld 71,047 -

Directors Remuneration Policy

The Directors’ Remuneration Policy

(the “Policy”) is putto shareholders’ vote
alleast once every three years and inany
year if there is 1o be a change in the Policy.
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A resolution to approve the Policy was
approved by shareholders at the AGM
held on 18 October 2022.

The Policy

The Board's policy is that remuneration of
Non-Executive Directors should reflect the
experience of the Board as a whole and is
determined with reference to comparable
organisations and appointments. The leve!
of remuneration has been setin order to
attractindividuals of a calibre appropriate
to the future development of the Company
and to reflect the specific circumstances
of the Company, the duties and
responsibilities of the Directors, and the
value and amount of time committed

to the Company’s affairs.

There are no performance conditions
attaching 1o the remuneration of the
Directors as the Board does not believe
that this is appropriate for Non-Executive
Directors. The Direclors do not receive
pension benefits, long-term incentive
schemes or share options.

All Directors act in a non-executive
capacity, and the fees for their services are
approved by the whole Board. The fees for
the Directors are determined within the
limits set out in the Company’s Articles of
Association, or any greater sum that may
be determined by ordinary resolution of
the Company.

Since 1 June 2021, fees for the Directors
areincreased annually, effective from the
first day of the Company's financial year
and, since the 2022 AGM, the increase

in Directors’ fees will be set at a rate no
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greater than the rate of CPI prevailing
atthe time, with any lower rate being
determined at the discretion of the Board.

The Chair does not participate inany
discussions relating to his own fee, which
is determined by the other Directors.

Directors are entitled to be paid all
travelling, hotel or other expenses properly
incurred by them in connection with their
attendance at Director or shareholder
meetings or otherwise in connection with
1he discharge of their duties as Directors.

No other additional fees are payable for
membership of the Board's Committees.

Fees for any new Direclor appointed will
be made on the above basis. Fees payable
in respect of subsequent years will be

determined following an annual CP| review,

with additional market reviews taking
place as appropriate to ensure fees
remain appropriate.

Expected
fees for
yearlo Yearlo
31May 31 May
2024 2023
Chair £84,000 £77117
Chair of the Audit
Commiitee £58534  £56,785
Senior Independent
Director £50,107 £46,520
QOther Directors £44,598 £43,264

* These fees have been calculated based on the higher,
CPllinked increase of 9.1% for the period of 1 June
2022 10 18 October 2022 and the fowerincrease of 4%
far the period from 19 October 2022 10 31 May 2023,
foltowing the adoption of the updated Remuneration
Policy atthe 2022 AGM.
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Directors’ service contracts

None of the Directors has a contract of
service wilh the Company. Each Director
has entered into terms of appointment as a
Non-Executive Director of the Company.
There has been no other contract or
arrangement between the Company and
any Director at any time during the year.
Under the Articles of Association, each
Director shall retire and be subject to
re-appointment at the first AGM following
appointment, and at least every three years
thereafter. After nine years' service, Directors
are subject to annual re-appointment.
Following the Company’s inclusionin the
FTSE 250, and in accordance with the AIC
Code, all Directors are subject toannual
re-election ateach AGM. There are no
agreements between the Company and its
Directors concerning compensation for
loss of office.

Any views expressed by shareholders on
the fees being paid to Directors would be
taken into consideration by the Board.

Approval

The Directors’ Remuneration Report was
approved by the Board of Directors and
signed oniits behalf by:

JOHN SINGERCBE
Chair

2 August 2023
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Directors’ Responsibility Statement

The Directors are responsible for prepaing
the Annual Report and the financial
statements in accordance with applicable
laws and regulations in accordance

with FRS102. Company law requires the
Directors to prepare financial statements
for each financial year. Under that law

they have elected to prepare the financial
statements in accordance with applicable
law and UK Accounting Standards (UK
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).
Under company law the Directors must not
approve the financial statements unless
they are satisfied that they give a true

and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company as at the end of each financial
year and of the profit or loss of the
Company for that period.

In preparing these financial statements,
the Directors are required {o:

- Present a true and fair view of the
financial position, financial performance
and cash flows of the Company;

- Select suilable accounting policies in
accordance with United Kingdom GAAP
and then apply them consistently;

- Present information, including
accounting policies, in a manner that
provides relevant, reliable, comparab e
and understandable information;

- Make judgements and estimates tha:
are reasonable and prudent;

- State whether applicable UK Accounting
Standards have been followed, subject
to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements;
and

- Prepare the financial statements on
agoing concern basis unless itis
inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping
adequale accounting records that are
sufficientto show and explain the
Company'’s transactions and disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Company and
enable them to ensure that the financial
statements comply with the Companies
Acl 2006. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Company
and hence for taking reasonable steps for
the prevention and detection of fraud and
otherirregularities.

The Directors are also responsible for
preparing the Strategic Report, the
Directors’ Report, the Directors’
Remuneration Report, the Corporate
Governance Statement and the Report of
the Audit Committee in accordance with
the Companies Act 2006 and applicable
regulations, including Lhe requirements
of the Listing Rules and the Disclosure
Guidance and Transparency Rules.

The Directors have delegated responsibility
to the Investment Manager for the
maintenance and integrily of the
Company's corporate and financial
information included on the Company's
website (www.piplc.com). Legislationin
the UK governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Each of the Directors, whose names are
listed on pages 121 t0 122, confirms that
tothe best of their knowledge:

- The financial statements, prepared in
accordance with applicable accounting
standards, give a true and fair view of the
assets, liabilities, financial position and
profitof the Company; and

The Strategic Report contained inthe
Annual Report and financial statements
includes a fair review of the development
and performance of the business and
the position of the Company, together
with a description of the principal risks
and uncertainties that it faces.

The UK Corporate Governance Code requires
Directors to ensure that the Annual Report
and financial statements are fair, balanced
and understandable. In order toreacha
conclusion on this matler, the Board has
requested that the Audit Committee advises
onwhether it considers that the Annual

Report and financial statements fulfil these
requirements. The process by which the
Audit Committee has reachedthese
conclusions is set out inits reporton

pages 13510 137. Asaresult, the Board

has concluded that the Annual Report and
financial statements for the year ended

31 May 2023, taken as a whole, is fair,
balanced and understandable and provides
the information necessary for shareholders
toassessthe Company's positionand
performance, business model and strategy.

Signed on behalf of the Board by

JOHN SINGER CBE
Chair

2 August 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Pantheon International Plc

Opinion

We have audiled the financial statements
of Pantheon International plc (the
“Company’) for the year ended 31 May
2023 which comprise the Income
Statement, the Statement of Changes

in Equity, the Balance Sheet, the Cash

Flow Statement, and the related notes 1

t0 23, including a summary of significant
accounting policies. The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in their
preparation is applicable law and United
Kingdom Accounting Standards including
FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the UK and Republic of
Ireland” (United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion, the financial statements:

— give atrueand fair view of the Company's
affairs as at 31 May 2023 and of its profit
forthe year then ended;

— have been properly prepared inaccordance
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice; and

~ have been prepared in accordance with
the requirements of the Companies
Act2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance
with International Standards on Auditing
(UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law.

Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report.

142 1

We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Company in
accordance with the ethical requirements
1hat are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, including the
Financial Reporting Council's Ethical
Standard as applied to public interest
entities, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities inaccordance with
these requirements.

The non-audit services prohibited by the
FRC's Ethical Standard were not provided
to the Company and we remainindependent
of Company in conducting the audit.

Conclusions relating to going
concern

In auditing the financial statements, we
have concluded that the Directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting in
the preparation of the financial statements
is appropriate. Our evaluation of the
Directors’ assessment of the Company’s
ability to continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting included:

- We confirmed our understanding of the
Company’s going concern assessment
process and engaged with the Directors
and the Company Secretary to determine
if all key factors were considered in
1heir assessment.
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— Weinspected the Directors’ assessment
of going concern, including the portfolio
cashflow forecast, for the periods
covering at least twelve months from
the date the financial statements were
authorised for issue. In preparing
the portfolio cashflow forecast, the
Company has concludedthat it is able
to continue to meet its ongoing costs
asthey fall due.

- We have reviewed the factors and
assumptions as applied to the portfolio
cashflow forecast and the liquidity
assessment of the investment portfolio.
We considered the appropriateness
of the methods used to calculate the
portfolio cashflow forecast and the
liquidity assessment and determined,
through testing of the methodology
and calculations, that the methods,
inputs and assumptions utilised were
appropriate to be able to make an
assessment for the Company.

— Inrelation to the Company’s borrowing
arrangements, we inspected the
Directors' assessment of the risk of
breaching the loan facility covenants as
aresult of areduction in the value of the
Company's portfolio. We recalculated
the Company's complidnce with loan
facility covenants in the scenarios
assessed by the Directors who also
performed reverse stress testingin
order to identify what factors would
lead to the Company breachingthe
financial covenants.

Strategic Report

— We considered the mitigating factors
included in the portfolio cashflow
forecasts and covenant calculations that
are within the control of the Company.

- We reviewed the Company’s going
concerndisclosures included inthe
annual report in order to assess that
the disclosures were appropriate and in
conformity with the reporting standards.

Based onthe work we have performed,
we have not identified any material
uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively,
may cast significant doubt on the
Company's abilily to continue as a going
concern for the period10 2 August 2024.

In relation to the Company's reporting on
how they have applied the UK Corporate
Governance Code, we have nothing
materialto add or draw attentiontoin
relation to the Directors’ statement in
the financial statements about whether
1he Directors considered it appropriate
to adopt the going concern basis

of accounting.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities
of the Direclors with respect to going
concern are described in the relevant
sections of this report. However, because
not all future events or conditions can be
predicted, this statement is not a guarantee
as to the Company's ability to continue as
agoing concern.

Manager’s Review Financial Statements

Other Information



Overview of our audit approach

Key audit
matters

- Risk ofincorrect valuation of unlisted investments at fair value.

- Incorrectvaluation of investments in third party managed funds and

co-investment vehicles which are audited on an annual basis and for which
periodic fair vaiue information is provided to the Company.

- Incorrect valuation of investments in co-investment vehicles or third-party
funds which are not audited on an annual basis.

- Incorrect valuations of investments in funds and entities managed by
Pantheon Ventures (UK) LLP (‘Pantheon’).

Materiality

~ Overall materiality of £24.5m whichrepresents 1% of shareholders’ funds.

An overview of the scope of our audit
Tailoring the scope

Our assessment of audit risk, our
evaluation of materiality and our allocation
of performance materiality determine our
audit scope for the Company. This enables
us to form an opinion on the financial
statements. We take into account size, risk
profile, the organisation of the Company
and effectiveness of controls, the potential
impact of climate change and changesin
the business environment when assessing
the level of work to be performed.

Climate change

Stakeholders are increasingly interested in
how climate change willimpact Pantheon
International plc. The Company has
determined that the most significant
future impacts from climate change ori

its operations may be from changes in
regulations that may adversely affect their
underlying portfolio investments. Their
approach 1o managing climate and other
ESG risks as part of managing investment
risk is explained on page 48 of the Strategic
Report, which form part of the "Other
information”, rather than the audited
financial stalements. Qur procedures on
these disclosures therefore consisted
solely of considering whether they are
materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in
the course of the audit or otherwise appear
to be materially misstated, in line with our
responsibilities on “Other information”.

In planning and performing our audit we
assessed the potential impacts of climate
change on the Company's business and
any consequential materialimpact on its
financial statements.

Our audit efforlin considering climate
change was focused on the adequacy of
the Company's disclosures in the financial
statementsas setoutinnote 1 and
conclusion that there was no material
impact from climate change onthe
financial statements. We also challenged
the Directors’ considerations of climate
change in their assessment of viability
and associated disclosures.

Based on our work we have not identified
the impact of climate change onthe
financial statements to be a key audit
matter or 1o impact a key audit matter.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that,
in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the financial
statements of the current period and
include the most significant assessed
risks of material misstatement (whether
or not due to fraud) that we identified.
These matters included those which had
the greatest effect on: the overall audit
strategy, the allocation of resources in

the audit; and directing the efforts of the
engagement team. These matters were
addressed inthe context of our audit of the
financial statements as a whole, and in our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Pantheon International Plc

Risk

Ourresponse to therisk

Key observations communicated
to the Audit Committee

Incorrect valuation of unlisted investments
at fair value (£2,416m, 2022: £2,236m)

Referto the Audit Committee Report (page 135); Accounting policies
(page 155); and Note 9 of the Financial Statements (page 163).

The unlisted investment portfolio represents 99% of the Net Asset
Value (NAV) of the Company and consists of investments in:

- Third party managed funds
- Funds or entities managed by Pantheon

Within this investment portfolio are a pool of investments attributed
tothe Company’s Asset Linked Note liability of £31m (2022: £39m).

The valuation of the assets held in the investment portfolio is the key
driver of the Company’s net asset value and total return. Incorrect
investmentvaluation could have a significantimpact on the return
generated by the shareholders.

We attribute a higher risk of estimation uncertainty to a portfolio of
this nature. We therefore deem the valuation of unlisted investments
atfairvalue to be a fraud and significant audit risk.

We have further analysed the unlisted investment portfolio into
three categories where specific audit procedures are performed in
addition to the general audit procedures on unlisted investments to
reflect the risk associated.

We performed the following procedures:

We obtained an understanding of Pantheon's processes and controls surrounding the
investment valuaticn process including controls that are in place withinthe Company
and operated or performed by Pantheon by performing a walkthrough to assess the
design and implementation of controls in place.

We performed the following procedures for a sample of investments across all type of
investments:

— We obtained the most recently available capital allocation statements or direct
confirmations independently from the general partner and compared the NAV of the
investment attributable to the Company to the valuation per the accounting records.

— Where the most recently available capital allocation statements were non-coterminous
with the reporting date, we obtained details of adjustments for cash flows and fair
value made by Pantheon and corroborated these to call and distribution notices and
bank statements.

- Forasample of new investments during the year, we have obtained and reviewed the
due diligence performed by Pantheon to ensure that the investment recommendation
pack was appropriately completed prior to making new investments.

- Forasample of realised investments during the year, we agreed the proceeds of the
disposal to the capital account statements and performed back testing by comparing
the sale price and subsequent cashreceipts to the most recent valuationrecorded by
the Company for the investment.

- Wereviewed the investment valuations and inquired of Pantheon regarding any
potential fair value adjustments as a result of updated information received or
observable market movements and obtained evidence to confirm these were
immaterial to the Company’s financial statements,

We noted that management recognised a £1.2m adjustment over the valuations of
investments with listed underlying investments and where the most recent GP
valuation was as at March 2023. We obtained an understanding of the adjustrment
posted and performed audit procedures to assess share price movements aligned
tothe investment portfolio over the period March 2023 to May 2023.

Theresults of our procedures
identified no material misstatement
in relation to the risk of incorrect
valuation of unlisted investments

at fairvalue.
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Risk

Ourresponse to therisk

Key observations communicated
to the Audit Committee

Investments in third party managed funds
and co-investment vehicles which are
audited on an annual basis and for which
periodic fair value information is provided
to the Company (£1,987m, 2022: £1,847m)

The investment portfolio is susceptible to material error due tothe
investments being unquoted with no market price available and
management relying on third party information.

Additional procedures on investments in third party
managed funds and co-investments which are audited
on an annual basis and for which periodic fair value
information is provided to the Company

We have obtained the most recent audited financial statements for a sample of these
unlistedinvestments. Our sampleincluded the testing of 198 investments, totalling
£1,570m. We performed the following procedures where applicable:

- Inspected the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (‘GAAP") applied and
reviewed accounting policies on key areas impacting the NAV and compared these
tothe fair vatue requirements per FRS102.

Compared the NAV per the audited financial statements to the capital account
statements which are coterminous with the financial statements’ year end date fora
sample of investments with balances which are above our performance materiality.

- Determined whether the audit firm signing the financial statements was a
recognised audit firm and checked whether there were any modifications made to
their audit reports. .

Theresults of our procedures
identified no material misstatement
inrelation to the risk of incorrect
valuation of unlisted investments

at fair value.

s

Investments in third party managed
funds and co-investment vehicles which
are not audited on an annual basis
(£133m, 2022: £159m)

Pantheon obtains the underlying data from the investment
managers of these third-party funds or co-investment vehicles.
Pantheon apply the Company's vaiuation pol cy and conclude
whether key assumptions used in valuing these assets are
reasonable. We consider the risk of management override to
bemore prevalent inthis area.

Additional procedures on investments in third party
managed funds and co-investment vehicles which are
not audited on an annual basis

Where the investments in third party managed funds or co-investments were not
audited on an annual basis:

— We obtained the fair value calculations supporting the value held by the Company and,

where applicable, agreed key inputs to the supporting evidence.

- Forinvestment vehicles with audited sponsor funds, we have inspected the GAAP
applied by the sponsor fund and reviewed accounting policies onkey areasimpacting
the NAV and compared these to the fair value requirements per FRS102.

Our sampleincluded testing of 15investments, totalling £117m, which did nothave an”
audit performed either for the investment vehicle itself or a significant portion of its
underlying heldings. .

Theresults of cur procedures
identified no material misstatement
in refation to the risk of incorrect
vatuation of unfisted investments

at fairvalue.

Pantheon International Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023 | 145



Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Pantheon International Pic

Risk

Ourresponse to therisk

Key observations communicated
to the Audit Committee

Investments in other funds and
entities managed by Pantheon
(£296m, 2022: £264m)

Where the Company invests in other entities managed by Pantheon,
there is an increased risk the fund fair values are susceptible to
manipulation due to the related party relationship as Pantheonis
performing the valuation.

Additional procedures on investments held in other funds
and entities managed by Pantheon

Fora sample of investments in Pantheon managed funds which are audited, we

have obtained the most recent audited set of financial statements where available.

Our samples included testing of 10investments which had audited financial statements
within the structure, totalling £178m, and 11 investments, totalling £93m, from internally
managed funds which do not have annually audited financial statements. We performed
the following procedures where applicable:

- Inspected the GAAP applied and reviewed accounting policies on key areas impacting
the NAV and compared these to the fair value requirements per FR$102.

- Compared the NAV per the audited financials to the capital account statements
which are coterminous with the financial statements’ year end date for a sample of
investments.

- Determined whether the audit firm signing the financial statements was a recognised
audit firm and checked whether there were modifications made to their audit report.

Forunaudited investments, we have performed a look through into the investments
held by the entity to determine whether the underlying holdings were subject to audit.
For those that are audited, we have inspected the GAAP applied by the underlying
holdings and reviewed accounting policies on key areasimpacting the NAV and
compared these to the fair value requirements per FRS102.

- Where theinternally managed fund andits underlying investments are not audited, we
have obtained the fair value calculations supporting the value held by the Company
and, where applicable, agreed key inputs to the supporting evidence.

Theresults of our procedures
identified no material misstatement
inrelation to the risk of incorrect
valuation of unlisted investments

at fair value.
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Our application of materiality

We apply the concept of materiality in
planning and performing the audit,
inevaluating the effect of identified
misstatements onthe auditandin
forming our audit opinion.

Materiality

The magnitude of an omission or
misstatement that, individually or in the
aggregate, could reasonably be expected
toinfluence the economic decisions of
the users of the financial statements.
Materiality provides a basis for
determining the nature and extent

of our audit procedures.

We determined materiality for the Company
to be £24.5 million (2022: £24.2 million),
whichis 1% (2022: 1%) of shareholders
funds. We believe that shareho'ders’ funds
provide us with materiality aligned to the key
measure of Lhe Company’s performance.

During the course of our audit, we
reassessed initial materiality and made no
changes to the basis of calculation from our
original assessment at the planning stage.

Performance materiality

The application of materiality at the
individual account or balance level.
Itis set at anamount to reduce to an
appropriately low level the probability
that the aggregate of uncorrected
and undetected misstatements
exceeds materiality.

Onthe basis of our risk assessments,
together with our assessment of the
Company’s overall control environment,
our judgement was that performance
materiality was 75% (2022: 75%) of our
planning materiality, namely £18.4m
(2022: £18.2m). We have set performance
materiality at this percentage due toour
understanding of the contro! environment
thatindicates a fower risk of material
misstatements, both corrected and
uncorrected.

Reporting threshold

An amount below which identified
misstatements are considered as being
clearly trivial.

We agreed wilh the Audit Committee that
we would report to them all uncorrected
audit differences in excess of £1.23m
(2022: £1.21m), which is set at 5% of
planning materiality, as well as differences
below that threshold that, in our view,
warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

We evaluate any uncorrected
misslatements against both the
quantitative measures of materiality
discussed above and in light of other
relevant qualitative considerations in
forming our opinion.

Otherinformation

The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report,
other than the financial statements and our
auditor's report thereon. The Directors are
responsible for the other information
contained within the annual report.

Qur opinion on the financial statements
does not cover the other information and,
except o the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in this report, we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Qur responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial stalements
or our knowledge obtained in the course
of the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If we identify such
material inconsistencies or apparent
material misstatements, we are required
1o determine whether this givesriseto a
material misstatement in the financial
statements themselves. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of
the other information, we are required to
report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed
by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited has
been properly prepared in accordance
with the Companies Act 2006.

In our opinion, based on the work
undertaken in the course of the audit:

- theinformation given inthe Strategic
report and the Directors’ report for the
financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent
with the financial statements; and

- the Strategic report and Directors’
reports have been preparedin
accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

Matters on whichwe are required to
report by exception

Inthe light of the knowledge and
understanding of the Company and its
environment obtained in the course of
the audit, we have not identified material
misstatements in the strategic report or
Directors’report.

We have nothing to reportin respect of the
following matters in relation to which the
Companies Act 2006 requires us to report
toyouif, in our opinion:

- adequate accounting records have not
been kept, or returns adequate for our
audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or

- the financial statements and the part of
the Directors’ Remuneration Report to
be audited are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns; or

- certain disclosures of Directors’
remuneration specified by law are not
made; or

- we have not received all the information
and explanations we require for our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Pantheon International Plc

Corporate Governance Statement

We have reviewed the Directors’ statement
inrelation to going concern, longer-term
viability and that part of the Corporate
Governance Statement relating to the
Company’s compliance with the provisions
ofthe UK Corporate Governance Code
specified for our review by the Listing
Rules.

Based on the work undertaken as part of
our audit, we have concluded that each of
the following elements of the Corporate
Governance Statement is materially
consistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained during the audit:

- The Directors’ statement with regards
to the appropriateness of adopting the
going concern basis of accounting and
any material uncertainties identified set
outon page 125;

~ The Directors’ explanation as to its
assessment of the Company's
prospects, the period this assessment
covers and why the period is appropriate
set outon page 54;

- The Director’s statement on whether it
has a reasonable expectlation that the
Company will be able to continue in
operation and meetsits liabilities set
outon page 125;

148 |

- The Directors’ statement on fair,
balanced and understandable set out
onpage 141;

- The Board's confirmation that it has
carried out a robust assessment of the
emerging and principal risks set outon
page 44; .

- The section of the annual report that
describes the review of effectiveness of
risk management and internal control
systems set out on page 133;and

- The sectlion describing the work of the
Audit Committee set out on page 135.

R ibilities of Di ]

P

As explained more fully in the Directors’
responsibilities statement set out on

page 141, the Directlors are responsible for
the preparation of the financial statements

and for being satisfied that they giveatrue ~

and fair view, and for such internal control
as lhe Direclors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud
orerror.

In preparing the financial statements, the
Directors are responsible for assessing the
Company’s ability to continue as agoing
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless
the Direclors either intend to liquidate the
Company or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative buttodo so.
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Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of
thefinancial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that
anaudit conducted inaccordance with
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material
misstatement whenitexists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

Explanation as to what extent the audit
was considered capable of detecting
irregularities, including fraud

irregularities, including fraud, are instances

of non-compliance with laws and regulations.

We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect
irregularities, including fraud. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement
dueto fraud is higher than the risk of not
detecting one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve deliberate concealment
by, for example, forgery or intentional
misrepresentations, or through collusion.
The extent to which our procedures are
capable of detecting irregularities,
including fraud is detailed betow.

Strategic Report

Manager's Review

However, the primary responsibility for the
prevention and detection of fraud rests
with both those charged with governance
of the Company and management.

— We obtained an understanding of the
legal and regulatory frameworks that
are applicable 1o the Company and
determined that the most significant are
the Companies Act 2006, the Listing
Rules, the UK Corporate Governance
Code, the Association of Investment
Companies’ Code and Statement of
Recommended Practice, Section 1158
of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 and The
Companies (Miscellaneous Reporting)
Regulations 2018.

We understood how the Company is
complying with those frameworks through
discussions with the Audit Committee
and the Company Secretary and a review
of Board minutes and the Company’s
documented policies and procedures.

— We assessed the susceptibility of the
Company's financial statements to
material misstatement, including how
fraud might occur by considering the key
risks impacting the financial statements.
We identified a fraud risk with respect
to management override in relation to
investments in funds and entities managed
by Pantheon and investments in third
parly managed funds and co-investment
vehicles which are not audited onan
annual basis. Further discussion of our
approach is set out in the section on the
key audit matters above. In addition,
we performed tests of journal entries,
focusing on unusual and year-end
manual journals.

Financial Statements

Other Information



- Based on this understanding we
designed our audit procedures to identify
non-compliance with such laws and
regulations. Our procedures involved
areview of the Company Secretary's
reporting to the Directors with respect
to the application of the documented
poficies and procedures and review of
the flinancial statements to confirm
compliance with the reporting
requirements of the Company.

A further description of our responsibilities
for the audit of the financial statements is
located onthe FRC's website at https://
www frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.
This description forms part of our
auditor’s report.

Other matters we are required to address

Following the recommendation from
the Audit Committee, we were appointed
by the Company on 2 December 2019

to audit the financial stalements for

the year ending 31 May 2020 and
subsequent financial periods.

The period of total uninterrupted
engagement including previous
renewals and reappointments is 4 years,
covering the years ending 31 May 2020
to 31 May 2023.

The audit opinionis consistent with the
additional report to the Audit Committee.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Company's
members, as a body, inaccordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act
2006. Our audit work has been undertaken
sothat we might state to the Company's
members those matters we are required

to state to theminan auditor's repertand
for other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than
the Company and the Company’s members
as a body, for our audit work, for this report,
or for the opinions we have formed.

MATTHEW PRICE
(SENIOR STATUTORY AUDITOR)

- forand on behalf of

Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor

London
2 August 2023
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Income Statement

Statement of Changes in _Equity
Balance Sheet

Cash Flow Statement

Notesto the Financial Statements
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Income Statement Year ended 31 May 2023

Year Ended 31 May 2023 Year Ended 31 May 2022

Revenue Capital Total' Revenue Capitat Total'

Note £000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000

Gains on invesiments at fair va ue through profit or loss % - 50,885 50,885 - 570,049 570,049
(Losses)/gains on financial instruments at fair value through profit or foss = ALN (856) 4,240 3,384 (305) (3123) (3.428)
Currency gains on cash and cash equivalents 16 - 9179 9179 - 19,564 19,564
Investment income 2 18,084 - 18,084 19,169 - 19,169
Invesiment management fees 3 (27.707) - (27,707) (23.115) - (23115)
Other expenses 4 (2,059) (1,625) (3.684) (1.274) (1,326) (2,600)
. Return before financing and taxation (12,538) 62,679 50141 (5.525) 585164 579,639
Interest payable and similar expenses 6 (6.366) - (6.366) (3967) - (3.967)
Return before taxation (18904) 62,679 43,775 (9.492) 585,164 575,672
Taxation paid 7 (1,494) - (1,494) (3.075) - (3075)
Return for the year, being total comprehensive income for the year (20,398) 62,679 42,281 (12,567) 585,164 572,597
Return per ordinary share 8 (3.83)p 177p 794p (2.32)p 108.38p 106.06p

1 The Company does not have any incorne or expenses that are not included in the return for the year, therefore the return for the year is also the total
under guidance published in the Statement of Recommended Practice ("SORP*)issued by the Association of Investment Companies ("AIC").

All revenue and capital items in the relaieto inui No were acquired or

Thetotal column of the statement represents the Company of Total Compi ive Income prep:

The Notes on pages 15510 176 form part of these financlal statements.

during the period.
ith Financial Reporting Standards ("FRS").

fortheyear. T
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Statement of Changes in Equity Year ended 31 May 2023

Capital
Capital Other reserve on
Share Share redemption capital investments Revenue
capital premium reserve reserve held reserve Total
Note £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000
Movement for the year ended 31 May 2023
Opening equity shareholders’ funds 36,012 269,535 3,553 1,556,346 674,875 (112,857) 2,427,464
Return for the year - - - 83,859 (21,180) (20,398) 42,281
Ordinary shares bought back for cancellation 15 (509) - 509 (19,673) - - (19,673)
Closing equity shareholders’ funds 35,503 269,535 4,062 1,620,532 653,695 (133.2585)  2.450,072
Movement for the year ended 31 May 2022
Qpening equily shareholders' funds 36,240 269,535 3,325 976,685 679,736 (100,290) 1,865,231
Return for the year . - - - 590,025 (4.861) (12,567) 572,597
Ordinary shares bought back for cancellation 15 (228) - 228 (10,364) - - (10.364)
Closing equity shareholders’ funds 36,012 269,535 3,553 1,556,346 674,875 (112,857) 2,427464

The Notes on pages 155 to 176 form part of these financlal statemenis.
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Balance Sheet As at 31 May 2023

31May 2023 31 May 2022

Note £000 £000
Fixed assets
Invesiments at fair value 9a/b 2,417,620 2,238,608
Current assets
Deblors 1 2347 2123
Cash and cash equivalents 12 66,043 231,458
68,390 233,581
Creditors: Amounts falling due withinone year
Other creditors 13 (4,617) 6.138)
(4.617) 6.138)
Net current assets 63773 227443
Total assets less current liabilities 2,481,393 2,466,051
Creditors: Amounts falling due after cne year
Asset Linked Loan Note (‘ALN"} 1 (31,321) (38,587)
(31,321) (38,587)
Net assets 2,450,072 2,427,464
Capital and reserves
Called-up share capital : 15 35,503 36,012
Share premium . 16 269,535 269,535
Capilal redemption reserve 16 4,062 3,553
Other capital reserve ) 16 1,620,532 1,556,346
 Capital reserve on investments held 1 653,695 674,875
Revenue reserve . - 16 (133,255) (112,857)
Total equity shareholders’ funds 2,450,072 2,427,464
Net asset value per Ordinary share 17 462.37p 451.63p

The Notes on pages 15510176 form part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Pantheon International Plc on 02 August 2023 and were authorised forissue by

JOHN SINGER CBE \
Chair %
— —

Company No. 2147984 -
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Cash Flow Statement Year ended 31 May 2023

Yearended Year ended
31 May 2023 31 May 2022
Note £000 £000
Cash flow from operating activities
Investment income received — comprising:
- Dividend income 12,325 17.692
- Interest income 4756 1,302
- Other investment income n 163
Deposit and other interest received 780 28
Invesiment management fees paid (27,586) (22,637)
Secretarial fees paid (354 (300)
Deposilary fees paid (284) (254)
Direclors' fees paid (303) (307)
Legal & Professional fees paid (1,996) (1.707)
Other cash payments’ (1.036) (804)
Withholding tax deducled (1,502) (3.626)
Net cash outflow from operating activities 19 (14,989) (10,450)
Cash flows from investing activities .
Purchases of investments? (289,020) (352,620)
Disposals of investments* 161,168 402,700
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities (127.852) 50,080
Cash flows from financing activities
ALN repayments (5.035) (13,786)
Ordinary shares bought back for cancellation (19,678) (10,360)
Loan commitment and arrangement fees paid (7.071) (2.853)
Net cash outflow from financing activities (31,784) (26,999)
(Decrease)/increasein cashin the year (174,625) 12,631
Cashand cash equival, at the beginning of the year 231,458 199118
Foreign exchange gains 9,210 19,709
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 12 66,043 231,458

1 Includesinerestpaid during the year of £22,000 (2622: £96,000).

2 Purchases and disposals do not include investments actioned by Pantheon International Holdings LP.

The Notes on pages 15510 176 form part of these financial siatements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 Accounting Policies

PIPis a listed public limited company incorporated in England and Wales. The registered office
is detailed on page 186. A summary of the principal accounting policies and measurement
bases, all of which have been applied consistently throughout the year, is set out below.

A.Basis of Preparation

The Company’s financial statements have been prepared in compliance with FRS 102 as it
appliesto the financial stalements of the Company for the year ended 31 May 2023. They have
also been prepared on the assumption 11at approval as an investment trust will continue 10

be granted. The Company's financial statements are presented in sterling and all values

are rounded to the nearest thousand pounds (£'000) except whenindicated otherwise.

The invesiments in the subsidiaries are financial assets, and held at fair value through
profitorloss.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the SORP for the financial
statements of investment lrust companies and venture capital trusts issued by the AIC, other
than where restrictions are imposed on the Company which prohibit specific disclosures.

B. Going Concern

The financial stalements have been predared on a going concern basis and under the
historical cost basis of accounting, mocified to include the revaluation of certain assets at
fair value.

The Directors have made an assessment of going concern, taking into account the
Company's current performance and financial position as at 31 May 2023. In addilion, the
Directors have assessed the outlook, which considers the potential furtherimpact of the
ongoing geopolitical unceriainties as a result of the Russia-Ukraine conflict including the
disruplion to the global supply chain and increases in the cost of living as a result of this
conflict, persistent inflation, interest rate rises and the impacl of climate change on PIP's
porifolio using the information available as at the date of issue of these financial statements.
As part of this assessment the Directors considered:

- Various downside liquidity modelling scenarios with varying degrees of declinein
investment valuations, decreased investment distributions, and increased call rates,
wilh the worst being a low case downside scenario representing an impact o the portfolio
that is worse than that experienced d uring the Global Financial Crisis.

- The Company manages and monitors liquidity regularly ensuring it is adequate and
sufficient and is underpinned by its monitoring of investmenis, distributions, capital calls
and outstanding commitments. Total available financing as at 31 May 2023 stood at
£554m (31 May 2022: £528m), comprising £63m (31 May 2022: £227m) in available cash
balances and £491m in undrawn, sterling equivalent, bank facilities (31 May 2022: £301m).

- PIP's 31 May 2023 valuationis primarily based on reported GP valuations with a reference
date of 31 March 2023, updated for capital movements and foreign ekchange impacts.
As the longer-term impacts of the ongoing geopoliticaluncertainties as a result of the
Russia~Ukraine conflict and ihe impact of climate change may not be fully apparent,
the Directors have considered the impact that declining valuations could have onthe
Company's going concern assessment. The Directors have also considered the impact
of climate change on PIP’s portfolio and have come to the conclusion that there is no
significant impact on the Company as a result of climate change.

Unfunded commitments - PiP's unfunded commitments at 31 May 2023 were £857m

(31 May 2022: £755m). The Directors have considered the maximum level of unfunded
commitments which could theoretically be drawn in a 12-month period, the ageing of
commitments and available financing to fulfil these commitments. in these scenarios

PIP cantake steps to limit or mitigate the impact on the Balance Sheet, namely drawing

on the credit facility, pausing on new commitments, seffing assets to increase liquidity and
reducing outstanding commilments if necessary. In addition, subject to market conditions,
the Company could also seek to raise additional debt or equity capital.

- Share buybacks - The Directors have considered the impact of the approved one-off
£200million share buyback and the impact of a further “automatic® share buyback
programme, the amount of which will be determined by net portfolio inflows and the
prevailing level of discount.

Having performed the assessment on going concern, the Directors considered it appropriate
to prepare the financial statements of the Company on a going concern basis. The Company
has sufficient financial resources and liquidity, is well placed 1o manage business risks inthe
current economic environment and can continue operations for a period of at least 12 months
from the date of issue of these financial statements.

C. Segmental Reporting

The Directors are of the opinion that the Company is engaged in a single segment of business,
being an investment business. Consequently no business segmental analysis is provided.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 Accounting Policies

D. Valuation of Investments

Giventhe nature of the Company's assets which comprise predominantly unlisted fund
investments, while the Company operates a robust and consistent valuation process,
there s significant estimation uncertainty in the underlying fund valuations which are
estimated at a point in time. Accordingly, while the Company considers circumstances
where it might be appropriate to apply an override, for instance in response to amarket
crash, this will be exercised only where it is judged necessary to reflect fair value.

Similarly, while relevant information relating to but received after the measurement dateis
considered, the Directors will only consider an adjustment 1o the financial statements if it were
to have a significant impact and is indicative of conditions present at the measurement date.

The Company has fully adopted sections 11 and 12 of FRS 102. Allinvestments held by the
Company are classified as “fair value through profit or loss®. As the Company's business
isinvesting in financial assets with a view to profiting from their total return in the form of
interest, dividends or increases in fair value, invesiments are recognised at fair value on
initial recognition.

The Company manages and evaluates the performance of these investments on a fair value
basis in accordance with its invesiment strategy. For investments actively traded in organised
financial markets, fair value is generally determined by reference 1o stock exchange quoted
market bid prices at the close of business at the Balance Sheet date. Forinvesiments thal

are nol aclively traded in organised financial markets, fair value is determined using reliable
valuation technigues as described below:

i.Unquoted fixed assetinvestments are stated at the estimated fair value

Inthe case of investmenits in private equity funds, this is based on the net asset value of those
funds ascertained from periodic valuations provided by the managers of the funds and
recorded up 1o the measurement date. Such valuations are necessarily dependent upon the
reasonableness of the valuations by the fund managers of the underlying investments. in the
absence of contrary information, the values are assumed o be reliable. These valuations are
reviewed periodically for reasonableness and recorded up to the measurement date. I aclass
of assels were sold posl-period end, management would consider the effect, if any, on the
investment portfolio.
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The Company may acquire secondary interests al either a premium or a discount to the
fundmanager’s valuation. Within the Company's portfolio, those fund holdings are normally
revalued totheir stated net asset values at the next reporting date unless an adjustment
against a specificinvestment is considered appropriate.

The fairvalue of each investment is derived at each reporting date. Inthe case of direct
investmentsinunquoted compa nies, the initial valuation is based on the transaction price.
Where further indications of fair value become available, such as through subsequent issues
of capilal or dealings between third parties, the valuation is adjusted to reflect the new
evidence, at each reporting date. This information may include the valuations provided by
private equity managers who are also invested inthe Company.

ii. Quoted investments are valued at the bid price on the relevant stock exchange

Privatle equity funds may contain a proportion of quoted shares from time to time, for example
where the underlying company investments have been taken public but the holdings have not
yet been sold. The quoted market holdings at the date of the latest fund accounts are reviewed
and adjusted to the published prices of those holdings at the period end.

E. Asset Linked Note

As parl of the share consolidation effected on 31 October 2017, the Company issued an ALN
with an initial principal amount of £200m to the Investor. Payments under the ALN are made
quarterlyinarrears and are linked to the ALN share (¢.75%) of the net cash flows from a
reference portfolio which consists of interests held by the Company in over 300 of its oldest
private equity funds, substantially 2006 and earlier vintages. The Company retains the net
cash flows relating to the remaining ¢.25% of 1the reference portfolio.

The ALN is held at fair value through profit or loss and therefore movements in fair value are
reflected in the Income Statement. Fair value is calculated as the sum of the ALN share of fair
value of the reference portfolio plus the ALN share of undistributed net cash flow. The fair
value movement is allocated between revenue and capital pro rata to the fair value gains and
income-generated movements in the reference portfolio.

Aprorata share of the Company's total ongoing charges is allocated 10 the ALN, reducing
each quarterly payment (“the Expense Charge”) and deducted from Other Expenses through
the revenue account inthe Income Statement.

The ALN’s share of net cash flow is calculated after withholding taxation suffered. These
amounis are deducted from taxation through the revenue account in the Income Statement.

See Note 14 for further information.
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1 Accounting Policies

F.lncome
Dividends receivable on quoled equity shares are brought into account on the ex-dividend date.

Dividends receivable on equily shares where no ex-dividend date is quoted are brought into
account when the Company's right to receive payment is established. The fixed returnona
debt securily is recognised on a time apportionment basis.

Income distributions from funds are recognised when the right to distributions is established.

G. Taxation

Corporation tax payable is based on the taxable profit for the period. The charge for1axation
lakes into account 1axation deferred or accelerated because of timing differences between
1he treatment of certain items for accounting and taxation purposes. Full provision for
deferred taxation is made under the liability method, without discounting, on all timing
differences that have arisen but not reversed by the Balance Sheet date.

The tax effect of different items of income/gain and expenditure/loss is allocaled belween
capitaland revenue on the same basis as the particular item 1o which it relates, using the
marginal method.

Dividends receivable are recognised at anamount that may include withholding tax
(but excludes othertaxes, such as attributable tax credits). Any withholding tax suffered
is shown as part of the revenue account tax charge.

Deferredtax is not provided on capital gains and losses arising on the revaluation or disposal
of investments because the Company meets (and intends to continue for the foreseeable
future to meet) the conditions for approval as an investment trust company, pursuant to
sections 1158 and 1159 of the CTA.

Deferred tax assets are only recognised if it is considered more likely than not that there will
be suitable profits from which the future reversal of timing differences can be deducted.

H.Expenses

Allexpenses are accounted for on an accruals basis. Expenses, including investment
management fees, are charged through the revenue account except as follows:

- Expenses whichare incidental o the acquisition or disposal of aninvestment are treated
as capital cosls and separately identified and disclosed in Nole 4;

- Expenses of a capital nature are accounted for through the capital account; and
- Investment performance fees.
I. Foreign Currency

The functional and presentational currency of the Company is pounds sterling (“sterling")
because it is the primary currency in the economic environment in whichthe Company operates.
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded in the local currency at actual
exchange rates as at the date of transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at the period end are reported at the rates of exchange prevailing at the
period end. Any gain or loss arising from a change in exchange rates subsequent to the date
of the transaction is included as an exchange gain or loss in the revenue or capital column of
the Income Statement depending on whether the gain or loss is of a capital or revenue nature.
For non-monetary assels, these are covered by fair value adjustments. For details of transaclions
included in the capital column of the Income Statement please see (J) and (K) below.

J. Other Capital Reserve

The following are accounted for in this reserve:

- Investment performance fees;

- Gains and losses on the realisation of investments;

- Realised exchange difference of a capital nature; and
- Expenses of a capital nature.

Capilal distributions received from investments are accounted for by firstly reducing any
cost of thatinvestment, with any gains being recognised as realised only when the cost
has been reduced o nil.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 Accounting Policies

K. Capital Reserve on Investments Held
The following are accounted for in this reserve:

- Increases and decreases in the value of investments held at the year end and the ALN.

L. Investment Performance Fee

TheManager is entitled to a performance fee fromthe Company in respect of each 12 calendar
month period ending on 31 May ineachyear. The performance fee payableinrespect of each
such calculation period is 5% of the amount by which the net asset value at the end of such
period exceeds 110% of the applicable “high-water mark”, i.e. the net asset value at the end

of the previous calculation period in respect of which a performance fee was payable,
compounded annually al 10% for each subsequent completed calculation period up to the
start of the calculation period for which the fee is being calculated. For the calculation period
ended 31 May 2023, the notional performance fee hurdle is a net asset value per share of 510.7p.

The performance feeis calculated using the adjusled net asset value, which adjusis the nel
assets 1o remove any performance fee accrued (should one exist). The net asset value per
share al 31 May 2023 is 462.4p.

The performancefeeis calculaled so as lo ignore the effect on performance of any performance
fee payable in respect of the period for which ihe fee is being calculated or of any increase or
decrease in lhe net assets of the Company resulting from any issue, redemption or purchase
of any shares or other securities, the sale of any treasury shares or the issue or cancellation

of any subscription or conversion rights for any shares or other securities and any other
reduction inthe Company's share capital or any distribution 1o shareholders.
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M. Significant Judg andE

The preparation of financial stalements requires the Manager 1o make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounis of investments at fair value at the financia!
reporting date and the reported fair value movermnents during the reporting period. Actual
results may differ from these estimates. Details of how the fair values of unlisted investmenis
areestimated and any associated judgements applied are provided in Section (D) of this Note
and also within the Market Price Risk sectionin Note 21.

N. Derecognition/Recognition of Assets and Liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Company’s Balance Sheet
when the Company becomes a party 10 the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Inaccordance with FRS102, financial assels are derecognised when the contractual rights
tothe cash flows from the instrument expire or the asset is transferred and the transfer
qualifies for derecognition. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation is
discharged, extinguished or expired.

0. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash deposits held with banks and money market funds,
logether with other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less at the dale of placement, free of any encumbrances, which are readily
converlibleinto known amounts of cash and subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
The Manager uses money market funds for cash management purposes.
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2 Income

31 May 2023 31May 2022
£000 £000
Income from investments
Investment income (comprising dividend income,
interest income and other investment income) 17292 19137
17,292 19137
Otherincome
Interest 784 28
Exchange difference on income 8 4
792 32
Totalincome . 18,084 19,169
Totalincome comprises
Dividend income 12,325 17672
Interest income 4,756 1,302
Other investment income 21 163
Bank interest 767 28
Money markel fund inlerest 17 -
Exchange difference on income 8 4
Totalincome 18,084 19,169
Analysis of income from investments
Unlisted 17,292 19137
17,292 19137
Geographical analysis
UK 1,055 306
us 9,243 14,345
Other overseas 6994 4,486
17,292 19137

3 Investment Management Fees
31 May 2023 31May 2022
Revenue Capital - Total Revenue Capital Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Investment
management fees 27,707 - 27707 23115 - 23115
27,707 - 27707 23115 - 23115

The investment management fee is payable monthly in arrears at the rate set out in the
Direclors’ Report on pages 124 and 125.

During the year, investment management services with a total value of £29,010,000 (period to
31 May 2022: £23,977,000), being £27,707,000 {period to 31 May 2022: £23,115,000) directly
from Pantheon Ventures (UK) LLP and £1,303,000 (period to 31 May 2022: £862,000) via
Pantheonmanaged fund investments were purchased by the Company.

The value of investments, in and outstanding commitments to, investment funds managed or
advised by the Pantheon Group (“Pantheon Funds") are excluded in calculating the monthly
management fee and the commitment fee. The value of holdings in investments managed by
the Pantheon Group totalled £1,131,118,000 as at 31 May 2023 (31 May 2022: £897,332,000),
including £995,669,000 from the Pantheon managed Pantheon International Holdings
subsidiaries (31 May 2022: £812,172,000). Please see Note 18 for furiher details.

Inaddition, the Manager has agreed that the total fees (including performance fees) payable
by Pantheon Funds to members of the Pantheon Group and attributable to the Company's
investments in Pantheon Funds shall be less than the total fees (excluding the performance
fee) that the Company would have been charged under the Management Agreement had it
invested directly in all of the underlying investments of the relevant Pantheon Funds instead
of the relevant Pantheon Funds instead of through the relevant Pantheon Funds.

A131 May 2023, £2,245,000 (31 May 2022: £2,124,000) was owed for investment
management fees. No performance fee is payable in respect of the yearto 31 May 2023
(31 May 2022: £nil). The basis upon which the performance fee is calculated is explained in
Note 1(L)and in the Directors' Report on pages 158 and 124.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4 Other Expenses
R 31 May 2023 31May 2022
Reveaue Capital Total Revenue Capital Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £:000 £000
Secrelarial and accountancy services 353 - 353 312 - 312
Depositary fees 280 - 280 238 - 238
Custodian 16 - 16 10 - 10
Fees payable to the Company’s Audilor for the
- audit of the annual financial statements 146 - 146 105 - 105
Fees payable to the Company’s Auditor for
- audit-related assurance services — Half-Yearly Report 44 . - 44 35 - 35
Directors’ remuneration (see Note 5) 291 - 291 M - 3N
Employer's National Insurance 42 - 42 34 - 34
Irrecoverable VAT (5) - 5) 47) - (47)
Legal and professional fees’ 547 1,625 2172 317 1326 1,643
Otherr . 831 - 831 691 - 691
ALN Expense Charge (see Note 1 (E))? (486) - (486) (732) - (732)
2,059 1,625 3,684 1274 1,326 2,600
1 lLegalfeesincidental tothe isition of i harged 10 the Capital col f since they italin nature.
2 Other i inly fees and relating to printing, public relations, Stock Exchange listing, FCA fees, AIC Levy and share price publications.

3 Aprorata share of the Company’s 10tal ongoing charges s allocated to the ALN, reducing each quarterly payment.

The Directors do not consider that 1he provision of non-audit work to the Company affects the independence of the Auditors due to the half-year review being an assurance service.

5 Directors’ Remuneration

Directors’ emoluments comprise Directors’ fees. A breakdown is provided in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 138 and 140.
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6 Interest Payable and Similar Expenses
31 May 2023 31 May 2022
£000 £000
Negative bank interest’ 22 96
Loan commitment and arrangement fees 6,344 3871
6,366 3967

1 Applicable when bank base rates were low {less 11an 2%), bankinterest was payable on positive balances held in Euro
and Swedish Krona currency accounts. Since base rates have increased above 2% in September 2022, no further
negative interest was paid.

0On 2 August 2022, the Company announced that it had agreed a new five-year £500m
multi-tranche, multi-currency revolving credit facility agreement arranged by Credit Suisse AG
London Branch, Lloyds Bank Corporate Markets plc and State Street Bank International
GmbH. The Loan Facility, which replacec the £300m loan facility agreement due 1o expire in
May 2024, is comprised of faciities amounting 10 USS512.9m and €89.2m and secured by

certain assets of the Company. The facility will expire in July 2027 with an ongoing option to
extend, by agreement, the maturity date by another year at atime. The facility has a blended
commitment fee of 0.95% per annum on available commitments, pricing equivalent tothe
relevant benchmark rate plus 2.350% 10 2.575% depending on ulilisation, and is subject to
loanto value and liquidity ratios. The principal covenants that apply to the loan facility require:
(i) that gross borrowings do not exceed 34% of the borrowing base; (i) that gross borrowings
donot exceed 45% of the adjusted borrowing base in the first year of the facility, and 40%
thereafter; and (jii) the liquidity ratio does nol exceed 3.0x undrawn commitments. At 31 May
2023, these requirements have been met.

Uplront fees of £2.0m (in sterling terms), in relation tothis facility agreement, are being
amortised over the remaining life of the facility. Further fees are payable afier one year, and
twoyears.

This loan facility provides a margin of additional assurance that the Company has the ability
1o financeits unfunded commitments in the future. At 31 May 2023, loan facility remained fully
undrawn. At 31 May 2022, the previous loan facility also remained fully undrawn.

The facility is still set to continue to be available up until its original end date, following Credit
Suisse AG being bought by UBS Group AG in March 2023.

7 Taxation
31May 2023 31 May 2022
Revenue Capital Total Revenue Capital Total
£000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
1,494 - 1,494 3,075 - 3,075

Withholding tax deducted from distribulions

Taxcharge

The tax charge for the year differs from the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% to 31 March 2023 rising to 25% from 1 April 2023, giving a weighted average for the year of

20% (Year ended 31 May 2022: 19%). The differences are explained below:

Net return before lax (18904) 62,679 43775 (9,492) 585164 575,672

Theoretical tax at UK corporation tax rate of 20% (31 May 2022: 19%) (3.781) 12,536 8,755 (1.803) 111,181 109,378

Non-taxable investment, derivative and currency gains - (12,845). (12,845) - (111,433) (111,433)

Effect of expenses in excess of taxable income - 309 309 - 252 A 252

Carry forward management expenses 3,781 - 3,781 © 1,803 - 1,803

Withholding tax deducted from distributions 1,494 - 1,494 3,075 - 3,075
1494 - 1,494 3,075 -

3,075
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Notes to the Financial Statements

7 Taxation (continued)

The tax charge for the year ended 31 May 2023 is £1.5m (31 May 2022: £3.1m). The tax charge is wholly comprised of irrecoverable withholding tax suffered, with the exception of an amount of
£0.1m, in relation to the recovery of 1ax from prior years which has been offset against the charge.

Investment gains are exempl from capital gains tax owing 1o the Company's status as aninvestment trust.
Factors That May Affect Future Tax Charges

The Company is aninvestment trust and therefore is not subject to tax on capitai gains. Deferred taxis not provided on capital gains and losses arising on the revaluation or disposal of
investments because the Company meets (and intends 1o meet for the foreseeable future) the conditions for approval as an investment trust company.

No deferred tax asset has beenrecognised in respect of excess management expenses and expenses inexcess of taxable income as they will only be recoverable to the extent that there is
sufficient future taxable revenue. As at 31 May 2023, excess management expenses are estimated to be in excess of £330m (31 May 2022: £227m).

Al 31 May 2023, the Company had no unprovided deferred tax liabilities (31 May 2022: Enil).

8 Return per Ordinary Share
31May 2023 31 May 2022
Revenue Capital Total Revenue Capital Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000
Return for the financial year in £000 (20,398) 62,679 42,281 . (12,567) 585,164 572,597
Weighted average ordinary and redeemable shares 532,707,383 539,896,863
Return per share (3.83)p 1n77p 7.94p (2.32)p 108.38p 106.06p

There are no dilutive or potentially dilutive shares inissue.
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9a Movement on Investments

31 May 2023 31 May 2022

£'000 £000 -
Book cosl brought forward ) . 1,530,419 1,003,796
Opening unrealised appreciation on investments held:
- Unlisted investments 706,707 709,712
- Listed invesiments v 1,482 216
Valuation of invesiments brought forward 2,238,608 1713724
Movements in year:
Acquisitions at cost 289,020 979,764
Capital distributions - proceeds (160,891) (1,024,931)
Capital distributions - realised gains on sales 76,302 571,790!
Increase in appreciation on investments held ’ (25,419) (1,739)
Valuation of investments at year end 2,417,620 | 2,238,608
Book cost at year end 1,734,850 1,530,419
Closing unrealised appreciation on investments held:
- Unlisted investments 682,437 706,707
- Listed investments 333 1,482
Valuation of investments at year end 2417620 © 2,238,608
Fair value of investments:
Uniisted investments 2.415,800 2,235,639
Listed investments 1,820 2969
Valuation of investments at year end . 2,417,620 2,238,608
1 On31Desember2021,ihe Company traris severali atafairvalue of £627.14m, laits wholly owned subsidiary Pantheon International Holdings LP, in return for a 99% investment in Pantheon International Holdings LP, being

£620.87mand i 1%in Pantheon Int i Holdings GP P, being £6.27m.
2 On10ctober2022, the Company transferred one further investment, ata fair value of £3.10m, 10 its wholly owned subsldiary Pantheon International Holdings 1P, in return for 2 99% Investment in Pantheon International Holdings LP, being £3.07m
and the remaining 1% In Pantheon International Holdings GP LP, being £6.03m.

Further details in relation 1o 1he subsidiaries are included inNote 18.
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9b Analysis of Investments

Further analysis of the investment portfolio is provided in the Manager's Review on pages 60 10 61.

The Company received £160,891,000 (2022: £1,024,931,000) from investments sold during the year. The book cost of these investments when they were purchased was £84,589,000 (2022:
£453,141,000). These investments have been revalued over time until such lime they were sold and up until that point, any unrealised gains or losses were included in the fair value of the
investments. Transaction costs (incurred at the point of the transaction) incidental to 1he acquisition of investments totalled £nil (31 May 2022: £nil) and to the disposals of investments totalled
£7,000(31 May 2022: £4,000) {or the period. In addition, legal fees incidental to the acquisition of investments totalled £1,625,000 (31 May 2022: £1,326,000), as disclosed in Note 4, have been
takentothe Capital columnin the Income Statement since they are capital in nature.

Included ininvesiment are also investments that the Company holds inits subsidiaries. Please see Note 18 for further details.

31May 2023 31 May 2022

Gainsonil peril £000 £000
Realised gains on sales 76,302 571,790
Amounts previously recognised as unrealised appreciation on those sales 1,482 216
Decrease in unrealised appreciation (26,902 (1.954)
Revaluation of amounts owed in respect of lransactions . 3 3)
Gains on invesiments 50,885 570,049
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9b Analysis of Investments (continued)

31May 2023 31 May 2022

Currency analysis of investment valuation : £0000 £000
Sterling
Unlisted invesiments 1,042,249 872,089
1,042,249 872,089
US dollar
Unlisted investments : 1,116,006 1,083,342
Listed investments 1.820 2969
1,117,826 1,086,311
Euro
Unlisted investments 230,424 247749
230,424 247749
Other -
Unlisted invesiments 2721 32,459
27121 32,459
2417620 2,238,608
9c Material Investment

Althe period end, the Company neld no material holdings in any underlying company which exceeded 3% and funds which exceeds 10% of any class of capital.
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10 Fair Value Hierarchy

The fair value hierarchy consists of the following three levels:

Level 1 - The unadjusted quoted price in an active market for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date. The Level 1 holdingsinclude publicly listed
holdings held directly by the Company from in specie distributions received from underlying investments, but does not include listed holdings held indirectly through the Company's underlying
privale equily managers which are classified under Level 3 holdings;

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable (i.e. developed using market data) for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly
(i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 3 - Inpuls are unobservable (i.e. for whichmarket data is unavailable) for the asset or liability.

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss at 31 May 2023

Level 1 Level 2 Level3 Total

£:000 £'000 £000 £000

Unlisted holdings - - 2,415,800 2,415,800
Listed hotdings 1,820 - - 1,820
1,820 - 2,415,800 2,417,620
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10 Fair Value Hierarchy (continued)

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss at 31 May 2022

Levell Level 2 Level3 Total
£'000 £000 £000 £'000
Unlisted holdings - - 2,235,639 2,235,639
Listed holdings 2,969 - - 2969
2,969 - 2,235639 2,238,608

Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss at 31 May 2023
Levell Level2 Level3 Total
£:000 £000 £000 £000
Assel Linked Note - - 32,520 32,520
- - 32,520 32,520

Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss at 31 May 2022
Levell Level 2 Level3 Total
£000 £000 £000 £'000
Asset Linked Note - - 41,374 41,374
- - 41,374 41,374

11 Debtors

31 May 2023 31 May 2022

£000 £000

Amounts receivable from investment funds 290 595
Accrued interest 17 S
Prepayments 2,040 1,523
2,347 2123
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12 Cash and Cash Equivalents

31 May 2023 31 May 2022

£000 £000

Cashatbank 49906 231,458
Cashequivalents 16137 -
66,043 231,458

Asat 31 May 2023, Cash equivalents of £16,137,000 were held ina USD money market fund (2022: £nil).

13 Creditors Amounts Falling Due Within One Year

31 May 2023 31 May 2022

£'000 £'000
Investiment management fees 2,245 2124
Amounts owed in respect of transactions ) - 4
ALN repayment 1o the investor 1199 2,787
Other creditors and accruals 1173 1,223

4,617 6,138
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14 Creditors Amounts Falling Due After One Year — Asset Linked Note

31 May 2023 31 May 2022

£'000 £000
Opening value of ALN 41,374 53,015
Repayment of net cashflows received (5.035) (13,786)
Fair value movement through profit or loss (3.384) 3428
Expense Charge and ALN share of withholding taxes (435) (1.283)
Closing Value of ALN (see Note 1(E)) 32,520 41,374
Transfer to credilors due within one year, as amount is repayable within 3 months (1,199) (2.787)
31.321 38,587
15 Called-up Share Capital
31 May 2023 31 May 2022
Shares £'000 Shares £000
Allotted, called-up and fully paid:
Ordinary Shares of 6.7p each
Opening position 537,493,640 36,012 54,089,447 36,240
Cancellation of shares (7.600183) (509)  (3,400,830) (228)
Shares issued through share split - - -+ 486,805,023 -
Closing position 529,893,457 35503 537,493,640 36,012
Total sharesinissue 529,893,457 35,503  537.493,640 36,012

During the year ended 31 May 2023, 7,600,183 ordinary shares were bought back in the market, for cancellation at a lotal cost, including stamp duty, of £19.7m. During the year ended 31 May
2022, 3,275,830 ordinary shares were bought back inthe market, to be held in Treasury at a total cost, including stamp duty, of £10.0m. The 3,275,830 shares that were held in Treasury were

subsequently cancelled priorto the end cf May 2022. In addition, during the year ended 31 May 2022, 125,000 shares were bought back for cancellation, at atotal cost, including stamp duty,
of £0.3m. ‘

Asaresult, there were 529,893,457 ordinary shares inissue as at 31 May 2023 (of which none are held in Treasury; yearto 31 May 2022: 537,493,640 ordinary shares and no Treasury shares).

Each holder of ordinary shares is entitled, on a show of hands, 10 one vote and, on a poll, 10 one vole for each ordinary share held.
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16 Reserves

Capital
Capilal Other reserve on
Share redemption capital investments Revenue
premium reserve reserve held reserve'
£000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000
Beginning of year 269,535 3,553 1,556,346 674,875 (112,857)
Net gain on realisation of investments - - 76,302 - -
Decrease in unrealised appreciation - - - (21180) -
Revaluation of amounts owed in respect of transactions . - - 3 - -
Exchange differences on currency - - 9,210 - -
Exchange differences on other capital items . - - (31) - -
Legal and professional expenses charged to capital - - (1,625) - -
Share buybacks - 509 (19673 - -
Revenue return for the year - - - - (20,398)
End of year : 269,535 4,062 1,620,532 653,695 (133,255)

1 Reserves that are distributable by way of dividends. In addition, the Other Capital Reserve can be used for share buybacks.

17 Net Asset Value Per Share

. 31 May 2023 31 May 2022
Net assets attributable in £000 . 2,450,072 2,427,464

Ordinary shares 529,893,457  537.493,640

Net asset value per ordinary share 462.37p 451.63p
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18 Subsidiaries

The Company has formed three wholly owned subsidiaries, 10 provide security for financial
lending arrangements.

Pantheon International Holdings LP {"PIH LP") was incorporaled on 29 March 2021 witha
regisiered address in the State of Delawzre (National Registered Agents, Inc., 209 Orange
Street, Wilmington, Delaware 19301), and is wholly owned by the Company.

The Company holds an investment in PIH LP, which ilself holds a basket of investments, rather
than o carry out business on the Company's behalf. Investments held within PIH LP are based
on the fair value of the investments held in those entities. On 31 December 2021, the Company
transferred severalinvestments, at a fair value of £627.14m, 10 its whoity owned subsidiary
PIH LPin order to provide security for the £500m multi-currency facility agreed 2 August
2022.0n 1 October 2022, the Cempany transferred one further investment, at a fair value of
£3.10m. Thz aggregate amount of its capital and reserves as at 31 May 2023 is £995928,000
(2022: £820,800,000) and the prafit orloss for the period ended 31 May 2023 is £3,491,000
(2022:£164,000).

The General Partner for PIH LP is Pantheon Internalional Holdings GP (“PiH GP*) Limited.
Incorporaled on 17 March 2021 with a registered address c/o Maples Corporate Services
Limited, PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman istands, and is wholly
owned by the Company. The aggregale amount of ils capital and reserves as at 31 May 2023
is £1(2022: £1) and the profit or lass for the period ended 31 May 2023 is £nil (2022: £nil).

The General Pariner and the Limited Pariner, formed an exempted limited parinership, named
Pantheon International Holdings GP LP, incorporated on 17 March 2021 witha registéred
address c/o Maples Corporate Services Limited, PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1104, Cayman Islands. The Company holds an investment in PIH GP LP.

Any investments made by the CompanyintoPIH'LP. generally invest at 99% direcily into
PIH LP, withthe remaining 1% invasting into PIH GP LP. PIH GP LP will then, in turn, wholly
invest those funds into PIH LP, so no funds remainin PIH GP LP.

tnaccordance with FRS 102, the Company is exempted from the requirement to prepare
consolidated financial statements on the grounds that its subsidiary PIH LP is held exclusively
with a view 10 a subsequent resale as it is considered part of an investment portfolio and PIH
GP LP and PIH GP are not material. Therefore, the Company has no requirement to prepare
consolidated accounts, and therefore the subsidiaries noted above are held as investments
recognised at fair valdie through profit or loss.

19 Reconciliation of Return Before Fi Costsand T: to Net

CashFlow from Operating Activities

31 May 2023 31 May 2022

£000 £000

Return before finance cosls and taxation 50,141 579,639

Withholding tax deducted (1,494) (3.075)

Gains on investments (50,885) (570,049)

Currency gains on cash and borrowings 9179) (19,564)

Increase in creditors 394 483

Increase in olher debtors (147) (29
(Reduction)/gain of financial liabitities at fair value

through profit or loss (ALN) (3.384) 3428

Expenses and taxation associaled with the ALN (435) (1.283)

Net cash outflow from operating activilies (14,989) (10,450)
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20 Contingencies, G andFi ial C

At 31 May 2023, there were financial commitments outstanding of £857m (31 May 2022:
£755m) in respect of invesiments in parily paid shares and interests in private equily funds.
We expect 21% of the financial commitments outstanding to be called within the next
twelve months.

Further detail of the available finance cover is provided in Note 21.

21 Analysis of Financial Assets and Liabilities

The primary investment objective of the Company is to seek to maximise long-term capital
growth for its shareholders by investing in funds specialising inunquoted investments,
acquiring unquoted portfolios and participating directly in private placements. Invesiments
are not restricted to a single markel but are made when the opportunity arises and onan
inlernational basis.

The Company’s financial instruments comprise securities and other invesiments, cash
balances and debtors and creditors that arise from its operations, for example sales and
purchases awaiting setilement and debtors for accrued income.

The principal risks the Company faces inits portfolio management activities are:
- liquidity/marketability risk;

- interest rate risk;

- muarket price risk; and

- foreign currency risk.

The Manager only holds cash at banks with high credit ratings, therefore the Company has
little exposure to credit risk. The Manager monitors the financial risks affecting the Company
on adaily basis and the Direclors regularly receive financial information, whichis used to
identify and monitor risk.

Inaceordance wilth FRS 102 an analysis of financial assets and liabilities, which identifies
the risk 1o the Company of holding such items, is shown further oninthis Note.
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Liquidity Risk

Duetothe nature of the Company’s invesiment policy, the targest proportion of the porifolio is
invested in unquoted securities, many of which are less readily marketable than, for example,
“blue-chip” UK equities. The Directors believe 1hal the Company, as a closed-end fund with

no fixed wind-up dale, is ideally suiled o making long-lerm invesiments in instruments with
limited marketability. The investments in unquoted securities are monitored by the Board on
aregular basis.

There are times when opportunities for the Company to acquire secondary unquoled portfolios
of interests or co-investments may be limited due to the cyclical nature of their occurrence. Asa
result, at times of low investment opportunity, some funds may be held on deposit or invested
in gilts and other fixed interest government bonds. It is the nature of investment in private
equilythal acommitment (see Note 20 for outstanding commitments as at 31 May 2023) to
invest willbe made and that calls for payments will then be received from the unlisted investee
entity. These payments are usually on an ad-hoc basis and may be called at any instance over
anumber of years. The Company's ability to meet these commitments is dependent upon il
receiving cash distributions fromits private equity investments and, to the extent hese are
insufficient, on the availability of financing facilities.

0n 2 Augusi 2022, the Company had agreed a new five-year £500m mulii-tranche,
multi-currency revolving credit facility agreement arranged by Credit Suisse AG London
Branch, Lloyds Bank Corporate Markels plc and State Street Bank Inlernational GmbH.

The Loan Facility, which replaced the £300m loan facility agreement, which was due to expire
in May 2024, is comprised of facilities amounting to $512.9m and £€89.2m and secured by
cerlain assets of the Company. The facility will expire in July 2027 with an ongoing option 10
exlend, by agreement, the maturity date by another year al a lime. The facility has a blended
commitment fee of 0.95% per annum on available commitment and pricing equivalent to the
relevant benchmark rate plus 2.350% 1o 2.575% depending on utilisation.

The principal covenants that apply to the loan facility require:
(i) thatgross borrowings do not exceed 34% of the borrowing base;

(i) that gross borrowings do not exceed 45% of the adjusted borrowing base in the first year
of the facility, and 40% thereafter; and

(i) the liquidity ratio does not exceed 3.0x undrawn commitments.

Total available financing as at 31 May 2023 stood at £554m (31 May 2022: £528m), comprising
£63m (31 May 2022: £227m) in cash balances and £491m (31 May 2022: £301m) (sterling
equivalent) in undrawn bank facilities. The available financing along with the private equity
porifolio exceeded the outstanding commitments by 3.7 times (31 May 2022: 4.0 times)
(which now excludes any outstanding commitments relating o funds outside their investment
period (>13 years old) as there is a low likelihood of these being drawn).
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21 Analysis of Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued)

Interest Rate Risk

The Company may use gearing 1o achieve its investmenl objectives and manage cash flows and uses a multi-currency revolving credit facility for this purpose.

Interest on the revolving credit facilily is payable at variablz rates determined subject to drawdown. Variable rates are defined as relevant benchmark rates plus 2.350% 10 2.575%, dependent on
the currency drawn. The interest rate is then fixed for the duration that the loan is drawn down. At 31 May 2023, there was the sterling equivalent of £nil funds drawn down on the loan facilities
(31 May 2022: £nil). A blended commitment fee of 0.95% per annum is payable in respect of the amounts available for drawdown in each facility.

Non-interest Rate Exposure

The remainder of the Company’s portfolio and current assets are not subject to interest rate risks.

Financial assels for 2023 and 2022 consisted of investments, cash and debtors (excluding prepayments). As at 31 May 2023, the interest rate risk and maturity profile of the Company's

financial assets was as follows:

No Matures Maltures  Fixedinterest
maturity within after average
Total dale 1 year 1year interest rate
31 May 2023 £000 £°000 £000 £000 %
Fair value no interest rate risk financial assets
Sterling 1,043,630 1,043,630 - - -
US dollar 1171627 1171627 - - -
Euro 240,745 240,745 - - -
Other 29,362 29,362 - - -
2,485,364 2,485,364 - - -
The interest rate and maturity profile of the Company’s financial assets as at 31 May 2022 was as follows:
No Matures Matures  Fixedinterest
maturity within after _average
Total dale 1 year 1year interestrale
31 May 2022 £000 £000 £'000 £000 %
Fair value no interest rate risk financial assets
Sterling 891,350 891,350 - - -
US dollar 1,262,083 1,262,083 - - - LT
Euro 269,786 269,786 - - -
Other 47446 47446 : - - -
2,470,665 2,470,665 - - -
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21 Analysis of Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued)

Financial Liabilities

A131 May 2023, the Company had drawn the sterling equivalent of £nil (31 May 2022: £nil)
of its new £500m multi-currency credit facility, expiring July 2027. Interestisincurred at a
variable rale as agreed at the lime of drawdown and is payable at the maturity date of each
advance. At the year end, interest of £nil (31 May 2022: £nil) was accrued as the facilities
were unulilised.

AL 31 May 2023 and 31 May 2022, other than the ALN, all financial liabilities were due
within one year and comprised shori-term creditors. The ALN is repayable by no later than
317 August 2027.

Market Price Risk

The method of valuation of the fixed asset investiments is described in Note 1(D) on page 156.
The nature of the Company's fixed asset investments, with a high proportion of the portfolio

invested in unquoted securities, means that the investments are valued by the Directors after
due consideralion of 1he most recent available information from the underlying investments.

PIP's portfoliois well diversified by the sectors in which the underlying companies operate.
This sectoral diversification helps 1o minimise the effects of cyclical trends within particular
industry segments.

If the investment portfolio fell by 20% from the 31 May 2023 valuation, with all other variables
held constanl, there would have been a reduclion of £483,524,000 (31 May 2022: £447,722,000)
inthe return before taxation. Anincrease of 20% would have increased the return before
taxation by an equal and opposite amount.
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Foreign Currency Risk

Since it is the Company's policy o invest in a diverse portfolio of investments based ina
number of countries, the Company is exposed 10 the risk of movement ina number of foreign
exchange rates. A geographical analysis of the portfolio and hence its exposure to currency
risk is given on pages 34 and 46 and in Note 9b. Although it is permitted lo do so, the Company
did not hedge the portfolio against the movement in exchange rates during the financial
period.

The investment approach and the Manager’s consideration of the associated risk are
discussed in further detail inthe Strategic Report on pages 310 54 and the Manager's Review
onpages 5610 119.

The Company settles its transactions from ils bank accounts al an agreed rate of exchange
at the date onwhich the bargain was made. As al 31 May 2023, realised exchange losses of
£31,000 (31 May 2022: realised exchange losses of £145,000) and realised gains relating to
currency of £9,210,000 (31 May 2022: realised gains of £19,709,000) have been 1aken to the
capital reserve. .

The Company's exposure to foreign currency excluding private equity invesiments is shown
below. In relation to this exposure, if the sterling/dollar and sterling/euro exchange rate had
reduced by 10% from that obtained at 31 May 2023, it would have the effect, with all other
variables held constant, of increasing equity shareholders’ funds by £7,065,000 (31 May 2022:
£21,936,000). If there had been an increase in the sterling/dollar and sterfing/euro exchange
rate of 10% it would have the effect of decreasing equity shareholders’ funds by £5,780,000
(31 May 2022: £17.948,000). The calculations are based on the financial assets and liabilities
and the exchange rate as at 31 May 2023 of 1.2394 (31 May 2022: 1.26) sterling/dollarand
116265 (31 May 2022: 1.17625) sterling/euro. The Company’s investment currency exposure
is disclosed in Note 9b.
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21 Analysis of Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued)

An analysis of the Company's exposure lo foreign currency is given below:

31 May 2023 31May 2023 31 May 2022 31 May 2022

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

£:000 £000 £000 £000

US dollar 53,801 478 176,090 497
Canadian dollar 32 - 1375 -
Euro 10321 59 22,036 201
Swedish krone 768 - 240 -
Norwegian krone - .- 136 -
Australian dollar 1,441 - 13,236 -
66,363 537 213113 698

Fair Value of Fi ial Assets and Fi ial Liabilities

Investments of the Company are held at fair value. All other financial assels are held al cost, which is an approximation of fair value. Other than the ALN, the financial liabilities are held at
amortised cost, which is not maerially d fferent from fair value.

Managing Capital

The Company’s equity comprises ordinary shares as described in Note 15. Capital is managed so as to maximise the returnto shareholdérswhilemaima‘ming a capilal base ihat allows the
Company to operate effectively in the marketplace and sustain future development of the business. .

As at 31 May 2023 and 31 May 2022, the Company had bank debt facilities 1o increase the Company’s liquidity. Details of available borrowings at the period end can be found earlier in this Note.
The Company's assels and borrowing levels are reviewed regutarly by the Board of Directors with reference to the loan covenants.

The Company's capital requirement is reviewed regularly by the Board of Directors.
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22 Transactions with the Manager and Related Parties 23 PostBalance SheetEvents

The amounts paid 1o the Manager, together with the details of the Invesiment Management
Agreement, are disclosed in Note 3.

The Company’s related parties areits Directors. The Fees paid tothe Company’s Board
are disclosed in the Direclors' Remuneration Repori on pages 13810 140. The Company's
National Insurance contribution in relation to Directors’ remuneration is disclosed in

Notle 4. Amounts oulstanding for Directors’ Fees as al 31 May 2023 amount to £45,000
(2022:£57,000).

The Company also has three wholly owned subsidiaries. Please see Note 18 for further details.

There are no other idenlifiable related parties at the year end.
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There are no post balance sheet events at the year end.
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AIFMD Disclosures

The Company is an alternative investment fund ("AIF") for the purposes of the Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive (Directive 2011/61/EU) (‘AIFMD"), and the Manager was
appointed as its allernalive investment fund manager ("AIFM”) for the purposes of the AIFMD with effect from 21 July 2014. The Manager is a “full scope” AIFM for the purposes of the AIFMD.

The AIFMD requires certain disclosures to be made in the Annual Report of the Company. Many of these disclosures were already required by the Listing Rules and/or UK Accounting
Standards, and these continue o be presented in other sections of the Annual Report, principally the Stralegic Report (pages 310 54), the Manager's Review {pages 56 to 115) and the
financial statements (pages 151 to 176). This section completes the disclosures required by the AIFMD.

Assets subject to special arrang

The Company holds no assets subject to special arrangements arising fromtheir illiquid nature.
Remunerationdisclosure

The tolal number of staff of the Manager for the period ended 31 May 2023, including staff remunerated by affiliates of the Manager, was approximately 450, of which 8 were senior
management or other members of staff whose actions have a material impact on the risk profile of the Company (“identified staff*).

The total remuneration paid by the Manager and its affiliates 1o staff of the Manager in respect of the financial year ended 31 May 2023 attributable to work relating to the Company was
as follows:

12 months to 31 May 2023 12months to 31 May 2022

Fixed Variable Total Fixed Variable Total

£'000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000

Senior management 459 634 1,094 518 795 1,313
Staff 1,643 933 2,576 1727 1,062 2,789
Total staff 2102 1,567 3.670 2,245 1,857 4102
Identified staff 293 555 848 322 434 756

No carried interest was paid in respect of Ihe Company during the year.

The above disclosures reflect only that element of the individuals’ remuneration which is attributable to the activities of the Manager relating 1o the Company. It is not possible to attribule
reruneration paid to individual staff direclly to income received from any fund and hence the above figures represent a notional approximation only calculated by reference to the assets under
management of the Company as a proporiion of the total assets under management of the Pantheon Group.

In determining the remuneration paid o its staff, the Manager takes into account a number of factors including the performance of the Company, the Manager and each individual member of
staff. These factors are considered over amulti-year framework and include whether stalf have met the Manager's compliance standards. In addition, the Manager seeks 1o ensure that its
remuneralion policies and practices align financial incentives for staff with the risks undertaken and resulis achieved by investors, for example by ensuring that a proportion of the variable
income received by identified staff is deferred for a period of al least three years.

Full details of the Pantheon Group's remuneration policies and practices for staff (which includes the Manager's staff) can be found at www.pantheon.com.
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Leverage . -

The AIFMD requires the Manager of the Company to set leverage limits for the Company.
For the purposes of the AIFMD, leverage is any method by which the Company's exposure is
increased, whetherthrough the borrowing of cash or by the use of derivatives or by any other
means. Th2 AIFMD requires leverage to be expressed as a ratio between the Company's
exposure and its net asset value and prescribes lwo methodologies, the gross method and
the commitment method (as sei out in Commission Delegaled Regulation No. 231/2013),
for calculaling such exposure.

The following leverage limits have been set for the Company:

(i) Borrowings shall not exceed 100% of the Company's net asset value or such lower
amount as is agreed from time to time with the Company'’s lenders.

(i) Leverage calculated as 1he ratio between the exposure of the Company calculated in
accordance with the gross method raferred to above and its net asset value shall nol
exceed 200%.

(iii) Leverage calculated as 1he ratio between the exposure of the Company calculaled in
accordance with the commitment nzethod referred 1o above, and its net asset value
shallnot exceed 200%.

Using the methodologies prescribed under the AIFMD, IH(—: Company's leverage ratioas al
31 May 2023 is shown below:

Gross  Cornmilment
method method

Leverage ratio 99% 101%

There have been no changes to the maximum level of leverage which the Manager may
employ on behalf of the Compariy during the financial yearto 31 May 2023. There areno
collateral or asset reuse arrangements in place as al the year end.

Risk profile and risk management

The principal risks 1o which the Company is exposed and the approach 1o managing those
risks are sel out inthe Strategic Report (pages 44 to 48) and also in Note 21 of the financial
statements (pages 17210 175). The investment restrictions which seek to mitigate some

of those principal risks in relation 1o the Company's investment aclivilies are set out inthe
investment policy (page 42) and under "Board responsibilities and relationship with the
Manager”inthe Statement on Corporate Governance (page 130). Additionally, the individual
counterparty exposure limit for deposits with each of the Company's bank counterparties has
beensetat £70m or the equivalent in foreign currencies. The Manager’s risk management
system incorporates regular review of the principal risks facing the Company and the
investment restrictions applicable to the Company. The Manager has established appropriate
internal control processes to mitigate the risks, including those described in the “Mitigation”
columnin the "Risk Management and Principal Risks” section of the Strategic Report

(pages 4410 48). These invesiment restrictions have not been exceeded in the financial
yearto 31 May 2023.

Article 23(1) disclosures to investors

The AIFMD requires certaininformation o be made available to investors in the Company
before they invest and requires thal material changes to this information be disclosed in
the Annual Report of the Company. The information required to be disclosed is contained
inthe document ‘Information for Investors”, which is available onthe Company’s website
at www.piplc.com. .

There have been no material changes 1o this information requiring disclosure.
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Alternative Performance Measures

We assess our performance using a variety of measures that are not specifically defined Capital call
under IFRS and are therefore lermed Alternative Performance Measures or "APMSs”.

The APMs that we use may nol be directly comparable with those used by other companies.
The APMs used by the Company are defined below.

general partner ('GP") has identified a new investment for purchase.

Calltolimited partners (“LPs") Lo pay ina portion of the LPs’ committed capital when the

AlC ongoing charges 31 May 31 May
2023 2022
Annualised operating costs, excluding performance fees, financing costs and taxes, as a Page £m £m
percentage of the average month-end NAV over theyear. Acquisitions al cost 163 289 980 @
31 May 31 May Recallable distributions (20) (25) (b)
. 2023 2022 Amount drawn for new commitments (190) (160) ©
Page £:000 £000 N ‘ call . g
" ALN share of calls -
Invesiment management fees 159 27707 23115 b R - 220 @
IH LP Investiment 1 €,
Lookthrough charges 1,303 862 v  rouch P L 9 (720) (f)
Other expenses 160 2,059 1274 InveslTenllls made through PIH LF 266 M2 )
Capital calls 155 187 atb+c+
Total expenses 31,069 25,251 @ P ( dre+n)
Average month-end NAV 2,490,134 2,195,124 ()
AIC ongoing charges 1.25% 115%  (a/b)x100  Capital callrate
Capital calls in the period divided by opening undrawn commitments.
Netavailable cash P ! periocdvi Y opening uncraw '
Cashand net current assels (liabililies) less next ALN repayment (see Notes 12and 13). 312"6'2333/ 3‘%‘;;
Available financing Page £m £m
Sum of available cash and undrawn loan facility. Capiial calts 2 155 187 @
Opening undrawn commitments 755 528 ()
31 May 31 May "
2023 2022 Capital call rate 21% 35%  (a/b)x100
Page £m £m .
Available cash 172 63 227 (@)
Undrawn loan facility 172 491 301 (b)
Available financing 554 528 (@a+b)
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Distribution

Cashor stock returned to the LPs after the fund has exited from an investment by selling it, or
from distributions received before a sale. Excludes such proceeds received relativelo the
portion of the portfolio attributable to the ALN.

31 May 31 May
2023 2022
Page £m £m
Disposal of investments 163 161 1,028 (@
investment income received 151 18 19 (v
Recallable disiributions (20) (25) ()]
Withholding 1ax deducled M @3) (d)
" ALN share of distributions (%) 11) (e)
Transferred investments 1o PIH LP 163 3) (627) f)
Disposals of investments received
through PIH LP 73 41 (9)
Distributions from PIP's portfolio 223 419 (a+b+c+
d+e+f+q)
Distribution rate
Distributions for the period divided by opening portfolio value.
31 May 31 May
2023 2022
Page £m £m
Distributions from PIP's porifolio 223 419 (a)
Opening investments at fair value 153 2,239 1,714 )
ALN share of opening invesiments (39) 47) (@]
Opening portfolio value
(excluding the ALN) 2,200 1667  (d)=(b+c)
Distribution rate from PIP’s portfolio 10% 25%  (a/d)x100

Financing cover

Ratio of available cash, private equity assets and undrawn loan facility to outstanding
commitments. Future calls from outstanding commitments are expected to be funded from
future distributions realised from the existing private equity assets portfolio, inaddition 1o

distributions realised from future invesiments.

31 May 31May
2023 2022
Page £m - Em
Available financing 180 554 528 @)
Investments at fair value 153 2418 2,239 ()
Total 2972 2767 (c)=(a+b)
Qutstanding undrawn commitments
(excluding those outside their
investment period) 809 698 (d)
Financing cover 3.7x 4.0x (c/d)

31 May 2022 previously reported financing coverof 3.7x. The basis of calculationnow
excludes any outstanding commitments relating to funds outside their invesiment period (>13
yearsold) as there is a low likelihood of these being drawn. This amounted lo £48.2m as at 31

May 2023 and £57.1mas al 31 May 2022.

Net portfolio cash flow

Income and capilal distributions received from funds following exit realisations less capital

calls made to finance invesiments or expenses.

31 May 31 May

2023 2022

Page £m £m
Oistributions from PIP's portfolio 29 223 419 (a)
Capital calls 29 155 187 (0)
Net portfolio cash flow 68 232 . (a-b)
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Alternative Performance Measures

Portfolio investment return

Totalmovement in the valuation of the underlying funds and companies comprising the
porifolio, expressed as a percentage of opening portfolio value. Foreign exchange effecls
and other expenses are excluded from the calculation. The figure excludes returns

aliributable o the ALN. A reconciliation of the return after taxation to the portfolio

valuationmovement is shown below.

31 May 31 May
2023 2022
Page £m £in
Return after taxation 151 42 573 @)
(perIncome Statement)
Adjusted for non-portfolio income
and expenses
- Invesiment management fees 151 28 23 ()
- Other expenses 151 4 3 ©)
- Interesi payable and similar expenses 151 6 4 (d)
- Otherincome m - (e
- Portfolioand other FX * ) (166) n
Portfolio valuation movement 76 437 (g)=(a+b+
c+d+e+f)
Opening invesiments at fair value 153 2,239 1714 (h
ALN share of opening invesiments (39) (47) (i)
Opening portfolio value 2,200 1,667 () =(+i)
(excluding the ALN)
Portfolio investment return 3.5%" 26.2% (g/j)x 100

*  Includes £-11m of FX 0n the portiolio excluding the ALN (2022: (£169m)).
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and discl es

The sample buyout figures for the 12 months to 31 December 2022 were calculated using all
the information available to the Company. The figures are based on unaudited data. MSCI data
was sourced from Bloomberg.

Revenue and EBITDA

The revenue and EBITDA figures were based upon the last 12 months to 31 December 2022
or, where not avaitable, ithe closest annual period disclosed, and provide coverage of 77%
and 77% (12 months to 2021: 82% and 81%) for revenue and EBITDA growth respectively

of PIP's buyout portfolio. Individual company revenue and EBITDA growth figures were
cappedifinexcess of -100% and +100% 10 avoid distortions from large outliers. Sample data
for 20162022 is based on the same methodology and provides coverage of 45%-75% of
the portfolioin each year.

Valuation multiple and debt multiple

Enterprise value is defined as equity value plus net debt. The net debt and enterprise value
figures were based on underlying valuations as al 31 December 2022, or the closes! disclosed
period end. The valuation multiple sample covers approximately 54% (December 2021:65%)
of PIP's buyout portfolio. The debt muliiple sample covers approximaiely 45% (December
2021:52%) of PIP's buyout portfolio.

Costmultiple

The cost multiple data on page 83 is based on a sample that represented approximately

52% by value of proceeds from exit realisations for the yearto 31 May 2023. The data covers
primary investiments and co-invesiments, and is based upon gross cost multiples available at
the time of the distribution.

Uplift

Realisation events are classified as exil realisalions when proceeds equale 1o at least 80% of
1otal investment value and once confirmation of exit realisation is received from the underlying
private equity manager. Uplift on full exit compares the value received upon realisation against
lhe investment’s carrying value 12 months prior lo the iransactioniaking place. The analysis
on page 82 only includes exit realisations that occurred during the period and disregards the
impact of any proceeds received outside the 12-month period covered in the uplift analysis.
The data in the sample represents 100% (2022: 100%) of proceeds from exit realisations and
61% (2022: 87%) of distribulions received during the period.
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Total ongoing charges

Annualised operating costs, including firancing costs and any performance fees charged by

Pantheon but excluding laxes, expressed as a percentage of the average month-end NAV over

Liquidity & undrawn coverage ratio

Ratio of available financing and 10% of private equity assels to undrawn commitments. Under
thelerms ofits loan facility, in order to make additional undrawn commitments, PIP is required

the year. tomaintain a liquidity ratio at least 33%.
31 May 31 May 31 May 31 May
2023 2022 2023 2022
Page £'000 £000 Page £m £m
Investment management fees” 159 27,707 23115 Available financing 180 554 528 @)
Performance fee payable to Pantheon - - Investments at fair value @ 10% 153 242 224 (b)
Lookthrough charges 159 1,303 862 Total 796 752 (c)=(a+b)
Other expenses 151 2,059 1,274 Outstanding undrawn commitments 857 755 (d)
Interest payable and similar expenses 151 6,366 3967 Liquidity ratio 93% 100%  (c/d)x100
Total expenses and financing costs 37435 29,218 (a)  Outstanding undrawn commitments
Average month-end NAV 2490134 2195124 (b) (excluding those outside their 809 698 (e)
. + investment period)
Total ongoing charges 1.50% 133%  (asb)x100 .
- Undrawn coverage ratio’ 98% 108% (c/e)x100
1 Thebasisof calculation for the undrawn g i I any sommitments relating to funds
outside their i period (>1. ! thereis alow likelil 1 of these being drawn. This amounted to

£48.2mas at 31 May 2023 and £57.)/m as at 31 May 2022.
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Glossary of Terms

AIFMD

Allernative Investment Fund Managers Direclive.

Asset Linked Note ("ALN")

Unlisted, subordinated note due August 2027, the repayment and the performance of which
are linked 10 a reference portfolio consisting of older vintage funds. The hotder of the ALN
has rights 1o receive ¢.75% of net cash flows arising from the reference portfolio prior to the
repayment of any outstanding balance in August 2027.

Buyout funds

Funds that acquire controlling interests in companies with a view towards later selling those
companies or taking them public.

Carried interest

Portion of realised investment gains payable 1o the General Partner as a profit share.
Co-investment

Direct shareholding in a company by invitation alongside a private equity fund.
Commitment

The amount of capital that each Limited Partner agrees to contribute to the fund whenand as
called by the General Partner.

Debt multiple

Ratio of net debt to EBITDA.

Deleverage

A reductionina companies 1olal debt.

Dry powder
Capital raised and available to invest bul not yet deployed.

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation ("EBITDA")

Ameasure of earnings before interest and taxes that excludes non-cash expenses. Valuation
methods are cormmonly based.on a comparison of private and public companies' value as a
mulliple of EBITDA.

Enterprise value

The sum of a company's markel capitalisation and net debt (net debt equals debt less cash
and cash equivalents).

Exit

Realisation of aninvestment usually through trade sale, sale by public offering (including IPO),
or saleto a financial buyer.

184 | Pantheon International Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023

Expense charge

Aprorata share of the Company'’s Total Ongoing Charges allocated to the ALN, reducing each
quarterly payment. This is deducted from Other Expenses through the revenue account of the
Income Stalement.

Feeder fund

Aninvestment vehicle, often a limited partnership, that pools capital commilments of
investors and invests or “feeds” such capital into an umbrella fund, often called a master fund
(‘Masier”), which directs and oversees all investments held in the Master portfolio.
Fund-of-funds

Private equity fund that invests in a portfolio of several private equity funds 1o achieve,
compared with a direct investment fund, a broader diversification of risk, including individual
private equily manager risk.

Fund management fee

Annual fee, typically charged by the GP as a percentage of LP commitments to the fund during
theinvesiment period and altenuating thereafter, intended to cover the costs of running and
administering a fund.

General Partner (“GP")

The entity managing a private equily fund that has been established as a limited parinership,
also commonly referred to as the privale equity fund manager.

Initial public offering (“IP0O")

The first offering by a company of its own shares to the public on a regulated stock exchange.

Internal rate of return (“IRR")

The IRR, acommon measure of private equity performance, is calculated as an annualised
compounded rale of investment return based on the timing and quantity of cash flows.
investment period .

Period, typically five years, during which the GP is permitted to make new invesiments.

J-curve

Refers1ohe lendency of private equity funds 10 experience capital outflows and negative
returns in early years, and cash flow distributions and investment gains in later years as
portfolio companies mature and are exited. .

Limited Partner (“LP")

Aninstitution or individual who cornmits capital o a private equity fund established as a
limited partnership. Limited Partners are generally prolected from legal actions and any
losses beyond their original commitment to the fund.
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Liquidation

The sale of all remaining assets of a fund priorto s final cessalion of operations.
Manager-led secondary

Purchase of an interest in a portfolio company alongside a private equity manager, where
the manager is seeking to extend the investment holding period in order to participate inthe
company's next phase of growth.

Market capitalisation

Share price multiplied by the number of shares oulstanding.

Multiple of invested capital ("MOIC" or cost multiple)

A common measure of privale equity performance, MOIC s calculaled by dividing the fund's
cumulative distributions and residual val e by the paid-in apital

Net assetvalue (“NAV*)

Amount by which the value of assets of a fund exceeds liabilities, reflecting the value of an
investor's attributable holding.

Net available cash

Cashand net current asseis (liabilities) less next ALN repeyment.

Paid-incapital

Cumulative amount of capilal that has been called.

Portfolio company

Acompany that is an investment within a private equily fund.

Portfolio investment return

Total movement inthe valuation of the underlying funds and companies comprising the portfolio,

expressed as a percentage of opening pcrifolio value. Foreign exchange effects and other

expenses are excluded from the calculation. The figure exctudes relurns attributable to the ALN.

Primaries

Commitments made to private equity fur ds at the time suzh funds are formed.
Private equity

Privalely negotiated invesiments typically made in non-public companies.
Reference portfolio

As defined under'the terms of the ALN, a subset of PIP's private equity portfolio assets,
substantially comprising the Company’s oldest funds (2006 and earlier vintages).

Secondaries )

Purchase of existing private equity fund or company interests and commitments from an
investor seeking liquidity in such funds or companies.

Share buyback

Ashare buyback is where a company purchases its own shares from the market. This can be
done for several reasons, such as returning surplus cash 1o shareholders, taking advantage of
wide discounts in share prices to net asset values or providing liquidity to existing shareholders.
Share cancellation

Share cancellations refer to the process of reducing the number of shares oulstanding.
Listed companies may cancel shares following a share buyback or to effect share capital
reduclion and share forfeitures.

Share price premium (discount)

QOccurs when a company's share price is higher (fower) than the NAV per share.

Special situations

Special situations investments can include distressed debt, mezzanine, energy/utilities and
lurnarounds.

Undrawn or outstanding commitments

Capitalthatis committed but is still to be drawn down by the GP for investment.

Uplifton exit

Increaseinvalue received upon exil realisation of an investment relative to its carrying value
12 months prior to realisation.

Valuation multiples

Multiple of earnings (typically EBITDA or netincome) or revenue applied in valuing a business
enterprise.

Venture capital

Invesiment in early and development-stage companies, often used (o finance lechnological
product and market development.

Vintage
The yearin which a private equity fund makes its first investment.

Weighted average fund age

Average fund age for the portfolio is weighted by the fund’s respective closing net asset
values. Fund age refers to the number of years since a private equity fund's first investment.
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Electronic ications from the Company

Shareholders now have the opportunity to be notified by email when

the Company’s Annual Reports, Naotices of Meetings and other formal
communications are available onthe Company’s website, instead of
receiving printed copies by post. This has environmental benefits due

to the reduction of paper, printing, energy and water usage, as well as
reducing costs to the Company. If you have not already elected to receive
electronic communications from the Company and wish to do so, visit
www.signalshares.com. To register, you will need your investor code,
which can be found on your share certificate.

Alternatively, you can contact Link's Customer Support Centre, whichis
available to answer any queries you have in refation to your shareholding:
By phone: call +44(0)371 664 0300. Calls from outside the UK will be
charged at the applicable international rate. Link is open between 09:00 and
17:30,0n Monday to Friday (excluding public holidaysin England and Wales)
By email: shareholder.enquiries@linkgroup.co.uk

By post: Link Group, Central Square, 29 Wellington Street,
Leeds, LS140DL, UK

Designed and produced by Friend
www.friendstudio.com

Print: Pureprint Group

This report has been printed onimage Indigo which is FSC®
certified and made from 100% Elemental Chlorine Free
(ECF) pulp. The milland the printer are both certified to 1ISO
14001 environmental management system. Thereport
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